# Submitted in partial fulfilment of the Lancaster University Doctorate in Clinical

Psychology

February 2021

**Doctoral Thesis:** 

# A Qualitative Exploration of the Impact of Persistent Pain

Jess Smith

**Doctorate in Clinical Psychology** 

Division of Health Research, Lancaster University

All correspondence should be sent to:

Jess Smith c/o Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Health Innovation One Sir John Fisher Drive Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4AT United Kingdom j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk

	Main Text	Appendices (inc. title pages, tables, figures, references, and footnotes)	Total
Thesis Abstract	256	_	256
Literature Review	8,000	10,771	18,771
Research Paper	7,961	6,447	14,408
Critical Appraisal	3,977	606	4,583
Ethics Section	3,522	7,839	11,361
Total	23,716	25,663	49,379

# **Total Word Count**

### **Thesis Abstract**

This thesis offers a qualitative exploration of the experience of living with persistent pain. Section One presents a systematic review and thematic synthesis considering the experience of parenting children with persistent pain. A search identified 17 relevant papers which were appraised for quality and analysed to reveal six themes. These related to seeking control in an uncontrollable situation; being let down by experts and becoming their own expert; fearing judgment whilst judging themselves; seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal'; focusing on the child versus an awareness of the impact on the wider family; and the conflicting interests in raising a child with persistent pain. The place of these findings within the wider literature is considered, and clinical implications are discussed.

In Section Two, an interpretative phenomenological analysis approach was utilised to explore the impact of complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) on participants' identity. Six semi-structured interviews were completed and transcribed verbatim. Analysis yielded four themes: the time taken to re-establish an identity; a sense of alienation from others; shame caused by CPRS; and the importance of control to a sense of self. Findings are discussed in relation to the extant literature, and implications for clinical practice are considered, including therapeutic models which may hold potential for this group.

Finally, in Section Three a critical appraisal considered the findings of the two papers, as well as strengths and limitations of the research paper. Elements of reflexivity are explored, as is the impact of COVID-19 upon the thesis. Suggestions for future research are also outlined.

# Declaration

This thesis reports research undertaken between November 2018 and February 2021, as part of the requirements of the Lancaster University Doctorate in Clinical Psychology. The work presented here is my own, except where due reference has been made in the text. This work has not been submitted for an award of a higher degree elsewhere.

Name: Jess Smith

Signature:

Date:

# Acknowledgments

Firstly, and most importantly, I would like to thank the participants who generously gave their time to be involved in my research. It was a privilege to hear their stories, and I hope that my writing will do them justice. Thanks are also due to my research supervisors, Dr Fiona Eccles and Dr Craig Murray, for their patience and support through the many trials and tribulations of this thesis. Finally, thank you to everyone who sent photos of dogs and babies to sustain me through the completion of this project.

# Contents

Section One: Literature Review1-
Abstract 1-2
Introduction 1-3
Method 1-7
Search Strategy 1-7
Details of Selected Studies 1-9
Critical Appraisal of Papers 1-10
Synthesis 1-12
Results
Theme 1: Seeking control in an uncontrollable situation 1-13
Theme 2: Being let down by experts and becoming their own expert 1-14
Theme 3: Fearing judgment whilst judging themselves 1-15
Theme 4: Seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal' 1-17
Theme 5: Focusing on the child vs. awareness of the impact on the wider family 1-18
Theme 6: Dichotomy: The push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain 1-19
Discussion 1-20
Clinical Implications 1-22
Limitations 1-24
Recommendations for Future Research 1-20
Conclusions1-20
References

Tables and Figures    1-31
Table 1: Results of SPiDER Tool    1-31
Table 2: Search Terms    1-32
Table 3: Papers Excluded at Full-Text Screening Stage, With Reasons       1-34
Table 4: Details of Papers Included    1-47
Table 5: Results of Critical Appraisal using CASP Qualitative Checklist         1-52
Figure 1: PRISMA Flow Diagram (Moher et al., 2009) 1-53
Appendices 1-54
Appendix 1-A: Author Guidelines of Chosen Journal for Submission 'Journal of Health
Psychology' 1-59
Section Two: Research Paper
Abstract
Introduction
Method
Design
Participants
Procedure
Data Collection
Data Analysis
Ethical Considerations 2-12
Quality of the Data 2-13
Findings

Theme 1: It's taken time to feel like 'me' again	2-14
Theme 2: CRPS alienates me from other people	2-16
Theme 3: Having this condition is shameful	2-18
Theme 4: The importance of control to a sense of self	2-19
Discussion	2-21
Clinical Implications	2-24
Limitations and Future Research	2-25
Conclusion	2-26
References	2-28
Tables & Figures	2-32
Table 1: Participants' demographic details	2-32
Table 2: Themes identified for each participant	2-33
Table 3: Contributing themes from each participant to overall themes       2	2-36
Appendices	2-37
Appendix 2-A: Example of notations and emerging themes for one participant	2-37
Appendix 2-B: Author Guidelines of Chosen Journal for Submission 'Psychology &	
Health'	2-39
Section Three: Critical Appraisal	. 3-1
Overview of findings	. 3-2
Strengths and limitations	. 3-5
Participants	. 3-5
Recruitment	. 3-5

Data collection	3-6
IPA approach	3-8
Involvement of experts by experience	3-8
Suggestions for future research	3-9
Reflexivity	. 3-10
The impact of COVID-19	. 3-12
Conclusions	. 3-14
References	. 3-15
Section Four – Ethics Section	4-1
Ethics Form	4-2
Appendices	. 4-11
Appendix 4-A: Research Protocol	. 4-11
Appendix 4-B: Ethics Committee Approval Letter	. 4-21
Appendix 4-C: Recruitment poster	. 4-22
Appendix 4-D: Recruitment adverts	. 4-23
Appendix 4-E: Participant Information Sheet	. 4-24
Appendix 4-F: Consent Form	. 4-27
Appendix 4-G: Interview Schedule	. 4-29
Appendix 4-H: Participant Debrief	. 4-32

# **Section One: Literature Review**

Parents' Experiences of Caring for Children with Persistent Pain: A Systematic Review and

Thematic Synthesis of Qualitative Research

Word Count: 8000

Jess Smith

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

Division of Health Research, Lancaster University

All correspondence should be addressed to: Jess Smith c/o Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Health Innovation One Sir John Fisher Drive Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4AT United Kingdom j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk Prepared for: Journal of Health Psychology

#### Abstract

This systematic review and thematic synthesis examined experiences of parents of children with persistent pain. A systematic search was completed in March 2020. Analysis of 17 papers produced six themes: seeking control in an uncontrollable situation; being let down by experts and becoming their own expert; fearing judgment whilst judging themselves; seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal'; focusing on the child vs. awareness of impact on the wider family; and dichotomy: the push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain. This experience is associated with a series of competing demands. Clinical implications are considered.

*Keywords*: children and young people, chronic pain, thematic synthesis, parents, systematic review

#### Introduction

Persistent pain, or chronic pain, is a common experience for children and adolescents, with an estimated overall prevalence between 11-38% (King et al., 2011). Persistent pain can be defined as pain continuing beyond the normal healing phase (Merskey and Bogduk, 2012). As Merskey and Bogduk discuss, however, this period of healing can be difficult to accurately define, and is variable both within and between conditions; this definition also excludes conditions and syndromes where "normal healing" does not occur, yet pain is a main symptom – such as rheumatoid arthritis (Steingrímsdóttir et al., 2017). For clinical purposes, therefore, pain lasting longer than three months tends to be considered "persistent" (Merskey and Bogduk, 2012).

Pain can be understood as having a protective function – serving as a warning signal to avoid potential injury risk, or encouraging rest to allow an injury to heal (Butler and Moseley, 2003). In persistent pain, however, this is less relevant; persistent pain is not necessarily indicative of tissue damage, and by definition is not constrained to a healing period (Chambliss et al., 2002). In this way, rather than serving to protect, persistent pain can cause further detriment; for example, the fear-avoidance model posits fear of movement can cause individuals with persistent pain to avoid movement and exercise (Asmundson et al., 2012). In the short-term (with acute injury) this can be beneficial, but in the long-term it leads to deconditioning, can exacerbate pain, and is associated with increased disability (Booth et al., 2017).

In their systematic review of 41 papers relating to epidemiology of persistent pain, King et al. (2011) found that girls are more likely to experience persistent pain than boys, and prevalence increased with age. Prevalence was found to be affected by psychosocial variables including anxiety and low self-esteem. A recent systematic review of 14 papers by Alsaggaf and Coyne (2020) reported conflicting evidence, but concluded that persistent pain appears to have an overall negative impact on adolescents' school functioning. Beyond its impact on individuals, paediatric persistent pain has wider social implications; in the UK, cost per adolescent has been estimated at around £8000 per year (Sleed et al., 2005). This may be an over-estimate as it was based on adolescents recruited from tertiary care services; many young people who experience persistent pain do not access these types of services and are therefore likely to incur lower costs (Groenewald and Palermo, 2015). Nonetheless, the financial burden of paediatric persistent pain is likely to be significant, including direct care costs such as appointments and medications, as well as indirect costs such as loss of productivity for parents who take time off work to care for their child (Sleed et al., 2005).

Paediatric persistent pain affects those who are invested in young people's wellbeing (Vetter, 2011). It can affect the family in various ways, from the distress of seeing the child in pain to the financial burden of medical care and other costs associated with a long-term health condition (Schechter, 2014). Lewandowski et al. (2010) reviewed 16 quantitative papers relating to family functioning in families of children with persistent pain, concluding that these families generally had poorer functioning (including factors such as conflict, cohesion, and communication) than healthy controls.

To date, no review (qualitative or quantitative) has been completed considering the impact of paediatric pain on parents separately from other family members; however, several papers have found evidence of negative effects on parents of children with persistent pain. For example, Cohen et al. (2010) found that lower functioning in children with persistent pain was associated with higher parental stress, anxiety, and depression; that is, as the child's functional disability increased, so did parents' distress. Looking specifically at mothers of children with functional abdominal pain, Campo et al. (2007) found that they were more likely than mothers of healthy children to suffer from health conditions including irritable bowel syndrome, migraine, anxiety, and depression. Hunfeld et al. (2001) also surveyed mothers of children with persistent pain, reporting that pain caused stress for parents and

impacted negatively on their social lives. From the findings of such papers, it is apparent that paediatric persistent pain has a significant impact for parents.

The relationship between paediatric persistent pain and parents' responses to that pain is bi-directional; whilst the child's pain has implications for the parents, parental responses have also been shown to impact the child's experience of pain. For example, in their meta-analysis of 36 papers, Donnelly et al. (2020) identified that parents' cognitions, behaviours, and affective responses to their child's persistent pain were associated with the child's level of disability, pain intensity, depression, anxiety, and functioning at school. Donnelly et al. suggest that parental responses may be an appropriate target for intervention in paediatric persistent pain, noting that additional research is required to understand these parental responses more fully.

Chow et al. (2016) carried out a longitudinal study of 195 persistent pain patients aged 8-17 years; they concluded that parental distress and behaviours impact upon the child's distress and levels of functioning over time. Though their follow-up period was only four months, Chow et al.'s work shows the importance of parental responses to persistent pain. In particular, parental avoidance and protective behaviour at baseline was a significant predictor of child functioning at 4-month follow-up. Like Donnelly et al., Chow et al. recommended that interventions for persistent pain in children should include addressing parent factors.

Palermo and Eccleston (2009) describe parents of children with persistent pain as a "neglected but critical aspect of paediatric chronic pain management" (p. 15). There is quantitative evidence of the significant widespread impact of paediatric persistent pain on parents, which in turn affects the child's levels of pain, distress and disability. However, it is not necessarily clear which aspects of parents' experiences contribute to this distress. In order to develop appropriate and effective support for these parents, it is important to understand their experiences and views (Chow et al., 2016; Donnelly et al., 2020). Qualitative research is ideally-placed to offer this perspective, as it focuses on individual experiences; to date, no

review of qualitative research with parents of children with persistent pain has been completed. The present review, therefore, aimed to synthesise research relating to parents' experiences of their child's persistent pain, with a view to better understanding what it is like to have caring responsibilities for a young person with persistent pain. The review question was: What is it like to parent a child with persistent pain?

It is hoped that findings will inform development of appropriate support for parents of children with persistent pain. This in turn may improve outcomes for children, given the findings discussed above whereby parents' responses can affect children's experiences of their symptoms and their levels of disability (Palermo et al., 2014). A review may also be beneficial in identifying directions for future qualitative research in this area.

In terms of the scope of this review, it was decided to include all pain diagnoses including specific conditions where pain is a main symptom, such as juvenile arthritis and complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), as well as more generic persistent pain. There were multiple reasons for this decision; firstly, as Swain et al. (2014) identified from an international survey of pain in adolescents, there is significant overlap between pain conditions, insofar as children with one type of pain are likely to have multiple types. Any attempted separation would thereby be rendered somewhat arbitrary. Furthermore, according to Walker and Greene (1989), there is no apparent difference in psychological distress between paediatric patients with and without an established organic cause for their recurrent abdominal pain, with both groups showing similarly high levels of depression and anxiety compared to healthy controls. Thus, it would be difficult to rationalise discriminating on the basis of pain condition diagnosis. Finally, given the contention surrounding the definition of persistent pain, it would be difficult to operationalise any discrimination between conditions in a meaningful way.

Thematic synthesis has been described as the bringing together and integration of findings from multiple qualitative research papers on a common topic (Thomas and Harden,

2008). The authors describe this approach as going beyond description and critique of the papers included, and seeking to interpret findings from the included papers, synthesising new theory or conceptual understanding of the topic. Thomas and Harden describe this process as allowing the reviewer to stay close to the original data whilst synthesising in a transparent manner, allowing development of new concepts and hypotheses. Thematic synthesis was therefore selected as an appropriate methodology for this review, given the aim of developing a deeper understanding of parents' experiences of caring for a child with persistent pain.

#### Method

The steps outlined by Thomas and Harden (2008) for completing a thematic synthesis were followed: (1) Searching; (2) Quality assessment; (3) Extracting data from the studies (including Results or Findings sections of each paper); (4) Coding text; (5) Developing descriptive themes; and finally (6) Generating analytic themes.

# **Search Strategy**

The 'SPiDER' tool (Cooke et al., 2012) is designed to identify components of a qualitative research question, facilitating development of a comprehensive search strategy. The acronym stands for <u>Sample</u>; <u>Phenomenon of interest</u>; <u>Design</u>; <u>Evaluation</u>; <u>Research type</u>. The results of this tool for the present review are presented in Table 1.

<Table 1 about here>

Results from the SPiDER tool were used, alongside guidance from a specialist subject librarian, to identify appropriate search terms. Search terms were chosen relating to three key areas: parenting; children; and persistent pain. These search terms are presented in Table 2.

<Table 2 about here>

Following discussion and agreement with a specialist subject librarian, six databases were selected for the search: CINAHL, PsycINFO, MEDLINE, PubMed, Scopus, and Web of Science. Results from PubMed were limited to those published in the past year, to identify papers not yet indexed on MEDLINE, as recommended by the librarian. The search terms were combined using Boolean operators, with subject headings included as appropriate for each database.

The literature search, carried out in March 2020, returned a total of 20,252 references, which were exported to Endnote (Clarivate Analytics, n.d.). 12,301 duplicates were removed, leaving 7,951 references for screening. An initial screen of titles and abstracts of remaining papers was carried out, according to inclusion and exclusion criteria:

Inclusion criteria:

- Must be qualitative research which includes "bottom-up" analysis, that is, themes
  must be generated from data, rather than data being ascribed to pre-determined
  categories.
- 2. Must relate to parenting a child with persistent pain (may include non-parents who take a parenting role, e.g. where a grandparent takes on parental responsibility).
- 3. Must be available in English.

Exclusion criteria:

- Parental views cannot be separated from others', e.g. healthcare professionals, siblings.
- 2. Research is an evaluation of a specific resource or intervention, rather than relating to parents' experiences generally.
- Persistent pain is secondary to a potentially terminal diagnosis (e.g. cancer,), or is comorbid with severe cognitive impairment, which may further complicate parents' experiences of their child's pain.

This initial screen excluded 7, 951 papers, leaving 90 papers for full-text screening. The final round of screening identified a total of 17 papers suitable for inclusion (see Table 3 for papers excluded at this stage, along with reasons for exclusion).

<Table 3 about here>

Reference lists and citations of papers identified were screened for any additional potentially relevant papers. This process of 'snowballing' (checking reference lists) and 'reverse snowballing' (tracking citations) (Sayers, 2007) did not identify any further relevant papers; a total of 17 papers were retained for inclusion in the review. This process of screening is summarised in a PRISMA diagram (Moher et al., 2009) (Figure 1).

<Figure 1 about here>

### **Details of Selected Studies**

A total of 17 papers were identified for inclusion in the thematic synthesis, including parents and caregivers from 233 families. Publication dates for the included papers ranged from 2002 to 2019; participants were from countries including the UK (n = 8), the USA (n = 3), Canada (n = 2), Norway (n = 1), Sweden (n = 1), and Brazil (n = 1). One paper (Navarro et al., 2018) reported research conducted anonymously online and was therefore unable to state where participants lived. Of these 17 papers, 12 employed an interview-based design; three used mixed-methods designs including an interview component; one paper used focus groups; and the final paper collected data from messages posted on online forums. In terms of analysis, six papers used thematic analysis, four used grounded theory, two used "qualitative content analysis", two used "standard ethnographic procedures", two used interpretative phenomenological analysis, and one used "inductive content analysis". Details of included papers are summarised in Table 4.

<Include Table 4 about here>

Participants were mainly parents of affected children, with three papers focusing exclusively on experiences of fathers (Jordan et al., 2016; McNeill, 2004; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008). In addition, in one case (Jordan et al., 2007) a grandparent who identified as main caregiver was included. Some papers focused upon specific conditions where pain is a major symptom, such as juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA; Britton & Moore 2002a, 2002b; McNeill, 2004; Rossato, Angelo, & Silva, 2007), Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS; Navarro et al., 2018), or neuropathic pain (Gaughan et al., 2014); others focused on persistent pain more generally (Brodwall et al., 2018; Carter, 2002; Jordan et al., 2016; Le et al., 2019; MacIver et al., 2010). Two papers (Britton & Moore 2002a, 2002b) reported upon the same group of participants; these papers reported on differing aspects of the parents' experiences, so both were included.

### **Critical Appraisal of Papers**

Assessment of quality of papers for inclusion is the second step in thematic synthesis (Thomas and Harden, 2008). Indeed, there is general consensus that any systematic review of qualitative research ought to include an element of critical appraisal, in order to distinguish well-conducted and -reported papers from those of lower quality (Garside, 2014). Each paper was therefore appraised to assess quality, prior to commencing analysis. As recommended by Sandelowski and Barroso (2007), papers were not excluded on the basis of appraisal; however, this process allows some confidence that lower-quality papers were not given disproportionate weighting in the analysis, and allows conclusions to be drawn about the validity of findings.

The Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) published a checklist for appraisal of qualitative research papers (CASP, 2018); this checklist consists of ten questions to assist researchers in ascertaining quality and validity of qualitative research papers. The questions are divided into three sections, namely, 'Are the results of the study valid?', 'What are the results?', and, 'Will the results help locally?'. Each section consists of one or more questions to guide researchers' appraisals of papers. Questions 1-9 are to be answered, 'Yes', 'No', or 'Can't tell', whilst question 10 is open-ended ('How valuable is the research?'). Other appraisal tools are available, however the CASP is the most widely used (Hannes and Macaitis, 2012).

CASP do not recommend using a scoring system with the checklist, stating that it is intended purely as an educational tool; however, there is precedent for the CASP checklist

being used to generate a score reflecting a paper's overall quality (Duggleby et al., 2012; Feder et al., 2006). Given this precedent, and the fact that papers would not be excluded based upon the quality appraisal, it was deemed appropriate to use the CASP to generate a score for each paper, allowing a means of operationalising the critical appraisal. Each question was given a score out of three, with 'No' answers corresponding to one, 'Can't tell' two, and 'Yes' three; thus, a score between 10-30 was generated for each paper, with higher scores reflecting higher quality research. Question 10 was adapted slightly to fit with this scoring system; the new question 'Is consideration given to the value of the research?' was answered and scored in the same way as questions 1-9.

Scores ranged from 23-29 (mean = 25.9); all papers were therefore deemed to be of reasonable quality. Full results of the quality appraisal are shown in Table 5.

<Table 5 about here>

# **Synthesis**

Papers identified for inclusion were imported to NVivo (QSR International, n.d.). Each paper was read to develop a level of familiarity with the data before stage four of Thomas and Harden's (2008) procedure – coding – was commenced. The process of coding involved allocating short sections of each paper a 'code' which was descriptive of its contents – for example, the statement, "...geographical remoteness of the clinic caused them continuing practical and communication problems" (Britton & Moore, 2002a, p. 377) was coded as 'practical difficulties in accessing treatment/support'. Some sections were assigned multiple codes, where statements appeared to relate to more than one relevant topic – for example, the statement, "It was apparent that professionals had a major impact on the way in which the families viewed themselves and how they felt others viewed them" (Carter, 2002, p. 32) was coded as both 'communication between family and services' and 'being judged/feeling judged/fear of judgement', as it was deemed to relate to both topics. Coding was an iterative process, with subsequent papers sometimes highlighting further codes within previous papers. Papers were therefore reviewed more than once, to ensure that all potential codes had been drawn out. Coding was limited to Results and Discussion sections of each paper; this ensured that only data from participants, and authors' interpretations of this data, were included in analysis.

The next phase of analysis included reviewing the codes; these were combined where they were seen to be broadly similar; for example, the codes 'silver linings/benefits for family' and 'positive impact for siblings – compassion/consideration' related to similar topics of the perceived positives of having a child with persistent pain in the family, and were therefore combined into one code, 'silver linings'. Codes were then grouped into five descriptive themes: (1) Pain takes over; (2) Parents as a unit; (3) The impact of other people; (4) Stress and difficult emotional responses; and (5) Moving forwards in positive ways. Again, this process was iterative, with themes being reviewed, adjusted, separated, and combined to best represent the data in the papers reviewed.

The final stage of analysis, according to Thomas and Harden, is development of analytical themes; in this stage, the review is aiming to "go beyond the content of the original studies" (Thomas & Harden, 2008, p. 7). Thomas and Harden acknowledge that this stage is dependent upon the "judgment and insight" of reviewers (p. 7), as third-order interpretations – that is, interpretations of interpretations (of authors of included papers) – are generated. This was an iterative process whereby descriptive themes and initial codes were compared, contrasted, and re-structured to develop analytic themes. The descriptive themes did not necessarily map directly onto the final analytic themes, but rather contributed to the researcher's immersion in the data and to the iterative process of analysis. The development of the final themes can be seen in in Appendix A.

Following this process of analysis and synthesis, six final themes were identified: (1) Seeking control in an uncontrollable situation; (2) Being let down by experts and becoming their own expert; (3) Fearing judgment whilst judging themselves; (4) Seeking normality even whilst adapting to a new normal; (5) Focus on the child whilst recognising the impact on the wider family; and (6) Dichotomy: The push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain. Each of these themes is considered in detail below.

#### Results

#### Theme 1: Seeking control in an uncontrollable situation

Parents experienced their situation as being beyond their control, and made efforts to retain and regain (that is, keep hold of control where possible, and take back where it was perceived to have been lost) control. A common topic of discussion by parents within the papers reviewed was the uncertainty, unpredictability, and lack of control they felt in relation to their child's persistent pain, as described by a participant in Jordan et al. (2016): "The most difficult thing about it is not knowing how he's going to be when I get home" (p. 2469). The unpredictable nature of their children's conditions made it difficult for parents to make plans, in both the short- and long-term (Jordan et al., 2016; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008). Parents were fearful of this lack of control, and that things would be this way forever (Gaughan et al., 2014; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003).

This uncertainty and lack of control led to parents feeling they had to be constantly alert in case of a pain flare-up or a change in their child's condition (Britton and Moore, 2002b; Jordan et al., 2007; Le et al., 2019; MacIver et al., 2010; McNeill, 2004; Rossato et al., 2007; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Smart and Cottrell, 2005; Yuwen et al., 2017). Parents described having to stay strong in the face of the uncertainty of their child's pain, in an effort to protect both the child and the rest of the family (MacIver et al., 2010; McNeill, 2004; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008). This was described by one mother in MacIver et al.'s study: "You really have to toughen up to the pain side of things, because otherwise you just- I would have just gone, by now" (p. 1277).

Parents described many and varied ways in which they attempted to take back control of the situation. These included advocating for appropriate support for their child (Brodwall et al., 2018; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2007; McNeill, 2004; Navarro et al., 2018), and developing their medical knowledge, relating to both the conditions themselves and to possible treatments (Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017). Some parents had to learn new skills, such as how to deliver injections to their child, contributing to a sense of mastery or control (Yuwen et al., 2017). Some parents viewed these skills as a source of pride; one father described how nurses had complimented his bandaging skills (Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008).

Other parents fought to retain control of the situation, by denying there was a problem at all, as one mother explained about her partner: "He doesn't really talk about it... He didn't believe it was happening and tried to ignore it. Tried to pretend it wasn't happening" (Britton & Moore, 2002b, p. 416). Another approach described by parents involved taking a pragmatic stance and focusing upon what could be controlled, which often meant living in the moment and taking each problem as it came (McNeill, 2004; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008).

### Theme 2: Being let down by experts and becoming their own expert

Parents described feeling let down by medical professionals, feeling they were not taken seriously (Carter, 2002). Parents frequently felt invalidated and disbelieved – "All the families perceived many professionals to be suspicious about their child's pain. Eventually, they were referred to a psychologist, which was seen by the families as evidence of their failure to get professionals to believe the reality of their child's pain." (Carter, 2002, p.34). Parents also felt that professionals did not understand what it was like for them as parents trying to manage their child's pain. Parents described being frustrated by not receiving the support, reassurance, and information they needed from healthcare teams, and feeling unrecognised as a central component of the team around the child (Britton and Moore, 2002a; Britton and Moore, 2002b; Brodwall et al., 2018; Carter, 2002; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2016; Jordan et al., 2007; Le et al., 2019; MacIver et al., 2010; Navarro et al., 2018;

Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Smart and Cottrell, 2005; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017). Parents experienced professionals as being unaware of best practice standards (Le et al., 2019; MacIver et al., 2010; Navarro et al., 2018; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003), which contributed to a lack of trust in healthcare teams at times (Britton and Moore, 2002a; Britton and Moore, 2002b; Brodwall et al., 2018; Carter, 2002; Gaughan et al., 2014; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Smart and Cottrell, 2005; Yuwen et al., 2017).

In light of this, parents came to view themselves as experts on their own child (Navarro et al., 2018; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Smart and Cottrell, 2005). In many cases, they felt that they had better understanding of their child's pain, and how to manage it, than professionals involved in their care – for example in Navarro et al. (2018) again: "Sarah portrayed herself as being superior to the 'floundering' consultants. Use of the word 'floundering' suggests Sarah's perception of the consultants as indecisive and to be experiencing difficulty, enabling her to position herself as the expert." (p. 4).

# Theme 3: Fearing judgment whilst judging themselves

Parents feared judgment from health professionals, which included being disbelieved about their child's pain – for example in Brodwall et al. (2018): "Some parents were afraid to be viewed as 'hysterical mothers'. They... feared not being taken seriously by doctors" (p. 4). Communication received from health professionals also contributed to parents' distress (Britton and Moore, 2002b; Brodwall et al., 2018; Carter, 2002), which makes sense when they feel dismissed, blamed, or disbelieved. Brodwall et al. (2018) considered how, without adequate and sensitive explanation, the biopsychosocial model of pain could lead to parents feeling blamed for their child's pain, and ashamed that they could not make it stop – exacerbating this fear of judgment. These feelings are perhaps intensified further when parents feel that professionals are suspicious of them, and that their coping strategies are dismissed by the healthcare team (Carter, 2002).

Parents also feared judgment from peers and social contacts (Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2007; Smart and Cottrell, 2005; Yuwen et al., 2017). Gaughan et al. described parents' friends being supportive and helpful to begin with, but over time becoming critical of them and their coping strategies. Parents mentioned others not understanding their child's condition, which also contributed to their fears (Britton and Moore, 2002a; Britton and Moore, 2002b; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2016; Rossato et al., 2007; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008). As well as being judged themselves, parents were concerned about their child being judged, as described by Yuwen et al. (2017): "Parents felt that their children were judged by other people... in situations such as the older child sitting in a stroller" (p. e27). Feeling judged and misunderstood like this may contribute to parents' reluctance to seek external support, both emotional and practical (Jordan et al., 2016).

Alongside this fear of judgment from others, parents seemed to judge themselves. Parents described their children's difficulties leading to a sense of failure in their role as parent (MacIver et al., 2010; McNeill, 2004; Rossato et al., 2007; Smart and Cottrell, 2005; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017) and tended to blame themselves. Parents placed significant pressure upon themselves to know their child well enough to assess their pain and the best course of action; at the same time, their inability to resolve the pain led to feelings of inadequacy (Smart and Cottrell, 2005). This was exacerbated by parents' role in the management of their child's condition, which sometimes entailed inflicting more pain through physiotherapy exercises, and so on. Worse yet, these treatments were not always perceived to help the child, and sometimes caused side-effects (Britton and Moore, 2002a; Gaughan et al., 2014; MacIver et al., 2010; Navarro et al., 2018; Rabbitts et al., 2017; Yuwen et al., 2017). This was summarised by one mother in MacIver et al.: "I feel like nothing you do is really helping. And everything you do hurts" (p. 1276). This, in turn, contributed to parents' judgment of themselves as inadequate or lacking, (Gaughan et al., 2014). Parents spoke of betraying their child and felt guilt, horror, and trauma from the treatments they had to provide (Yuwen et al.).

#### Theme 4: Seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal'

A significant proportion of parents' distress appeared to arise from a sense of their child being less than normal, and somehow inferior to 'normal' children; parents described jealousy when comparing their child or family with others perceived as normal, and the impact this had for them socially (Britton and Moore, 2002b; Jordan et al., 2007; Le et al., 2019; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017). There was a sense of grief here: "Parents reported a mourning of the loss of a happy, healthy, carefree child; this sense of mourning exacerbated by parental comparison of their ill adolescent with healthy siblings or peers" (Jordan et al., 2007, p. 54). Parents tried to maintain normal activities (Rossato et al., 2007; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003) and described wanting their child to lead a normal life (Rossato et al., 2007). In some ways, these efforts to maintain normal activities in the face of their child's condition were another example of parents' efforts to regain some control, as discussed in Theme 1.

Even as they struggled with these matters, parents undertook a simultaneous process of adjusting to a new normal, as described in Waite-Jones and Madill (2008): "Eventually fathers adjusted such that their family life became 'normal'... Len explained that 'It has been there that long now it is part of your routine'" (p. 596). As part of this process, parental roles changed and they began to parent their child in new ways (Britton and Moore, 2002b; Carter, 2002; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2016; MacIver et al., 2010). MacIver et al. described parents having to change not only their behaviour but also their perceptions of what makes a good parent; this process perhaps resolved or eased some of the distress relating to judging themselves as inadequate, discussed in Theme 3. In addition, parents spoke about changes in priorities in light of their child's condition, with heavier focus on the health, wellbeing, and happiness of the child and the family (Jordan et al., 2016). This adaptation was seen as a gradual process rather than an immediate change (Jordan et al., 2016; MacIver et al., 2010; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008), as parents tussled with the implications of living with a child with persistent pain, and developed ways of coping in their new, often changeable, situations.

### Theme 5: Focusing on the child vs. awareness of the impact on the wider family

This theme considers the need for additional attention for the child in pain, weighed against the needs of the family as a whole, and the ways parents attempted to find a functional balance. The child's pain necessitated them being the centre of attention to a point, and yet parents were conscious of the impact this had on the family as a whole. For example, as Brodwall et al. (2018) discussed, "Many parents deviated from their daily routines during pain episodes, for instance, by making special food or gathering in front of the television." (p. 4). Parents were aware of a change in the nature of their relationship with the child with pain; the activities which they could enjoy with their child were changed (Jordan et al., 2016), with some fathers in Jordan et al.'s study reporting strengthening of the relationship as a result, whilst others reported it was weakened. The impact on the parents' marriage was also acknowledged, with parents reporting disagreements regarding treatment options, uneven division of the burden of care for the child, and an impact on their sex lives (MacIver et al., 2010; Rossato et al., 2007; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017).

Even as they made exceptions and changes to the family's way of functioning for the child with pain, there was an awareness of the impact this had for other members of the family in terms of fatigue and limitations to the parents' social lives (Britton and Moore, 2002a; Britton and Moore, 2002b; Brodwall et al., 2018; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2016; Jordan et al., 2007; Le et al., 2019; MacIver et al., 2010; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017). For example, parents described having to divide the family at weekends or on holiday, with the child with pain spending time with one parent doing more 'sedate' activities, whilst other children went with the second parent for

more 'challenging' activities (Britton & Moore, 2002b). Parents were conscious of the impact on the child's siblings, for example in terms of reduced availability of time and attention (Britton and Moore, 2002a; Britton and Moore, 2002b; Brodwall et al., 2018; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2016; Yuwen et al., 2017). The knowledge of this discrepancy between siblings was another contributing factor to parents' distress, and they endeavoured to make up for it in other ways – for example, in Jordan et al. (2007): "I don't want my boys to feel that when they look back, that their life was so different because of their sister. I try not to let them have to do things ... I think that I probably overdo that" (p. 53).

Parents discussed the impact of having a child with persistent pain on their careers; the unpredictable nature of the children's conditions meant parents often worked reduced hours or required flexible working, which had an impact upon the family's financial situation (Le et al., 2019). Some parents found it difficult to balance their simultaneous roles as parent/carer and employee/earner (Jordan et al., 2016), with parents being aware of the impact of their child's changeable condition upon their proficiency at work (McNeill, 2004). Some parents (mainly mothers) reported having had to give up working altogether (MacIver et al., 2010; Rossato et al., 2007; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003). Yuwen et al. (2017) also considered the difficult balance between parents needing to take time off work to care for their child and attend appointments, whilst also needing to work additional hours to provide financially for the family, and in particular for added costs associated with the child's condition.

# Theme 6: Dichotomy: The push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain

Running through the first five themes is a narrative of being pulled in two directions at once. However, there are additional examples of this sense of 'push and pull', beyond the themes already discussed. This final theme, then, reflects the conflict and inconsistency which was evident across the papers reviewed, in numerous aspects of parents' experiences of caring for a child with persistent pain. Parents spoke about the importance of interaction with and support from others in similar situations (Gaughan et al., 2014; Le et al., 2019; Rabbitts et al., 2017; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Yuwen et al., 2017) and yet, found it difficult to hear about the struggles of others in similar situations: "Fathers who had shared experiences with others in similar situations found that learning about the experiences of others made their own experience of chronic pain more negative" (Jordan et al., 2016, p. 2470).

With a similar sense of 'push and pull', parents spoke about being protective of the child and/or the family unit around the child (Britton and Moore, 2002b; Gaughan et al., 2014; Jordan et al., 2016; MacIver et al., 2010; McNeill, 2004; Rossato et al., 2007; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017), and yet, described trying to balance this with not being over-protective or over-sympathetic, for fear of leading to hypochondria (Smart and Cottrell, 2005; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008). Here, parents were understandably concerned about their child and wished to take good care of them, but at the same time did not wish to 'spoil' the child or risk making matters worse by coddling them.

With a similar sense of conflicting interests, parents spoke about fighting for access to support and resources (Jordan et al., 2007; Navarro et al., 2018; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003), whilst at the same time, the number of appointments their children attended was perceived in some ways as a burden requiring careful management (Le et al., 2019; Sallfors and Hallberg, 2003; Waite-Jones and Madill, 2008; Yuwen et al., 2017). Parents simultaneously recognised their need for support and resources for their child and described fighting to access this support, whilst appearing resentful of the imposition on their family.

# Discussion

This thematic synthesis of 17 papers relating to parenting a child with persistent pain produced a synthesis of six main themes: (1) Seeking control in an uncontrollable situation; (2) Being let down by experts and becoming their own expert; (3) Fearing judgment whilst judging themselves; (4) Seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal'; (5) Focusing on the child vs. awareness of the impact on the wider family; and (6) Dichotomy: The push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain. Together, these themes offer understanding of parents' experiences of caring for a child with persistent pain. In particular, the review highlights how this experience is characterised by a series of dichotomies; parents are frequently pulled in two directions at once or pursue two competing objectives. This understanding may offer some explanation as to the distress experienced by parents of children with persistent pain.

Research on the experience of parenting a child with a long-term health condition already acknowledges difficulties which are inherent within this role; for example, a systematic review by Cousino and Hazen (2013) looked at parenting stress across a number of long-term conditions. The authors concluded that both general parenting stressors and illness-specific stressors were of relevance to these parents, with greater responsibility for management of the condition being associated with higher levels of stress. However, to date, no review has considered the experiences of parents of children with persistent pain, which is a somewhat unique experience.

Persistent pain differs from many long-term conditions insofar as it is not generally life-threatening (indeed, the present review excluded papers which reported on parents of children with pain secondary to a potentially terminal condition, such as cancer), and yet can have a profound impact on daily functioning for child and family. A review by Santacroce (2003) concluded that uncertainty relating to a child's health condition is linked with post-traumatic stress symptoms. Santacroce posited that parents attempt to manage this uncertainty in two main ways, namely through seeking information about the child's condition and also through avoiding social encounters or information which might highlight negative aspects of uncertainty. Santacroce compared these strategies to hyperarousal and avoidance symptoms, respectively, found in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). These strategies appear to fit

with the dichotomy discussed in Theme 6 above, whereby parents desire support from others who have faced similar situations, whilst simultaneously finding information from their peers distressing.

Theme 3, which related to parents feeling that they were judged by others, whilst also judging themselves, fits within the wider literature on health-related stigma. Goffman (1963) defines stigma as the judgment that an individual has an attribute or attributes which makes them different, and therefore somehow less, than others; Link and Phelan (2001) suggest that stigma also involves an element of discrimination. Stigma is sometimes separated into different categories, whereby *enacted* refers to behaviours driven by negative beliefs towards the individual, whilst *felt* refers to the individual's sense of being devalued; *internalised* stigma, meanwhile, is stigma the individual directs towards themselves due to taking on societal beliefs and stereotypes (Major et al., 2018).

Wakefield et al. (2018) discuss the role of stigma in adolescent persistent pain, concluding from their focus group that sources of stigma included healthcare providers, school staff, family members, and peers. Though their work was preliminary, Wakefield et al. drew on similar work with adults with persistent pain which has demonstrated links between stigma and higher levels of anxiety and stress, disruptions in relationships, and social isolation. Being the parents of a child with a health condition is also associated with stigma; for example, Gray (1993) found that parents of autistic children perceived themselves to be stigmatised by their child's condition. The findings of this review suggest that parents of children with persistent pain also perceive stigma towards themselves.

### **Clinical Implications**

There is some evidence of the utility of psychological interventions for parents of children with long-term illness, as a recent Cochrane review concluded (Law et al., 2019). For clinical psychologists (and others) supporting parents of children with persistent pain, a more thorough understanding of experiences faced by these parents may be beneficial in offering appropriate intervention. For example, the themes of dichotomy and seeking control in an uncontrollable situation are likely to fit well with an acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) approach (Hayes et al., 1999). ACT-based work promotes psychological flexibility and values-focused action. ACT is recognised as a valuable approach for individuals living with persistent pain, encouraging them to pursue what is important in their lives, in spite of the pain. In their systematic review, Hann and McCracken (2014) found ACT to be efficacious in increasing general functioning and decreasing distress in adults with persistent pain. It is logical, then, that ACT may be useful for people affected by a loved one's persistent pain – especially given issues highlighted in the present review, whereby uncertainty and 'abnormality', as well as responses such as seeking control and fear of judgment, make significant contributions to distress.

Indeed, some research relating to the utility of ACT with parents of children with persistent pain has already been published; Kanstrup et al. (2016) reported on their pilot study of an ACT-based intervention for adolescents with persistent pain and their parents. Improvements for parents were noted in pre- and post-intervention measures of pain reactivity and psychological flexibility, though there was no change in anxiety, depression, or overall emotional functioning. Given evidence of the impact of parental responses on children's level of disability, pain intensity, emotional wellbeing, and school functioning (Donnelly et al., 2020), such interventions are of potential importance to both parents and their children.

In addition to ACT, a National Clinical Guideline by the Scottish Government highlights family cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) as a possible intervention for moderate to severe persistent pain (The Scottish Government, 2018). A randomised controlled trial by Palermo et al. (2016) found that internet-delivered CBT for adolescents with persistent pain and their parents contributed to improvements in outcomes. Palermo et al. concluded that their CBT intervention offered a number of benefits for both parents and adolescents.

Another pertinent issue for consideration by professionals working with this group, as identified in the first theme, is feeling let down by experts, whom parents frequently experienced as dismissing their children. Of particular relevance is parents' perception that a referral to psychology meant that doctors did not believe them about their child's pain; this highlights the care that must be taken in explaining the rationale behind such referrals and the kind of support that psychology may provide. There may be a need for psychology to ensure that colleagues and referring teams are clear about the role of psychology and what constitutes an appropriate referral, to allow better communication to parents about such referrals. Several papers discussed parents' difficulties with communication from their healthcare teams, for example in Britton and Moore (2002b) where the authors concluded that healthcare professionals can contribute to parents' distress rather than supporting them to cope.

# Limitations

The findings of this meta-synthesis are of course limited by the papers reviewed. Notably, the vast majority of papers were from North America and Western Europe, with only one paper coming from Brazil and one being conducted online meaning location of participants was unknown. The experiences of parents in these studies, therefore, are shaped by Western society's opinions on the role of parents; findings may not be generalisable to non-Western settings where experiences may be markedly different. A systematic review by Orhan et al. (2018) concluded that experiences of persistent pain differ between cultures in various aspects, including coping strategies, illness perceptions, and self-efficacy. The papers included in Orhan et al.'s review focused almost exclusively on adults; however, it is reasonable to expect that there may be similar differences in children, particularly given the evidence that children's experiences of pain are shaped by their parents' attitudes and beliefs (Donnelly et al., 2020).

An additional limitation is the scarcity of research with fathers, which was discussed in several papers; as Britton and Moore (2002b) pointed out, 'research with parents' often translates to 'research with mothers', meaning that perspectives and experiences of fathers are neglected and poorly understood. This has implications for the ability of services to offer appropriate support to parents of children with persistent pain. Three papers in this review focused exclusively on experiences of fathers (Jordan et al., 2016; McNeill, 2004; Waite-Jones & Madill, 2008), going some way to addressing this imbalance, but future work including fathers, and particularly comparing and contrasting the experiences of mothers and fathers, would be of value. MacFadyen et al. (2011) discuss some benefits of involving fathers in research, including a clearer picture of how the child's condition is affecting the family. MacFadyen et al. (2011) also offer suggestions on ways of engaging fathers in research, which may aid future researchers in this area.

As with all approaches to the synthesis of qualitative data, there are methodological limitations to consider. For example, Sandelowski et al. (1997) argued that qualitative research is by its nature resistant to being summarised, given its emphasis on the importance of context; they suggest that in summing up qualitative findings, the integrity of the original research is lost. Sandelowski et al. also highlight the difficulties with conflating the diverse approaches which can constitute qualitative research; indeed, in the present review, a variety of techniques of data collection and analysis were noted. However, the aim of thematic synthesis as described by Thomas and Harden (2008) is not to summarise the papers included but rather to 'go beyond' description and critique, to develop a new theory or understanding of the phenomenon of interest, thus creating a synthesis which is more than the sum of its parts. Therefore, whilst some context and detail is inevitably lost through the analytic

process, this is not necessarily in opposition to the primary aim of developing new conceptual understanding.

#### **Recommendations for Future Research**

As highlighted above, no comprehensive review of quantitative findings relating to parents' experiences of raising a child with persistent pain has yet been completed. This area may benefit from future research attention, in order to gain a fuller understanding of the impact of paediatric persistent pain on parents. Additionally, as discussed, there is a scarcity of research which includes or focuses upon the experiences of fathers, and what little research there is suggests that experiences of mothers and fathers can differ quite considerably. There is merit, therefore, in developing understanding of these differences and potential implications for support. In general, additional research into the experiences of these parents would be of value. In particular, research which aims to understand how parents seek to balance the host of competing demands they face, as discussed above, may inform the development of more tailored support. Furthermore, an exploration of parents' experiences of being referred to psychology may be of benefit in informing referral pathways. This may be valuable given the distress reported by parents who perceived that such referrals meant they were disbelieved about their child's pain.

### Conclusions

In conclusion, this thematic synthesis identified six themes which summarised experiences of parenting a child with persistent pain. A narrative running throughout these themes was the idea of 'dichotomy', whereby parents consistently have to manage competing demands and occupy seemingly contradictory positions. Implications for therapeutic work and other interventions are considered, and recommendations of directions for future research are made.

# References

- Alsaggaf, F. & Coyne, I. (2020) A systematic review of the impact of chronic pain on adolescents' school functioning and school personnel responses to managing pain in the schools. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 76, 2005-2022. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14404
- Asmundson, G. J. G., Noel, M., Petter, M. & Parkerson, H. A. (2012) Pediatric fearavoidance model of chronic pain: Foundation, application and future directions. *Pain Research & Management*, 17, 397-405. 10.1155/2012/908061.
- Booth, J., Moseley, G. L., Shiltenwolf, M., Cashin, A., Davies, M. & Hübscher, M. (2017) Exercise for chronic musculoskeletal pain: A biopsychosocial approach. *Musculoskeletal Care*, 15, 413-421. 10.1002/msc.1191
- Britton, A. & Moore, A. (2002a) Views from the inside, part 1: Routes to diagnosis families' experience of living with a child with arthritis. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 65, 374-380. 10.1177%2F030802260206500805.
- Britton, A. & Moore, A. (2002b) Views from the inside, part 2: What the children with arthritis said, and the experiences of siblings, mothers, fathers, and grandparents. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 65, 413-419. 10.1177/030802260206500904.
- Brodwall, A., Glavin, K. & Lagerløv, P. (2018) Parents' experience when their child has chronic abdominal pain: A qualitative study in Norway. *British Medical Journal Open*, 8. 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021066.
- Butler, D. S. & Moseley, G. L. (2003) Explain Pain. NOIGroup Publications.
- Campo, J. V., Bridge, J., Lucas, A., Savorelli, S., Walker, L., Di Lorenzo, C., Iyengar, S. & Brent, D. A. (2007) Physical and emotional health of mothers of youth with functional abdominal pain. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 161, 131-137.
- Carter, B. (2002) Chronic pain in childhood and the medical encounter: Professional ventriloquism and hidden voices. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12, 28-41. 10.1177%2F104973230201200103.
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (2018) CASP Qualitative Checklist.
- Chambliss, C. R., Heggen, J., Copelan, D. & Pettignano, R. (2002) The assessment and management of chronic pain in children. *Paediatric Drugs*, 4, 737-746. 10.2165/00128072-200204110-00005.
- Chow, E. T., Otis, J. D. & Simons, L. E. (2016) The longitudinal impact of parent distress and behavior on functional outcomes among youth with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain*, 17, 729-738. 10.1016/j.jpain.2016.02.014.
- Clarivate Analytics (n.d.) Endnote (Version X9.2). https://endnote.com/.
- Cohen, L. L., Vowles, K. E. & Eccleston, C. (2010) Parenting an adolescent with chronic pain: An investigation of how a taxonomy of adolescent functioning relates to parent distress. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 35, 748-757. 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp103.
- Cooke, A., Smith, D. & Booth, A. (2012) Beyond PICO: The SPIDER tool for qualitative evidence synthesis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22, 1434-1443. 10.1177/1049732312452938.
- Cousino, M. K. & Hazen, R. A. (2013) Parenting stress among caregivers of children with chronic illness: A systematic review. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 38, 809-828. 10.1093/jpepsy/jst049.
- Donnelly, T. J., Palermo, T. M. & Newton-John, T. R. O. (2020) Parent cognitive, behavioural, and affective factors and their relation to child pain and functioning in pediatric chronic pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain*, 161, 1401-1419. 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001833.
- Duggleby, W., Hicks, D., Nekolaichuk, C., Holtslander, L., Williams, A., Chambers, T. & Eby, J. (2012) Hope, older adults, and chronic illness: A metasynthesis of qualitative research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 68, 1211-1223. 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05919.x.
- Feder, G. S., Hutson, M., Ramsay, J. & Taket, A. R. (2006) Women exposed to intimate partner violence: Expectations and experiences when they encounter health care professionals - A meta-analysis of qualitative studies. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166, 22-37. 10.1001/archinte.166.1.22.
- Garside, R. (2014) Should we appraise the quality of qualitative research reports for systematic reviews, and if so, how? *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, 27, 67-79. 10.1080/13511610.2013.777270.
- Gaughan, V., Logan, D., Sethna, N. & Mott, S. (2014) Parents' perspectives of caring for a child with chronic neuropathic pain. *Pain Management Nursing*, 15, 246-257. 10.1016/j.pmn.2012.09.002.
- Goffman, E. (1963) *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity.* London, UK: Simon & Schuster Inc.
- Gray, D. E. (1993) Perceptions of stigma: The parents of autistic children. Sociology of *Health & Illness*, 15, 102-120.
- Groenewald, C. B. & Palermo, T. M. (2015) The price of pain: The economics of chronic adolescent pain. *Pain Management*, 5, 61-64. 10.2217/PMT.14.52.
- Hann, K. E. J. & Mccracken, L. M. (2014) A systematic review of randomized controlled trials of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for adults with chronic pain: Outcome domains, design quality, and efficacy. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 3, 217-227. 10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.10.001.
- Hannes, K. & Macaitis, K. (2012) A move to more systematic and transparent approaches in qualitative evidence synthesis: Update on a review of published papers. *Qualitative Research*, 12, 402-442. 10.1177/1468794111432992.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D. & Wilson, K. G. (1999) *Acceptance and commitment therapy: An experiential approach to behaviour change.* New York, NY: Guilford.
- Hunfeld, J. A., Perquin, C. W., Duivenvoorden, H. J., Hazebroek-Kampschreur, A. a. J. M., Passchier, J., Van Suijlekom-Smit, L. W. A. & Van Der Wouden, J. C. (2001) Chronic pain and its impact on quality of life in adolescents and their families. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 26, 145-153.
- Jordan, A., Crabtree, A. & Eccleston, C. (2016) 'You have to be a Jack of all trades': Fathers parenting their adolescent with chronic pain. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 21, 2466-2476. 10.1177/1359105315580461.
- Jordan, A., Eccleston, C. & Osborn, M. (2007) Being a parent of the adolescent with complex chronic pain: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. *European Journal of Pain*, 11, 49-56. 10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.12.012.
- Kanstrup, M., Wicksell, R. K., Kemani, M., Wiwe Lipsker, C., Lekander, M. & Holmström, L. (2016) A clinical pilot study of individual and group treatment for adolescents with chronic pain and their parents: Effects of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy on functioning. *Children*, 3. 10.3390/children3040030.
- King, S., Chambers, C. T., Huguet, A., Macnevin, R. C., Mcgrath, P. J., Parker, L. & Macdonald, A. J. (2011) The epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents revisited: A systematic review. *Pain*, 152, 2729-2738. 10.1016/j.pain.2011.07.016.
- Law, E., Fisher, E., Eccleston, C. & Palermo, T. (2019) Psychological interventions for parents of children and adolescents with chronic illness. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 10.1002/14651858.CD009660.pub4.

- Le, A., Dick, B. R., Spiers, J., Reid, K. & Scott, S. D. (2019) Parents' experiences with pediatric chronic pain. *Canadian Journal of Pain*, 3, 20-32. 10.1080/24740527.2019.1577679.
- Lewandowski, A. S., Palermo, T. M., Stinson, J., Handley, S. & Chambers, C. T. (2010) Systematic review of family functioning in families of children and adolescents with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain*, 11, 1027-1038. 10.1016/j.jpain.2010.04.005.
- Link, B. G. & Phelan, J. C. (2001) Conceptualizing Stigma. *Annual Reviewof Sociology*, 27, 363-385. 10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363.
- Macfadyen, A., Swallow, V., Santacroce, S. & Lambert, H. (2011) Involving fathers in research. *Journal for Specialist in Pediatric Nursing*, 16, 216-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00287.x</u>.
- Maciver, D., Jones, D. & Nicol, M. (2010) Parents' experiences of caring for a child with chronic pain. *Qualitative Health Research*, 20, 1272-1282. 10.1177/1049732310367499.
- Major, B., Dovidio, J. F., Link, B. G. & Calabrese, S. K. (2018) Stigma and its implications for health: Introduction and overview. In: Major, B., Dovidio, J. F. & Link, B. G. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Stigma, Discrimination, and Health.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Mcneill, T. (2004) Fathers' experience of parenting a child with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14, 526-545. 10.1177/1049732303262374.
- Merskey, H. & Bogduk, N. (2012) Classification of chronic pain: Descriptions of chronic pain syndromes and definitions of pain terms. 2nd Edition, Revised ed.: IASP Press.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J. & Altman, D. G. (2009) Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 151, 264-269. 10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-200908180-00135.
- Navarro, K., Wainwright, E., Rodham, K. & Jordan, A. (2018) Parenting young people with complex regional pain syndrome: An analysis of the process of parental online communication. *Pain Reports*, 3. 10.1097/PR9.000000000000681.
- Orhan, C., Van Looveren, E., Cagnie, B., Bashir Mukhtar, N., Lenoir, D. & Meeus, M. (2018) Are pain beliefs, cognitions, and behaviors influenced by race, ethnicity, and culture in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review. *Pain Physician*, 21, 541-558.
- Palermo, T. M. & Eccleston, C. (2009) Parents of children and adolescents with chronic pain. *Pain*, 146, 15-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.05.009</u>.
- Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., Essner, B., Jessen-Fiddick, T. & Eccleston, C. (2014) Adaptation of problem-solving skills training (PSST) for parent caregives of youth with chroni pain. *Clinical Practice in Pedatric Psychology*, 2, 212-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cpp0000067</u>.
- Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., Fales, J., Bromberg, M. H., Jessen-Fiddick, T. & Tai, G. (2016) Internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral treatment for adolescents with chronic pain and their parents: A randomized controlled multicenter trial. *Pain*, 157, 174-185. 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000348.
- Qsr International (n.d.) Nvivo (Version 12 Plus).
- Rabbitts, J. A., Aaron, R. V., Fisher, E., Lang, E. A., Bridgwater, C., Tai, G. G. & Palermo, T. M. (2017) Long-term pain and recovery after major pediatric surgery: A qualitative study with teens, parents, and perioperative care providers. *Journal of Pain*, 18, 778-786. 10.1016/j.jpain.2017.02.423.
- Rossato, L. M., Angelo, M. & Silva, C. a. A. (2007) Care delivery for the child to grow up despite the pain: The family's experience. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem*, 15, 556-562.

- Sallfors, C. & Hallberg, L. R.-M. (2003) A parental perspective on living with a chronically ill child: A qualitative study. *Families, Systems, & Health*, 21, 193-204. 10.1037/1091-7527.21.2.193.
- Sandelowski, M. & Barroso, J. (2007) *Handbook for Synthesizing Qualitative Research*. Springer.
- Sandelowski, M., Docherty, S. & Emden, C. (1997) Qualitative metasynthesis: Issues and techniques. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 20, 365-371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-240X(199708)20:4%3C365::AID-</u> <u>NUR9%3E3.0.CO;2-E</u>.
- Santacroce, S. J. (2003) Parental uncertainty and posttraumatic stress in serious childhood illness. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 35, 45-51.
- Sayers, A. (2007) Tips and tricks in performing a systematic review. *British Journal of General Practice*, 57.
- Schechter, N. L. (2014) Chronic pain syndromes in childhood: One trunk, many branches. In: Mcgrath, P. J., Stevens, B. J., Walker, S. M. & Zempsky, W. T. (eds.) Oxford Textbook of Paediatric Pain. Oxford Unversity Press.
- Sleed, M., Eccleston, C., Beecham, J., Knapp, M. & Jordan, A. (2005) The economic impact of chronic pain in adolescence: Methodological considerations and a preliminary costs-of-illness study. *Pain*, 119, 183-190. 10.1016/j.pain.2005.09.028.
- Smart, S. & Cottrell, D. (2005) Going to the doctors: The views of mothers with recurrent abdominal pain. *Child: Care, Health & Development,* 31, 265-273.
- Steingrímsdóttir, O. A., Landmark, T., Marfarlane, G. J. & Nielsen, C. S. (2017) Defining chronic pain in epidemiological studies: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain*, 158, 2092-2107. 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000000000.
- Swain, M. S., Henschke, N., Kamper, S. J., Gobina, I., Ottová-Jordan, V. & Maher, C. G. (2014) An international survey of pain in adolescents. *BMC public health*, 14(1), 1-7.
- The Scottish Government (2018) Management of chronic pain in children and young people: A national clinical guideline. Edinburgh, UK: The Scottish Government.
- Thomas, J. & Harden, A. (2008) Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 8. 10.1186/1471-2288-8-45.
- Vetter, T. R. (2011) Pediatric Chronic Pain. In: Moore, R. J. (ed.) *Handbook of Pain and Palliative Care: Biobehavioral Approaches for the Life Course*. Springer.
- Waite-Jones, J. M. & Madill, A. (2008) Concealed concern: Fathers' experiences of having a child with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. *Psychology and Health*, 23, 585-601. 10.1080/08870440802036911.
- Wakefield, E. O., Zempsky, W. T., Puhl, R. M. & Litt, M. D. (2018) Conceptualizing painrelated stigma in adolescent chronic pain: A literature review and prelimary focus group findings. *Pain Reports*, 3, e679. 10.1097/PR9.000000000000679.
- Yuwen, W., Lewis, F. M., Walker, A. J. & Ward, T. M. (2017) Struggling in the dark to help my child: Parents' experiences in caring for a young child with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 37, e23-e29. 10.1016/j.pedn.2017.07.007.

# **Tables and Figures**

## Table 1: Results of SPiDER Tool

Element	Details
<u>S</u> ample	Parents (or those taking on the parenting role)
Phenomenon of Interest	Paediatric persistent pain
Design	Interviews, focus groups, open-ended questionnaires, diary
	studies
Evaluation	Experiences, perceptions, attitudes, views, opinions
<u>R</u> esearch type	Qualitative

#### Table 2: Search Terms

Concept	Search Terms	MeSH Headings	APA Subject Headings
		(CINAHL, Medline)	(PsychInfo,
			PsycArticles)
Parents	"parent*" OR "mother*"	Parent-Child Relations	Parental Attitudes OR
	OR "father*" OR	OR Parental Attitudes	Parental Involvement OR
	"caregiv"" OR	OR Parenting OR Parents	Parenting OR Parenting
	"grandpa*" OR	OR Caregivers OR	Skills OR Parenting Style
	"grandm*" OR	Mother-Child Relations	OR Parent Child
	"grandfather"	OR Mothers OR Father-	Relations OR Caregivers
		Child Relations OR	OR Grandparents
		Fathers OR Grandparents	
Children	Child* OR Pediatr* OR	Child OR Pediatrics OR	Pediatrics OR
	paediatr* OR Adolescen*	Adolescence OR Young	Chronically Ill Children
	OR "young pe*" OR	Adult	
	youth* OR teen*		
Persistent	"chronic N/3 pain" OR	Chronic Pain OR	Chronic Pain OR
Pain	"persistent N/3 pain" OR	Complex Regional Pain	Fibromyalgia OR
	"recurrent N/3 pain" OR	Syndromes OR Reflex	"Complex Regional Pain
	"long-term N/3 pain" OR	Sympathetic Dystrophy	Syndrome (Type I)" OR
	"fibromyalgia" OR	OR Neuralgia OR	Neuralgia OR Back Pain
	"arthritis" OR	Fibromyalgia OR	OR Arthritis OR
	"headache" OR	Arthritis, Juvenile OR	Headache OR Migraine
	"migraine" OR "stomach	Headache OR Migraine	Headache OR
	ache" OR "ear ache" OR	Disorders OR Earache	

#### PARENTING CHILDREN WITH PERSISTENT PAIN

"complex regional pain	OR Back Pain OR Low	Neuropathic Pain OR
syndrome" OR "CRPS"	Back Pain OR Cerebral	Cerebral Palsy
OR "neuropath*" OR	Palsy	
"back pain" OR "cerebral		
palsy" OR "hurts"		

1-34

Table 3: Papers Excluded at Full-Text Screening Stage, With Reasons	5

Author/s (Year of publication)	Title	Reason for exclusion
Alaee, Shahboulaghi, Khankeh & Kermanshahi	Psychosocial challenges for parents of children with cerebral palsy: a	Not focused on pain
(2015)	qualitative study	1
Anonymous (2014)	Down the medical rabbit hole	Not research
Appelbaum & Smolowitz (2012)	Appreciating life: being the father of a child with severe cerebral palsy	Not focused on pain
Aras, Aras, Sahin & Yanerdag (2011)	The effect of pain complaint on quality of life in mothers of children	Not available in English
Thus, Thus, Summer Tuneroug (2011)	with cerebral palsy	
Aras, Aras, Sahin & Yanerdag (2011)	Quality of life in mothers of children with cerebral palsy	Not available in English
Backman, Smith, Smith, Montie & Suto (2007)	Sometimes I can, sometimes I can't': The influence of arthritis on	Not paediatric pain
Daekinali, Silitai, Silitai, Montie & Sato (2007)	mothers' habits	
Barlow & Ellard (2006)	The psychosocial well-being of children with chronic disease, their	Not original research (review -
Darlow & Enard (2000)	parents and siblings: An overview of the research evidence base	but not focused on pain)
Barlow (1998)	Parents' experience of caring for children with juvenile chronic arthritis	Not available
Barlow, Cullen-Powell & Cheshire (2006)	Psychological well-being among mothers of children with cerebral	Not qualitative research
Barlow, Culter-1 owen & Cheshne (2000)	palsy	

Barlow, Harrison & Shaw (1998)	The experience of parenting in the context of juvenile chronic arthritis	Data coded into pre-
Barlow, Harrison & Shaw (1998)	The experience of parenting in the context of juvenine chrome artifitis	determined categories
Bennett, Huntsman & Lilley (2000)	Parent perceptions of the impact of chronic pain in children and	Not qualitative research
	adolescents	
	Views from the inside, part 3: How and why families undertake	Specifically about an
Britton & Moore (2002)	prescribed exercise and splinting programmes and a new model of the	
	families' experience of living with juvenile arthritis	intervention
Burkhard (2011)	The lived experience of mothers caring for an adolescent or young	Thesis
	adult with severe cerebral palsy	1110515
Burkhard (2013)	A different life: Caring for an adolescent or young adult with severe	Not focused on pain
Durkhard (2013)	cerebral palsy	Not focused on pain
Bursch & Zelter (2001)	Pain: A Story	Not parents' experiences
	Developing a sense of knowing and acquiring the skills to manage pain	
Carter, Arnott, Simons & Bray (2017)	in children with profound cognitive impairments: Mothers'	Cognitive impairment
	perspectives	

Carter, McArthur & Cunliffe (2002)	Dealing with uncertainty: Parental assessment of pain in their children with profound special needs	Cognitive impairment
Chaturvedi & Kanakalatha (1988)	Pain in children of chronic pain patients	Not parents' experiences
Cooper (2002)	Parents as care managers: the experiences of those caring for young children with cerebral palsy	Not research
Cuneo (1997)	Psychological implications of childhood arthritis on adolescent and parent adjustment	Not qualitative research
Davis, Shelly, Waters, Boyd, Cook, Davern & Reddihough (2009)	The impact of caring for a child with cerebral palsy: Quality of life for mothers and fathers	Not focused on pain
Dunford, Thompson & Gauntlett-Gilbert (2014)	Parental behaviour in paediatric chronic pain: A qualitative observational study.	Observational only
Evans, Meldrum, Tsao, Fraynt & Zeltser	Associations between parent and child pain and functioning in a	Emphasis on children's
(2010)	pediatric chronic pain sample: A mixed methods approach	experiences, not parents
Glasscock (1997)	The experience of being a mother of a child with cerebral palsy: A phenomenologial study	Not focused on pain

Glasscock (2000)	A phenomenological study of the experience of being a mother of a child with cerebral palsy	Not focused on pain
Gomez-Ramirez, Gibbon, Berard, Jurencak,	A recurring rollercoaster ride: A qualitative study of the emotional	Data coded into pre-
Green, Tucker, Shiff & Guzman (2016)	experiences of parents of children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis	determined categories
Gorodzinsky, Tran, Medrano, Fleischman,	Parents' initial perceptions of multidisciplinary care for pediatric	Specifically about experiences
Anderson-Khan, Ladwig & Weisman (2012)	chronic pain	of one service
Guite, Russell, Homan, Tepe & Williams	Parenting in the context of children's chronic pain: Balancing care and	Not research
(2018)	burden	Notresearch
Hallisy (2015)	Empowerment: A pain caregiver's perspective	Not research
Ho, Goldschneider, Kashikar-Zuck, Kotagal, Tessman & Jones (2008)	Healthcare utilization and indirect burden among families of pediatric patients with chronic pain	Not qualitative research
Hunfeld, Perquin, Duivenvoorden, Hazebroek- Kampschreur, Passchier, van Suijlekom-Smit & van der Wouden (2001)	Chronic pain and its impact on quality of life in adolescents and their families	Not qualitative research

Hunfeld, Perquin, Hazebroek-Kampschreur, Passchier, van Suijlekom-Smit & van der Wouden (2002)	Physically unexplained chronic pain and its impact on children and their families: The mother's perception	Not qualitative research
Jensen, Patel, Listernick, Charrow & Lai (2019)	Lifespan development: Symptoms experienced by individuals with Neurofibromatosis Type 1 Associated Plexiform Neurofibromas from childhood into adulthood	Parents' views not separate
Jongudomkarn, Aungsupakorn & Camfield (2008)	Families in northeast Thailand: Living with a child in chronic pain	Children with cancer
Jordan (2010)	Parenting an adolescent with chronic pain: Impact on parents and association with adolescent functioning	Not original research (review - but not systematic, not focused on parents, & doesn't include many of the papers identified for the current review)
Kemper, Sarah, Silver-Highfield, Xiarhos, Barnes & Berde (2000)	On pins and needles? Pediatric pain patients' experience with acupuncture	Not parents' experiences

Kurtuncu, Akhan, Yildiz & Demirbag (2015)	Experiences shared through the interviews from fifteen mothers of children with cerebral palsy	Not focused on pain
Lafrenaye, Dumas, Duhamel & Bourgault (2010)	La symbolique des parents en regard de la douleur de leur enfant atteint d'une maladie chronique	Not available in English
Lauruschkus, Nordmark & Hallstrom (2017)	Parents' experiences of participation in physical activities for children with cerebral palsy - protecting and pushing towards independence	Not parents' experiences
Le, Norris, Reid, Scott, Hartling & Ali (2017)	Development and usability evaluation of an art and narrative-based knowledge translation tool for parents with a child with pediatric chronic pain: Multi-method study	Specifically about experiences of a resource
Leksell, Hallberg, Horne, Ernberg, & Hedenberg-Magnusson (2017)	Parenting a child with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, orofacial pain and dysfunction: A qualitative study	Not focused on pain
Logan, Guite, Sherry & Rose (2006)	Adolescent-parent relationships in the context of adolescent chronic pain conditions	Not qualitative research
MacIver, Jones & Nicol (2014)	Parental experiences of paediatric chronic pain management services	Specifically about experiences of one service

McNeill (2007)	Fathers of children with a chronic health condition - beyond gender stereotypes	Not focused on pain
Noel, Beals-Erickson, Law, Alberts & Palermo	Characterizing the pain narratives of parents of youth with chronic	Data coded into pre-
(2016)	pain.	determined categories
Ogunlana, Oyewole, Falola, Davis, Lateef & Adepoju (2019)	Psychosocial problems among mothers of children with cerebral palsy attending physiotherapy outpatient department of two selected tertiary health centres in Ogun state: A pilot study	Not focused on pain
Palermo & Chambers (2005)	Parent and family factors in pediatric chronic pain and disability: An integrative approach	Not research
Palermo, Slack, Zhou, Aaron, Ficher & Rodriguez (2019)	Waiting for a Pediatric Chronic Pain Clinic Evaluation: A Prospective Study Characterizing Waiting Times and Symptom Trajectories.	Parents' views not separate
Power, Muhit, Heanoy, Karim, Galea, Badawi & Khandaker (2019)	Depression, anxiety and stress among caregivers of adolescents with cerebral palsy in rural Bangladesh	Not qualitative research
Rabbitts, Aaron, Fisher, Lang, Bridgwater, Tai & Palermo (2017)	Chronic pain after pediatric surgery: A qualitative study with children, parents, and healthcare providers	Not research

Reid, Lander, Scott & Dick (2010)	What do the parents of children who have chronic pain expect from their first visit to a pediatric chronic pain clinic?	Not qualitative research
Reiter-Purtill, Gerhardt, Passo, Taylor, Vannatta & Noll (2002)	Child-rearing practices of caregivers with and without a child with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: The perspectives of caregivers and professional	Not research
Roizenblatt, Tufik, Goldenberg, Pinto, Hilario & Feldman (1997)	Juvenile fibromyalgia: clinical and polysomnographic aspects	Not qualitative research
Roth (2018)	Ethnography of integrative pain management at a large urban pediatric hospital	Parents' views not separate
Ruskin, Campbell, Stinson & Kohut (2018)	Changes in Parent Psychological Flexibility after a One-Time Mindfulness-Based Intervention for Parents of Adolescents with Persistent Pain Conditions	Not parents' experiences
Santos de Araujo Dantas, Pontes, Dantas de Assis & Collet (2012)	Families abilities and difficulties in caring for children with cerebral palsy	Not available in English
Sherry & Weisman (1988)	Psychologic aspects of childhood reflex neurovascular dystrophy	No analysis
Sieberg & Manganella (2015)	Family beliefs and interventions in pediatric pain management	Not research

Sieberg, Williams & Simons (2011)	Do parent protective responses mediate the relation between parent distress and child functional disability among children with chronic pain?	Not qualitative research
Silver (2004)	The smallest sufferers: Parents and caregivers must truly understand children's pain to treat it effectively	Not research
Simoes, Silva, dos Santos, Misko & Bousso (2013)	The parents' experience in taking care of their children with cerebral palsy	Not available in English
Simons & Sieberg (2015)	Parents - To help or hinder pain memories in children	Not research
Singogo, Mweshi & Rhoda (2015)	Challenges experienced by mothers caring for children with cerebral palsy in Zambia	Not focused on pain
Ståhle-Öberg & Fjellman-Wiklund (2009)	Parents' experience of pain in children with cerebral palsy and multiple disabilities - An interview study	Cognitive impairment
Tutelman, Chambers, Urquhart, Fernandez, Heathco, Noel, Flanders, Guilcher, Schulte, Stinson, MacLeod & Stern (2019)	When "a headache is not just a headache": A qualitative examination of parent and child experiences of pain after childhood cancer	Children with cancer

Uziel, Friedland, Jaber, Press, Buskila & Hashkes (2007)	Living with children with growing pains: how does it affect the parents?	Not qualitative research
Van Slyke & Walker (2006)	Mothers' responses to children's pain	Not qualitative research
van Vlierberghe, Goubert, Bijttebier, Mertens & Crombez (2004)	De invloed van pijncatastroferen op somatische klachten en disfunctioneren bij kinderen en jongeren met chronische pijn: Een vragenlijststudie	Not available in English
Vetter, Bridgewater & McGwin (2012)	An observational study of patient versus parental perceptions of health- related quality of life in children and adolescents with a chronic pain condition: who should the clinician believe?	Not qualitative research
Vetter, Bridgewater, Ascherman, Madan- Swain, McGwin Jr & McGwin (2014)	Patient versus parental perceptions about pain and disability in children and adolescents with a variety of chronic pain conditions	Not qualitative research
Violon (1985)	Family etiology of chronic pain	Not research
von Baeyer & Whitehead (2006)	Effects of parent attention versus distraction on abdominal discomfort in children: A new method and new findings	Not qualitative research
Vowles, Cohen, McCracken & Eccleston (2010)	Disentangling the complex relations among caregiver and adolescent responses to adolescent chronic pain	Not qualitative research

Waldman & Perlman (2019)	My child has a disability Do I have to worry about an opioid addiction too?	Not research
Walker & Greene (1989)	Children with recurrent abdominal pain and their parents: More somatic complaints, anxiety, and depression than other patient families?	Not qualitative research
Walker, Williams, Smith, Garber, van Slyke & Lipani (2006)	Parent attention versus distraction: Impact on symptom complaints by children with and without chronic functional abdominal pain	Not qualitative research
Wallace, McCracken, Weiss & Harbeck-Weber (2015)	The role of parent psychological flexibility in relation to adolescent chronic pain: Further instrument development	Not qualitative research
Wallace, Woodford & Connelly (2016)	Promoting psychological flexibility in parents of adolescents with chronic pain: Pilot study of an 8-week group intervention	Specifically about one intervention program
Wallrath, Rubel, Ohls, Demiralay & Hechler (2019)	Bottom-up or top-down?: The role of child and parent chronic pain and anxiety in the context of parental catastrophizing and solicitousness	Not qualitative research
Walters (1993)	The effect of appraisal, coping, and family variables on stress outcomes of pediatric chronic pain patients	Not available

Weiss, Junghans-Rutelonis, Aaron, Harbeck- Weber, McTate, Luedtke & Bruce (2019)	Improving Distress and Behaviors for Parents of Adolescents With Chronic Pain Enrolled in an Intensive Interdisciplinary Pain Program	Not qualitative research
Whittingham, Wee, Sanders & Boyd (2013)	Sorrow, coping and resiliency: Parents of children with cerebral palsy share their experiences	Not focused on pain
Williams, Smith, Bruehl, Gigante & Walker (2009)	Medical evaluation of children with chronic abdominal pain: Impact of diagnosis, physician practice orientation, and maternal trait anxiety on mothers' responses to the evaluation	Not qualitative research
Williamson, Walters & Shaffer (2002)	Caregiver models of self and others, coping, and depression: Predictors of depression in children with chronic pain	Not qualitative research
Wilson, Lewandowski & Palermo (2011)	Fear-avoidance beliefs and parental responses to pain in adolescents with chronic pain	Not qualitative research
Wilson, Moss, Palermo & Fales (2014)	Parent pain and catastrophizing are associated with pain, somatic symptoms, and pain-related disability among early adolescents	Not qualitative research
Wolff, Darlington, Hunfeld, Verhulst, Jaddoe, Hofman, Passchier & Tiemeier (2010)	Determinants of somatic complaints in 18-month-old children: The Generation R Study	Not qualitative research

Wolters, Burns, Martin, Baldwin, Dombi,	Pain interference in youth with neurofibromatosis type 1 and plexiform	
Toledo-Tamula, Dudley, Gillespie &	neurofibromas and relation to disease severity, social-emotional	Not qualitative research
Widemann (2015)	functioning, and quality of life	
Woods & Ostrowski-Delahanty (2017)	Psychometric Properties of the Psychosocial Assessment Tool-Chronic	Not qualitative research
(100015 & Ostrowski Dominanty (2017)	Pain Version in Families of Children With Headache	riot quantative research
Zabalia Jacquat Grasmanil & Wood (2012)	Pediatric pain assessment: A pragmatic analysis of dialogues in the	Not perents' experiences
Zabalia, Jacquet, Grasmenil & Wood (2013)	interactions of healthcare providers, children and their parents	Not parents' experiences

## Table 4: Details of Papers Included

ID	Author (year)	Country	Condition (if specific)	Focus of research	Participants	Sample Size	Methods	Analysis
1*	Britton and	UK	Juvenile Idiopathic	Journey to	Parents,	9 families	Semi-	"Standard
	Moore (2002a)		Arthritis	diagnosis	patients,		structured	ethnographic
					siblings		interviews;	processes"
							video diaries;	
							written	
							diaries	
2*	Britton and	UK	Juvenile Idiopathic	Experiences	Parents,	9 families	Semi-	"Standard
	Moore (2002b)		Arthritis		patients,		structured	ethnographic
					siblings		interviews;	processes"
							video diaries;	
							written	
							diaries	

ID	Author (year)	Country	Condition (if specific)	Focus of research	Participants	Sample Size	Methods	Analysis
3	Brodwall et al.	Norway	Functional	Experiences	Parents	14 families	Semi-	Qualitative content
	(2018)		Gastrointestinal			(5 fathers, 10	structured	analysis
			Disorders			mothers)	interviews	
4	Carter (2002)	UK	Any pain lasting 3	Medical	Parents,	3 families	Journals;	Thematic analysis
			months or longer,	encounters	grandparent,		interviews	
			with or without		sibling			
			formal diagnosis					
5	Gaughan et al.	USA	Chronic neuropathic	Journey caring	Parents	9 families	Open-ended	Qualitative content
	(2014)		pain (Complex	for child		(8 mothers, 5	interviews	analysis
			Regional Pain			fathers)		
			Syndrome)					
6	Jordan et al.	UK	Pain for a period of	Experiences	Fathers	6	Semi-	Interpretative
	(2016)		at least 3 months				structured	phenomenological
							interviews	analysis

ID	Author (year)	Country	Condition (if specific)	Focus of research	Participants	Sample Size	Methods	Analysis
7	Jordan et al.	UK	Pain for a minimum	Parental	Parents &	15 families	Focus groups	Interpretative
	(2007)		duration of 3 months	experiences	carers	(11 mothers,		phenomenological
						5 fathers, 1		analysis
						grandmother)		
8	Le et al. (2019)	Canada	Chronic pain (no	Parental	Parents	13 families	Semi-	Thematic analysis
			definition given but	experiences		(12 mothers,	structured	
			recruited through			1 father)	interviews	
			chronic pain clinic)					
9	MacIver et al.	UK	Chronic pain	Impact for	Parents	10 families	Interviews	Thematic analysis
	(2010)		(musculoskeletal or	parents		(10 mothers,		
			neuropathic)			2 fathers)		
10	McNeill (2004)	Canada	Juvenile Rheumatic	Fathers'	Fathers	22	Semi-	Grounded theory
			Arthritis	experiences			structured	
							interviews	

ID	Author (year)	Country	Condition (if specific)	Focus of research	Participants	Sample Size	Methods	Analysis
11	Navarro et al. (2018)	Unclear (data from online forums)	Complex Regional Pain Syndrome	Parental online communication	Parents	39 users	Online forums	Thematic analysis
12	Rabbitts et al. (2017)	USA	Major surgery 3-12 months prior	Long-term pain and recovery after surgery	Patients, parents, healthcare providers	<ul><li>15 families</li><li>(13 mothers,</li><li>1 father, 1</li><li>grandmother)</li></ul>	Semi- structured interviews	Thematic analysis
13	Rossato et al. (2007)	Brazil	Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis	Family experiences	Parents, patients, siblings	12 families (12 mothers, 2 fathers)	Semi- structured interviews	Grounded theory
14	Sallfors and Hallberg (2003)	Sweden	Juvenile Chronic Arthritis	Parental experiences	Parents	<ul><li>22 families</li><li>(16 mothers,</li><li>6 fathers)</li></ul>	Open interviews	Grounded theory

ID	Author (year)	Country	Condition (if specific)	Focus of research	Participants	Sample Size	Methods	Analysis
15	Smart and Cottrell (2005)	UK	Recurrent abdominal pain (physically unexplained)	Going to the doctors	Mothers	28 families	Semi- structured interviews	Thematic analysis
16	Waite-Jones and Madill (2008)	UK	Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis	Fathers' experiences	Fathers	8	Semi- structured interviews	Grounded theory
17	Yuwen et al. (2017)	USA	Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis	Parental experiences	Parents	8 families (8 mothers, 1 father)	Semi- structured interviews	Inductive content analysis

\* Papers 1 and 2 relate to the same sample.

Paper	Clear statement of aims	Qualitative	Research design	Recruitment strategy	Data collection	Consideration of	Consideration of ethical	Sufficiently rigorous	Clear statement of	Consideration of value	Total score
1	3	3	3	3	2	3	2	2	3	3	27
2	3	3	3	3	2	3	2	2	3	3	27
3	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	2	3	2	26
4	3	3	2	3	3	1	3	3	3	2	26
5	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	2	2	27
6	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	29
7	3	3	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	23
8	3	3	3	2	3	1	2	3	2	3	25
9	3	3	1	3	2	1	3	3	3	3	25
10	3	3	1	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	26
11	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	28
12	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	28
13	3	3	2	2	2	1	2	3	3	2	23
14	3	3	1	3	3	1	2	3	3	3	25
15	3	3	2	3	2	2	2	3	3	2	25
16	2	2	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	26
17	3	3	1	3	2	1	3	3	3	3	25

## Table 5: Results of Critical Appraisal using CASP Qualitative Checklist



Figure 1: PRISMA Flow Diagram (Moher et al., 2009)

#### Appendices

#### **Appendix 1-A: Development of analytic themes from codes and descriptive themes**

The below table reflects the process of development from initial codes (developed from all 17 papers included) to descriptive themes, and then to analytic themes. As can be seen in the table, the descriptive themes did not map directly onto the analytic themes – with several of the descriptive themes being represented within each analytic theme. Rather, the descriptive themes reflect a stage in the iterative process of analysis; their development allowed familiarisation with and deeper understanding of the data. This thereby facilitated the third-order interpretations necessary for development of the final analytic themes.

Code	Descriptive Theme	Analytic Theme
"In limbo" due to the pain (Lack of) control Constantly alert, on guard, vigilant	- Pain takes over	
Being assertive (is uncomfortable)	The impact of other people	
Role of parents in treatment One parent takes the lead Want to 'trade places' with the child	- Parents as a unit	
Uncertainty, unpredictability Want to make it better Availability of information, resources Helplessness, hopelessness Denial Don't know what to do	Stress and difficult emotional responses	Seeking control in an uncontrollable situation
Focus on practical thingsDeveloping medicalknowledgeTaking responsibilityAdvocacy on behalf of thechildFocus on family (instead ofon pain)	Moving forwards in positive ways	

Having to be strong, tough,		
stay positive	-	
Silver linings		
Gaining perspective		
Getting on with things, being		
pragmatic		
Relationships with medical		
profession		
Let down by services		
Trust in healthcare teams		
HCPs' knowledge of best		
practice	The impact of other people	
(Lack of) understanding of the		
patient/family's experience		
Validation, feeling invalidated		Being let down by experts
Having to explain the		and becoming their own
condition/diagnosis/symptoms		expert
Engagement with services,		
treatment	Demanta e a consta	
Parents are experts on their	- Parents as a unit	
own child		
Navigating systems	Stress and difficult	
Frustration	emotional response	
Empowerment	Moving forward in positive	
	ways	
Social burden of pain		
1		
Social burden of pain Being believed (or not)		
Being believed (or not)		
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in		
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled"		
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping		
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies	The impact of other people	
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping	The impact of other people	Fearing judgment whilst
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being	The impact of other people	Fearing judgment whilst judging themselves
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between	The impact of other people	
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between family and services	The impact of other people	
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between family and services Other people's	The impact of other people	
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between family and services Other people's awareness/understanding	The impact of other people	
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between family and services Other people's awareness/understanding Lack of recognition of	The impact of other people	
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between family and services Other people's awareness/understanding Lack of recognition of severity		
Being believed (or not) "They don't look ill/in pain/disabled" Rejection of family's coping strategies Being/feeling/fearing being judged Communication between family and services Other people's awareness/understanding Lack of recognition of	The impact of other people Stress and difficult emotional responses	

Seeing the child suffer		
Guilt/blame	1	
Feeling like a broken record	-	
Inflicting more pain/suffering		
Relief at diagnosis	Moving forwards in	
	positive ways	
Life changed due to the	Pain takes over	
child's condition		
Jealousy; comparison with	Impact of other people	
"normal" children/families		
Impact on parental identity		
Changes in parental roles	Parents as a unit	
Holistic parental role		
Wanting child to have a		
normal life	Stress and difficult emotional responses Seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal'	Seeking normality even
Not what I expected		
Difficulty acknowledging		
changes		normai
Unfair		
New priorities		
Process of adjustment,		
acceptance, adaptation	Moving forwards in	
Learning to live with it	positive ways	
Adjusting to a new normal	positive ways	
Trying to maintain normal		
activities		
Pain affects the whole family	Pain takes over Focusing on the child vs. awareness of impact on the	
Impact on leisure time, social		
lives		
Life centres around child,		
their pain		
Financial implications		Focusing on the child vs. awareness of impact on the wider family
Fatigue/exhaustion		
Impact on parents' careers		
Family members feeling		
excluded/rejected		
Siblings getting enough		
attention	Parents as a unit	
Family functioning		
Closeness between parent(s)		
and child		

Impact on relationships within		
the family		
Pulling together as a family		
Child's response to pain		
Parents recognise pain even		
when denied by the child		
Communication within the		
family		
Resentment	- Stress and difficult - emotional responses	
Confusing for siblings		
Impact on child is difficult		
'Costs' of caring	emotional responses	
Feeling alone, social isolation		
Fighting for support/resources		
Burden of so many		
appointments	Pain takes over	
No choice		
Importance of peer support		
Social support		
Sharing experiences with	Impact of others	
others in similar situations		
makes it worse		
Support turns into criticism		
Self support		Dichotomy: The push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain
Dislike seeking external		
support		
Careful not to be over-		
sympathetic; fear causing		
hypochondria		
Protectiveness of child/family		
Support from partner	Parents as a unit	
Balance within parents'		
relationship; completement		
each other		
Marital tension,		
disagreements		
Differences between mothers		
and fathers		
Parents lack insight into each		
other's perspective		
Hiding feelings (from	-	
partner/child/friends)		
L		1

Showing/expressing feelings	
Family has an impact on pain	
Catastrophising, thinking the	Stress and difficult emotional responses
worst	
Practical difficulties accessing	
treatment/support	
Difficulties securing diagnosis	
Making difficult decisions	
No outlet for feelings	
"Genuine physical disease" =	
more real	
Search for physical	
explanation and treatment	
Recognition of psychological	
factors in pain	Moving forwards in positive ways
Belief in a cure/miracle	
Норе	
Religion, faith	

# **Appendix 1-B: Author Guidelines of Chosen Journal for Submission 'Journal of Health Psychology'**

Manuscript Submission Guidelines: Journal of Health Psychology

This Journal is a member of the Committee on Publication Ethics

Please read the guidelines below then visit the Journal's submission site <u>http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/jhealthpsychology</u> to upload your manuscript. Please note that manuscripts not conforming to these guidelines may be returned.

Only manuscripts of sufficient quality that meet the aims and scope of Journal of Health Psychology will be reviewed.

Please ensure that your manuscript is suitable for publication and completely free of errors before you submit. Please pay particular attention to SAGE guidelines on <u>Authorship</u> and the <u>SAGE Correction Policy</u>.

There are no fees payable to submit or publish in this journal.

As part of the submission process you will be required to warrant that you are submitting your original work, that you have the rights in the work, and that you have obtained and can supply all necessary permissions for the reproduction of any copyright works not owned by you, that you are submitting the work for first publication in the Journal and that it is not being considered for publication elsewhere and has not already been published elsewhere. Please see our guidelines on prior publication and note that *Journal of Health* 

*Psychology* may accept submissions of papers that have been posted on pre-print servers; please alert the Editorial Office when submitting (contact details are at the end of these guidelines) and include the DOI for the preprint in the designated field in the manuscript submission system. Authors should not post an updated version of their paper on the preprint server while it is being peer reviewed for possible publication in the journal. If the article is accepted for publication, the author may re-use their work according to the journal's author archiving policy. If your paper is accepted, you must include a link on your preprint to the final version of your paper.

- 1. What do we publish?
  - 1.1 Aims & Scope
  - 1.2 Article types
  - 1.3 Writing your paper
- 2. Editorial policies
  - 2.1 Peer review policy
  - 2.2 Authorship
  - 2.3 Acknowledgements
  - 2.4 Funding
  - 2.5 Declaration of conflicting interests
  - 2.6 Research ethics and patient consent
  - 2.7 Reporting guidelines
  - 2.8 <u>Data</u>
- 3. <u>Publishing policies</u>
  - 3.1 Publication ethics
  - 3.2 Contributor's publishing agreement

- 3.3 Open access and author archiving
- 3.4 Transparency, Openness and Replication Policy
- 4. Preparing your manuscript
  - 4.1 Formatting
  - 4.2 Language and terminology
  - 4.3 Artwork, figures and other graphics
  - 4.4 Supplemental material
  - 4.5 <u>Reference style</u>
  - 4.6 English language editing services
- 5. Submitting your manuscript
  - 5.1 <u>ORCID</u>
  - 5.2 Information required for completing your submission
  - 5.3 Permissions
- 6. On acceptance and publication
  - 6.1 SAGE Production
  - 6.2 Online First publication
  - 6.3 Access to your published article
  - 6.4 Promoting your article
- 7. Further information
- 1. What do we publish?

## 1.1 Aims & Scope

Before submitting your manuscript to Journal of Health Psychology, please ensure you have read the <u>Aims & Scope</u>.

## **1.2 Article Types**

The Editorial Board of the **Journal of Health Psychology** considers for publication:

(a) Reports of empirical studies likely to further our understanding of health

psychology

- (b) Critical reviews of the literature
- (c) Theoretical contributions and commentaries
- (d) Intervention studies
- (e) Brief reports
- (e) Signed editorials (about 1000 words) on significant issues.

## **Intervention studies**

Publication guidelines for intervention studies are published in <u>Volume 15, Issue 1,</u> <u>pp. 5-7</u>. The journal normally publishes papers reporting intervention studies of up to 8,000 words allowing 500 words per table and figure.

The Journal of Health Psychology welcomes research reports regardless of the direction or strength of the results. However the JHP will only consider reports of clinical trials that have been pre-registered

at http://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ or http://www.controlled-trials.com/

Please consult the Editorial concerning "Publication Guidelines for Intervention Studies in the Journal of Health Psychology" by David F. Marks J Health Psychol January 2010 vol. 15 no. 1 57: <u>http://www.sagepub.com/content/15/1/5.full.pdf+html</u> The criteria for publication include the application of the CONSORT, TREND and PRISMA statements. **Brief reports** 

The Journal also publishes Brief Reports of up to 3,000 words. Brief Reports should include an abstract of 100 words, and may include a table or figure in lieu of 500 words of the 3,000-word maximum.

#### Article length and house style

Articles should be as short as is consistent with clear presentation of subject matter. The word count for articles is 8,000 words, including footnotes and a reference list. Articles over the word count should be ran by the Editor first. Tables and figures count as 500 words each which should be attached as separate pages at the end. "INSERT HERE" signs should be noted within the text. The title should indicate exactly, but as briefly as possible, the subject of the article. It is essential that your literature review is completely up to date. Please check recent issues of the **Journal of Health** 

**Psychology** and other key journals to ensure that any relevant papers are cited. Papers that fail to do this will be rejected. An Abstract should be at the start of the manuscript and not exceed **100 words** (in spite of what is stated on the ScholarOne website) accompanied by **five** keywords should be selected from the list provided on the JHP ScholarOne website. References are not numbered but appear in alphabetical order by first author surname.

To enable blind, impartial review, all documentation must be anonymized. A common error is to include the author's name in the Word document title, as in: Smith (blind copy).doc

Such manuscripts will be rejected for re-submission in fully blinded fashion.

#### 1.3 Writing your paper

The SAGE Author Gateway has some general advice and on <u>how to get published</u>, plus links to further resources.

#### 1.3.1 Make your article discoverable

When writing up your paper, think about how you can make it discoverable. The title, keywords and abstract are key to ensuring readers find your article through search engines such as Google. For information and guidance on how best to title your article, write your abstract and select your keywords, have a look at this page on the Gateway: <u>How to Help</u> Readers Find Your Article Online

Back to top

#### 2. Editorial policies

#### 2.1 Peer review policy

Journal of Health Psychology operates a strictly blinded peer review process in which the reviewer's name is withheld from the author and, the author's name from the reviewer. The reviewer may at their own discretion opt to reveal their name to the author in their review but our standard policy practice is for both identities to remain concealed.

As part of the submission process you will be asked to provide the names of [X no.] peers who could be called upon to review your manuscript. Recommended reviewers should be experts in their fields and should be able to provide an objective assessment of the manuscript. Please be aware of any conflicts of interest when recommending reviewers. Examples of conflicts of interest include (but are not limited to) the below:

- The reviewer should have no prior knowledge of your submission
- The reviewer should not have recently collaborated with any of the authors
- Reviewer nominees from the same institution as any of the authors are not permitted

Please note that the Editors are not obliged to invite/reject any recommended/opposed reviewers to assess your manuscript.

#### 2.2 Authorship

All parties who have made a substantive contribution to the article should be listed as authors. Principal authorship, authorship order, and other publication credits should be based on the relative scientific or professional contributions of the individuals involved, regardless of their status. A student is usually listed as principal author on any multiple-authored publication that substantially derives from the student's dissertation or thesis.

#### 2.3 Acknowledgements

All contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed in an Acknowledgements section. Examples of those who might be acknowledged include a person who provided purely technical help, or a department chair who provided only general support.

Any acknowledgements should appear first at the end of your article prior to your Declaration of Conflicting Interests (if applicable), any notes and your References.

#### 2.3.1 Third party submissions

Where an individual who is not listed as an author submits a manuscript on behalf of the author(s), a statement must be included in the Acknowledgements section of the manuscript and in the accompanying cover letter. The statements must:

- Disclose this type of editorial assistance including the individual's name, company and level of input
- Identify any entities that paid for this assistance
- Confirm that the listed authors have authorized the submission of their manuscript via third party and approved any statements or declarations, e.g. conflicting interests, funding, etc.

Where appropriate, SAGE reserves the right to deny consideration to manuscripts submitted by a third party rather than by the authors themselves.

#### 2.4 Funding

Journal of Health Psychology requires all authors to acknowledge their funding in a consistent fashion under a separate heading. Please visit the *Funding* 

Acknowledgements page on the SAGE Journal Author Gateway to confirm the format of the acknowledgment text in the event of funding, or state that: This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

#### 2.5 Declaration of conflicting interests

It is the policy of Journal of Health Psychology to require a declaration of conflicting interests from all authors enabling a statement to be carried within the paginated pages of all published articles.

Please ensure that a 'Declaration of Conflicting Interests' statement is included at the end of your manuscript and on the title page, after any acknowledgements and prior to the

references. If no conflict exists, please state that 'The Author(s) declare(s) that there is no conflict of interest'. For guidance on conflict of interest statements, please see the ICMJE recommendations <u>here</u>

Please see the <u>ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest</u> for more information about what items should be referenced in a Conflict of Interest statement.

#### 2.6 Research ethics and patient consent

Medical research involving human subjects must be conducted according to the <u>World</u> <u>Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki</u>

Submitted manuscripts should conform to the <u>ICMJE Recommendations for the Conduct</u>, <u>Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals</u>, and all papers reporting animal and/or human studies must state in the methods section that the relevant Ethics Committee or Institutional Review Board provided (or waived) approval. Please ensure that you have provided the full name and institution of the review committee, in addition to the approval number.

For research articles, authors are also required to state in the methods section whether participants provided informed consent and whether the consent was written or verbal. Information on informed consent to report individual cases or case series should be included in the manuscript text. A statement is required regarding whether written informed consent for patient information and images to be published was provided by the patient(s) or a legally authorized representative. Please do not submit the patient's actual written informed consent with your article, as this in itself breaches the patient's confidentiality. The Journal requests that you confirm to us, in writing, that you have obtained written informed consent but the written consent itself should be held by the authors/investigators themselves, for example in a patient's hospital record. The confirmatory letter may be uploaded with your submission as a separate file.

Please also refer to the <u>ICMJE Recommendations for the Protection of Research Participants</u> **2.7 Reporting guidelines** 

These guidelines relate to level of specificity, labels, participation, gender, sexual orientation, racial and ethnic identity, disabilities and age. Authors should also be sensitive to issues of social class, religion and culture.

The relevant <u>EQUATOR Network</u> reporting guidelines should be followed depending on the type of study. For example, all randomized controlled trials submitted for publication should include a completed <u>CONSORT</u> flow chart as a cited figure and the completed CONSORT checklist should be uploaded with your submission as a supplementary file. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses should include the completed PRISMA flow chart as a cited figure and the completed <u>PRISMA</u> checklist should be uploaded with your submission as a supplementary file. The <u>EQUATOR wizard</u> can help you identify the appropriate guideline. **2.8 Research data** 

At SAGE we are committed to facilitating openness, transparency and reproducibility of research. From the 1<sup>st</sup> July 2020 *Journal of Health Psychology* requires authors to share only those data described in the publication and to submit a Data Sharing Statement alongside their submission. This should appear as a distinct sub-section at the end of the Method section of the manuscript.
The data must be uploaded to the SAGE Track submission system and will be uploaded to Figshare on publication. Please see section 3.4 for information on MIRD data sharing, data uploading and required files and the relevant <u>Editorial</u> for further details.

# 2.8.1 Data sharing statement

Data sharing statements must indicate the following: whether individual de-identified participant data (including data dictionaries) are shared; what data in particular are shared; additional, related documents that are available (e.g. study protocol and statistical analysis plan). The shared data should be useable and interpretable and include the following features:

- 1. If the data are in the form of a **statistical dataset**, variables must be labelled clearly, and variables that are stored as labelled numeric values must have associated value labels. The version of the software used to create the dataset must be stipulated (to clarify potential back-compatibility issues).
- 2. For data stored as a **spreadsheet**, **or delimited text**, an associated text file containing variable labels and, where appropriate, value labels for labelled numeric data.
- 3. **Missing data codes** should be documented, together with numbers of missing values for each variable. Ideally, missing data should be left blank, not assigned a pseudo-numeric code.
- 4. Measurement units and measurement times (where appropriate).
- 5. The dataset should be accompanied by a **codebook** giving means of continuous variables and frequencies of categorical variables, together with numbers of valid cases. This allows the use to check that they have read the data correctly into whatever software they are using.
- 6. Clearly spell out the **analytic procedures** upon which the submitted claims rely, and where possible provide access to all relevant analytic materials.
- 7. **Note** explaining the datasets will be available in Figshare and as supplementary material on the SAGE Journals platform.

# Back to top

# **3. Publishing Policies**

# **3.1 Publication ethics**

SAGE is committed to upholding the integrity of the academic record. We encourage authors to refer to the Committee on Publication Ethics' <u>International Standards for Authors</u> and view the Publication Ethics page on the <u>SAGE Author Gateway</u>

# 3.1.1 Plagiarism

Journal of Health Psychology and SAGE take issues of copyright infringement, plagiarism or other breaches of best practice in publication very seriously. We seek to protect the rights of our authors and we always investigate claims of plagiarism or misuse of published articles. Equally, we seek to protect the reputation of the journal against malpractice. Submitted articles may be checked with duplication-checking software. Where an article, for example, is found to have plagiarised other work or included third-party copyright material without permission or with insufficient acknowledgement, or where the authorship of the article is contested, we reserve the right to take action including, but not limited to: publishing an erratum or corrigendum (correction); retracting the article; taking up the matter with the head of department or dean of the author's institution and/or relevant academic bodies or societies; or taking appropriate legal action.

# **3.1.2 Prior publication**

If material has been previously published it is not generally acceptable for publication in a SAGE journal. However, there are certain circumstances where previously published material can be considered for publication. Please refer to the guidance on the <u>SAGE Author</u> Gateway or if in doubt, contact the Editor at the address given below.

# 3.2 Contributor's publishing agreement

Before publication, SAGE requires the author as the rights holder to sign a Journal Contributor's Publishing Agreement. SAGE's Journal Contributor's Publishing Agreement is an exclusive licence agreement which means that the author retains copyright in the work but grants SAGE the sole and exclusive right and licence to publish for the full legal term of copyright. Exceptions may exist where an assignment of copyright is required or preferred by a proprietor other than SAGE. In this case copyright in the work will be assigned from the author to the society. For more information please visit the <u>SAGE Author Gateway</u>

# 3.3 Open access and author archiving

Journal of Health Psychology offers optional open access publishing via the SAGE Choice programme. For more information please visit the <u>SAGE Choice website</u>. For information on funding body compliance, and depositing your article in repositories, please visit *SAGE Publishing Policies* on our Journal Author Gateway.

# 3.4 Transparency, Openness and Replication Policy

From the 1<sup>st</sup> July 2020, *Journal of Health Psychology* requires all authors to make their data fully accessible for all empirical research submitted to the journal for publication, and will only consider manuscripts which follow an open publication model with M = Mandatory, I = Inclusion (of), R = Raw, D = Data (MIRD). According to the MIRD model, all contributions of new qualitative and quantitative studies must fully document and share the raw data collected by the author(s) or their data collection team together with full details of the analytical procedures used. All data and analytical procedures must be sufficiently well described to enable a third party with the appropriate level of expertise to replicate the data analyses.

Authors must include their raw data and disclose the key aspects of the research design to every extent possible. The raw data and associated contextual information will be sent to reviewers, revised alongside the paper in every round and published alongside the paper (as an appendix or online supplement). In addition to publishing the raw data with the article, the data must be shared through a digital repository. Authors have to use data citation practices that identify a dataset's author(s), title, date, version, and a persistent identifier, for example a Digital Object identifier (DOI).

The MIRD data sharing principle will be applied to all empirical studies, not only clinical trial report data:

1. As of 1 July 2020, manuscripts concerning clinical trials and other empirical studies that are submitted to *Journal of Health Psychology* must contain a data sharing statement as delineated in section 2.8 Research Data.

2. Any clinical trial that begins enrolling participants and is intended for later submission to *Journal of Health Psychology* must include a data sharing plan in the trial's registration.

It is *Journal of Health Psychology* policy that authors submit detailed information on empirical analysis alongside their written article. Authors should upload *at least* the first four files listed below when they submit their article.

- data set
- syntax file(s) from the software that has been used for the analysis;
- explanatory memo: explaining enclosed files/material and their content including help with regard to the analysis, which is important when non-standard techniques have been used; this may also apply to qualitative work; also some information on the software used for the analysis, including its version, is required;
- log file(s): output with results from the software that has been used for the analysis;
- Additional data analysis, including robustness analyses

Authors must provide a separate readme PDF listing all included files and documenting the purpose and format of each file provided, as well as instructing a user on how a replication can be conducted.

Making datasets publicly available is mandated by Journal of Health

*Psychology* policy. Authors should ensure that they are uploading to the *Journal of Health Psychology* SAGE Track submission site, all data to do with their article. Once the article is accepted and published, it will be automatically uploaded to the Figshare repository. The manuscript will not be moved through to Peer Review, or to Production until the editor is satisfied that all relevant data has been submitted alongside the manuscript. If cited data are restricted (e.g. classified, require confidentiality protections, were obtained under a nondisclosure agreement, or have inherent logistical constraints), authors must notify the editor at the time of submission. The editor shall have full discretion to follow the journal's policy on restricted data, including declining to review the manuscript of granting an exemption with or without conditions. The editor shall inform the author of this decision prior to review. In addition to sharing the raw data, *Journal of Health Psychology* requires authors to delineate clearly the analytic procedures upon which their published claims rely and, where possible, provide access to all relevant analytic materials.

# 3.4.1 Replication studies

*Journal of Health Psychology* encourages the submission of replication studies regardless of whether or not the findings are statistically significant. Normally replication studies fall within of one or more of the following types:

*Theoretical replication:* The submitted article argues that the original theoretical model is missing at least one key element. The missing element(s) are addressed and included in the empirical analysis;

*Technical replication*: The submitted article identifies faults in the original research design or analysis, thereby arguing that the original results might not hold; and/or *Concept replication*: The submitted article questions the validity of the original study. An alternative measurement or operationalisation is proposed which yields different substantive results.

3.4.2 Preregistration of Studies and Analysis Plans

Researchers conducting experimental studies are encouraged to consider preregistering their research design in advance with an established registry. *Journal of Health Psychology* will publish papers where authors indicate the conducted research was preregistered with an analysis plan in an independent, institutional registry (e.g., <u>http://clinicaltrials.gov/</u>) of studies involves registering the study design, variables, and treatment conditions. Including an analysis plan involves specification of sequence of analyses or the statistical model that will be reported. For preregistered studies, the following requirements apply:

- 1. Authors must, in acknowledgments or the first footnote, indicate that research was preregistered in an independent, institutional registry (with name and link to its location) with an analysis plan;
- 2. The author must:

1. confirm in the text that the study was registered prior to conducting the research with links to the time-stamped preregistration(s) at the institutional registry, and that the preregistration adheres to the disclosure requirements of the institutional registry or those required for the <u>preregistered badge with analysis</u> plans maintained by the Center for Open Science.

2. report all pre-registered analyses in the text, or, if there were changes in the analysis plan following preregistration, those changes must be disclosed with explanation for the changes clearly distinguish in text analyses that were preregistered from those that were not, such as having separate sections in the results for confirmatory and exploratory analyses (these changes are added as a separate document linked to the text of the main paper)

### Back to top

### 4. Preparing your manuscript for submission

Please ensure that your manuscript is suitable for publication and completely free of errors before you submit. Please pay particular attention to SAGE guidelines on <u>Authorship</u> and the <u>SAGE Correction Policy</u>.

### 4.1 Formatting

The preferred format for your manuscript is Word. LaTeX files are also accepted. Word and (La)Tex templates are available on the <u>Manuscript Submission Guidelines</u> page of our Author Gateway.

### 4.2 Language and terminology

Authors must follow the <u>Guidelines to Reduce Bias in Language of the Publication Manual of</u> <u>the American Psychological Association (6th ed)</u>. These guidelines relate to level of specificity, labels, participation, gender, sexual orientation, racial and ethnic identity, disabilities and age. Authors should also be sensitive to issues of social class, religion and culture.

The language used in your manuscript should be inclusive and language that might be deemed sexist or racist should not be used. All submissions should avoid the use of pejorative terms and insensitive or demeaning language and submissions that use unacceptable language will be returned by the editor.

Useful websites to refer to for guidance

We recommend that authors consider looking at the below guidance:

- APA guidelines on Bias Free Language
- Words Matter
- Authors are encouraged to refer to land use any language guidelines that relate specifically to their research

# 4.3 Artwork, figures and other graphics

For guidance on the preparation of illustrations, pictures and graphs in electronic format, please visit SAGE's *Manuscript Submission Guidelines* 

Figures supplied in colour will appear in colour online regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in colour in the printed version. For specifically requested colour reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from SAGE after receipt of your accepted article.

## 4.4 Supplemental material

This journal is able to host additional materials online (e.g. datasets, podcasts, videos, images etc) alongside the full-text of the article. For more information please refer to our <u>guidelines</u> on submitting supplementary files

## 4.5 Reference style

Journal of Health Psychology adheres to the SAGE Harvard reference style. View the <u>SAGE</u> <u>Harvard</u> guidelines to ensure your manuscript conforms to this reference style.

If you use *EndNote* to manage references, you can download the <u>SAGE Harvard EndNote</u> <u>output file</u>.

# 4.6 English language editing services

Authors seeking assistance with English language editing, translation, or figure and manuscript formatting to fit the journal's specifications should consider using SAGE Language Services. Visit <u>SAGE Language Services</u> on our Journal Author Gateway for further information.

## Back to top

# 5. Submitting your manuscript

*Journal of Health Psychology* is hosted on SAGE Track, a web based online submission and peer review system powered by ScholarOne<sup>TM</sup> Manuscripts.

Visit <u>http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/jhealthpsychology</u> to login and submit your article online.

IMPORTANT: Please check whether you already have an account in the system before trying to create a new one. If you have reviewed or authored for the journal in the past year it is likely that you will have had an account created. For further guidance on submitting your manuscript online please visit ScholarOne Online Help.

## 5.1 ORCID

As part of our commitment to ensuring an ethical, transparent and fair peer review process SAGE is a supporting member of <u>ORCID</u>, the Open Researcher and Contributor ID. ORCID provides a unique and persistent digital identifier that distinguishes researchers from every other researcher, even those who share the same name, and, through integration in key research workflows such as manuscript and grant submission, supports automated linkages between researchers and their professional activities, ensuring that their work is recognized. The collection of ORCID iDs from corresponding authors is now part of the submission process of this journal. If you already have an ORCID iD you will be asked to associate that

to your submission during the online submission process. We also strongly encourage all coauthors to link their ORCID ID to their accounts in our online peer review platforms. It takes seconds to do: click the link when prompted, sign into your ORCID account and our systems are automatically updated. Your ORCID iD will become part of your accepted publication's metadata, making your work attributable to you and only you. Your ORCID iD is published with your article so that fellow researchers reading your work can link to your ORCID profile and from there link to your other publications.

If you do not already have an ORCID iD please follow this <u>link</u> to create one or visit our <u>ORCID homepage</u> to learn more.

## 5.2 Information required for completing your submission

You will be asked to provide contact details and academic affiliations for all co-authors via the submission system and identify who is to be the corresponding author. These details must match what appears on your manuscript. The affiliation listed in the manuscript should be the institution where the research was conducted. If an author has moved to a new institution since completing the research, the new affiliation can be included in a manuscript note at the end of the paper. At this stage please ensure you have included all the required statements and declarations and uploaded any additional supplementary files (including reporting guidelines where relevant).

## **5.3 Permissions**

Please also ensure that you have obtained any necessary permission from copyright holders for reproducing any illustrations, tables, figures or lengthy quotations previously published elsewhere. For further information including guidance on fair dealing for criticism and review, please see the Copyright and Permissions page on the <u>SAGE Author Gateway</u> <u>Back to top</u>

## 6. On acceptance and publication

## 6.1 SAGE Production

Your SAGE Production Editor will keep you informed as to your article's progress throughout the production process. Proofs will be made available to the corresponding author via our editing portal SAGE Edit or by email, and corrections should be made directly or notified to us promptly. Authors are reminded to check their proofs carefully to confirm that all author information, including names, affiliations, sequence and contact details are correct, and that Funding and Conflict of Interest statements, if any, are accurate. Please note that if there are any changes to the author list at this stage all authors will be required to complete and sign a form authorising the change.

## 6.2 Online First publication

Online First allows final articles (completed and approved articles awaiting assignment to a future issue) to be published online prior to their inclusion in a journal issue, which significantly reduces the lead time between submission and publication. Visit the <u>SAGE</u> <u>Journals help page</u> for more details, including how to cite Online First articles.

## 6.3 Access to your published article

SAGE provides authors with online access to their final article.

## 6.4 Promoting your article

Publication is not the end of the process! You can help disseminate your paper and ensure it is as widely read and cited as possible. The SAGE Author Gateway has numerous resources

to help you promote your work. Visit the <u>Promote Your Article</u> page on the Gateway for tips and advice.

Back to top

## 7. Further information

Any correspondence, queries or additional requests for information on the manuscript submission process should be sent to the Journal of Health Psychology editorial office as follows:

David Marks PhD: <a href="mailto:editorjhp@gmail.com">editorjhp@gmail.com</a>

Running Head: IMPACT OF CRPS

**Section Two: Research Paper** 

The Impact of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Personal and Social Identity

Word Count: 7961

Jess Smith

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

Division of Health Research, Lancaster University

All correspondence should be sent to: Jess Smith c/o Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Health Innovation One Sir John Fisher Drive Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4AT United Kingdom j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk Prepared for: Psychology & Health 2-1

#### Abstract

**Objective:** This qualitative study explored the experiences of individuals living with complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), and its impact on their identity.

**Design:** The research design was informed by interpretative phenomenological analysis. Six participants completed online semi-structured interviews. These were transcribed verbatim, with individual and cross-case analysis conducted.

**Results:** Four key themes were identified: (1) It's taken time to feel like 'me' again; (2) CRPS alienates me from other people; (3) Having this condition is shameful; and (4) The importance of control to a sense of self.

**Conclusion:** Onset of CRPS symptoms leads to a sudden change in an individual's abilities and lifestyle, impacting on their work, hobbies, and relationships. These changes are at the cost of their sense of self, and adapting to the changes is a process which takes time. Participants found having CRPS shameful and felt that it alienated them from others. The findings offer understanding to health professionals, including psychologists, working with this group to adjust to their diagnosis.

Key words: Qualitative, Complex Regional Pain Syndrome, Identity, Pain, Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis

#### Introduction

Complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) is a neurological condition causing pain in a localised area (Goh, Chidambaram, & Ma, 2017). The incidence rate is estimated at 5.5-26.2/100,000 person-years (de Mos et al., 2007; Sandroni, Benrud-Larson, McClelland, & Low, 2003), with women being affected around 3-4 times more commonly than men (Castillo-Gusmán et al., 2015; de Mos et al., 2007). Onset of CRPS generally follows an injury – for example fracture or surgery – although the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) acknowledges that in around 9% of cases, no precipitating organic injury is identified (RCP, 2018). Generally symptoms remain confined to one limb, but in some cases they can 'spread' (van Rijn et al., 2011).

Symptoms of CRPS are variable and can include pain, swelling, skin discolouration, changes in sweating and/or skin temperature, changes in hair and/or nail growth, and motor dysfunction (Birklein, Ajit, Goebel, Perez, & Sommer, 2018). In a study of more than 1,000 patients with CRPS, pain was typically described as 'stabbing', 'burning', or 'dragging', and was exacerbated by touch, by physical effort, and at night-time (Ott & Maihöfner, 2018). Diagnosis is on the basis of clinical assessment, according to set criteria (Merskey & Bogduk, 1994); no conclusive diagnostic test is available. CRPS is divided into subtypes I and II, dependent upon the presence of major nerve damage, with Type I (without major nerve damage) being the more common (Harden et al., 2010).

CRPS is not a straightforward condition and has been subject to much controversy. The condition was first described in detail in 1864 (Mitchell, Morehouse, & Keen, 1982), with Mitchell later coining the term 'causalgia' meaning 'burning pain'; various other names have been used (Sebastin, 2011) before the current nomenclature was adopted. Borchers and Gershwin (2014) acknowledge that CRPS is, even now, "a syndrome steeped in confusion and often inaccuracy" (p. 243). Though it goes some way to reconciling the various names for the condition, the name 'CRPS' has itself been criticised as being vague and inaccurate (Schott, 2007). It is suggested that, given the variability between patients with CRPS – who can in theory have entirely different sets of symptoms, excepting the pain, yet receive the same diagnosis – the condition is perhaps not one homogenous disease, but rather something of a 'catch-all' diagnosis given to patients with, "a 'funny' pain in a 'funny-looking' limb" (p. 148, Schott, 2007).

There is currently no cure for CRPS, and research suggests that although symptoms often reduce with time, only around 5% of patients are symptom-free at twelve months post-onset (Bean, Johnson, Heiss-Dunlop, & Kydd, 2016). Treatment may include physiotherapy, medication, and/or psychological therapy, and should be tailored to individual presentation (Bharwani, Dirckx, & Huygen, 2017) – though the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) do not make any recommendations for management, citing insufficient evidence (O'Connell, Wand, McAuley, Marston, & Moseley, 2013). Psychological evaluation and support is important in managing the impact of CRPS upon psychological wellbeing, particularly mood; Lee et al. (2014) found that around 70% of patients with CRPS meet diagnostic criteria for depression and are at risk of suicidal ideation. Indeed, anecdotally, CRPS is often referred to as "the suicide disease" within the patient community (Binkley & Katznelson, 2020).

The need for research into CRPS from a lived experience perspective has been highlighted; for example, in their narrative review, Johnston, Oprescu, and Gray (2015) concluded that such research may enhance healthcare providers' understanding of CRPS and inform future treatment guidelines. A recent qualitative study by Beales et al. (2021) explored the lived experience of CRPS, identifying four key themes including the life-changing impact of CRPS; variable experiences of care; making sense of CRPS; and lessons learnt from living with CRPS. In terms of the 'life-changing impact of CRPS', Beales et al. briefly discussed the "isolating nature of CRPS and the loss of identity" and "the loss of the former healthy self and the pain-free self" (p. 11). This consideration of identity and self follows on from extensive research on the impact of long-term health conditions upon identity, though Beales et al. did not explore identity in depth. Long-term illness has been described as 'biographical disruption' (Bury, 1982) and, as summarised by Oris et al. (2018), individuals living with a long-term illness must integrate their condition into their identity to allow continued wellbeing.

Beales et al.'s (2021) observation regarding the loss of healthy and pain-free selves is consistent with the work of Charmaz (1983), who described the loss of former self-image in long-term illness, and the lack of opportunity to develop a valued new image – Charmaz suggested this occurs cumulatively, leading to ever-increasing impact on personal identity. In addition, reduced ability to work, pursue hobbies, and maintain relationships may also have an effect on individuals' identity (Charmaz, 1983). The role of identity has been highlighted in recovery in a variety of conditions including mental illnesses (Wisdom, Bruce, Saedi, Weis, & Green, 2008), diabetes (Luyckx et al., 2008), and chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) (Larun & Malterud, 2007). Identity is argued to be essential to living a meaningful, purposeful, and coherent life, contributing to psychological wellbeing (Thoits, 1986).

As Charmaz suggests, long-term illness may impact identity through disruption of relationships and valued activities; Wisdom et al. (2008) considered how internalisation of negative social responses to an illness or diagnosis may also alter the way people see themselves. For example, Adams, Pill, and Jones (1997) discussed the social stigma of an asthma diagnosis, and noted the lengths to which some of their participants went in avoiding confrontation with their diagnosis, including avoiding previously enjoyed activities. In other words, to avoid what they perceived to be a stigmatised social identity as an asthmatic, these participants avoided activities which were part of their valued identity, thereby compounding

IMPACT OF CRPS

the effect of their illness upon their identity. Humans have evolved to live in social groups, and thus, our identities as members of society are integral to our sense of self (Jetten et al., 2017), with the social groups and intimate relationships people belong to contributing to their identity (Stets & Burke, 2000). Recent research by Packham, Wainio, and Wong (2020) investigated the impact of CRPS on intimate relationships. Their participants described the renegotiation of social relationships, changes in their roles within relationships, and the impact of their condition on their self-perceived attractiveness to partners. This is of course an important aspect of identity, since one's identity is at least partially constructed, developed, and maintained in relationships with other people (Stryker & Burke, 2000).

In addition to this impact on relationships, Vlaeyen, Morley, and Crombez (2016) considered persistent pain (that is, pain lasting longer than three months, which is one of CRPS's major symptoms) generally, concluding that it interferes with daily activities and 'life tasks', leading to loss of roles and challenges to sense of self. Further, a review by Yu, Norton, Harrison, and McCracken (2015) on identity in people with persistent pain concluded that negative self-evaluation affects daily functioning, whereas a sense of self aside from pain is associated with better daily functioning. However, CRPS is relatively unique among pain conditions (Lee et al., 2014); in particular, unlike many persistent pain conditions, CRPS is associated with visible changes, as discussed above. Jacoby, Snape, and Baker (2005) discussed how visible difference can contribute to the impact of a condition upon identity, and yet it is unclear how this may be experienced by CRPS patients. Additionally, CRPS has been associated with neglect-like symptoms, as seen in stroke, for example with patients failing to attend to or care for their affected limb (Lewis, Kersten, McCabe, McPherson, & Blake, 2007); whilst stroke survivors have been found to experience a negative sense of self post-stroke (Ellis-Hill & Horn, 2000), it is again unclear whether or how this may be experienced by CRPS patients.

Furthermore, CRPS is the subject of some disbelief and controversy in the medical world, with some healthcare professionals believing that it is not a legitimate diagnosis, or disbelieving patients about the presence and/or intensity of their symptoms (Beales et al., 2021; Chang, McDonnell, & Gershwin, 2019; Schott, 2007). Beales et al. reported that this disbelief contributed to patients' feelings of isolation. This disbelief is common among pain conditions (Newton, Southall, Raphael, Ashford, & LeMarchand, 2013) and is certainly not unique to CRPS; for example Asbring (2001) discusses similar issues with regard to CFS and fibromyalgia, concluding that this has implications for patients' experiences. However, how this factor may interplay with the other differences discussed above is not clear.

The present study, therefore, aimed to explore participants' experiences of living with chronic CRPS, and how living with CRPS affects their identity. As argued by Johnston et al. (2015), an improved understanding of the experience and impact of chronic CRPS will be valuable to clinical psychologists and other health professionals supporting these patients. The research question was: "How does living with chronic CRPS impact upon personal and social identity?"

#### Method

### Design

Given the exploratory nature of the research, interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) was selected as an appropriate means of studying participants' experiences of living with CRPS, and the impact this has upon their identity. IPA is considered a relevant approach within health psychology, allowing researchers to gain greater understanding of individuals' experiences, beyond a purely biomedical approach (Brocki & Wearden, 2006). IPA allows for an exploration of lived experience, and individuals' reflections upon this experience, without reducing it to predefined categories (Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). IPA has its roots in phenomenology (the examination of human experience) and hermeneutics IMPACT OF CRPS

(the theory of interpretation); thus, IPA is concerned with experiences and how these are interpreted, both first-hand (by the participants) and second-hand (by the researcher/s). This is known as the *double hermeneutic* of IPA (Smith et al., 2009).

In addition, IPA is an idiographic approach, meaning there is a focus on the particular. This is in contrast with many psychological methods, which tend to focus more on the group or population level, aiming to establish general understandings of human behaviours. More specifically, the idiographic nature of IPA means that there is a focus on the details of the phenomena of interest, and that these are interpreted and understood from the perspective of being experienced by particular people, in particular contexts (Smith et al., 2009). The epistemology of IPA, and the one I adopted, is that people are able to reflect on and provide insights (through their accounts) to their thoughts, beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours. Drawing on elements of social constructionism, in which knowledge production is viewed as an inherently social activity, IPA acknowledges the role of the social context in which accounts. Thus, IPA is neither purely 'realist' nor social constructionist, but occupies a middle-ground, having an epistemology that can be best characterised as 'critical realism'.

### **Participants**

Individuals were eligible to participate if they (a) were aged eighteen years or older; (b) had had a diagnosis of CRPS for a minimum of twelve months (confirmed by self-report); (c) were able to take part in an online interview in English; and (d) were able to give informed consent to participate, i.e. did not suffer from significant cognitive impairment. Participants were recruited internationally online via a two-pronged approach. Firstly, a number of potential participants were identified from an internet search for online articles about living with CRPS. Those who gave an email address or contact form were approached

2-8

and invited to participate in an interview. A total of five individuals were contacted in this way, three of whom agreed to participate. Secondly, an additional three participants were recruited via advertisements on social media sites; an advert was shared by relevant charities on Facebook, as well as by the researcher on Twitter. Interested parties were requested to contact the researcher by email.

A total of six participants (five female) aged 20-37 (mean = 29.7 years) took part in the study. Four were from the US, one from Canada, and one from the UK. Three participants were employed (though often with reduced or flexible hours), two were unemployed, and one was a full-time student. Duration of symptoms ranged from 2-13 years (mean = 5.6 years). All participants identified as white with the exception of  $Amy^1$ , who identified as white/Hispanic. Demographic details are presented in Table 1 below.

<Insert Table 1 about here>

### Procedure

Potential participants expressed interest by contacting the researcher via email; they were then emailed the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form (see Ethics section). A minimum of 48 hours was allowed for the participant to read the information provided, and ask any questions, before a convenient time to complete an interview was agreed. Participants were asked to ensure they were somewhere comfortable, quiet, and private for the anticipated duration of the interview. At the beginning of each interview, the researcher checked that the participant had read the information sheet, and again gave opportunity for the participant to ask questions. Informed consent was given verbally with participants being asked to agree to each item on the consent form before giving overall consent to participate. At the end of their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Not her real name – all participants were assigned pseudonyms, which are used throughout this paper.

interview, participants were given opportunity to ask any additional questions of the researcher, following which they were sent the Participant Debrief (see Ethics section).

#### **Data Collection**

Semi-structured interviews ranging in length from 63 to 157 minutes (mean = 95 minutes) were conducted by the researcher. All interviews were completed via video conferencing (Skype and Microsoft Teams). The rationale for this was twofold; firstly, the timing of the research meant that social distancing due to COVID-19 was in force; and secondly, since the majority of the participants lived internationally, face-to-face interviews were not practicable. All interviews were video-recorded using in-program recording features particular to the software.

An interview guide was developed, informed by previous research relating to the impact of long-term health conditions on identity (Adams et al., 1997; Asbring, 2001; Larun & Malterud, 2007; Lempp, Scott, & Kingsley, 2006; Piot-Ziegler, Sassi, Raffoul, & Delaloye, 2010). Input was sought from healthcare professionals working with individuals with CRPS – one clinical psychologist and one physiotherapist. Two CRPS charities were also contacted to seek feedback on the interview guide from individuals living with CRPS; unfortunately neither charity responded. Care was taken to consider the unique aspects of CRPS including the visual changes often present and the controversy around nomenclature. Questions fell into three broad areas: *Background*, including demographic questions as well as questions about official diagnosis and journey to diagnosis (e.g. What is your official diagnosis and when did you receive this?); *Understanding of CRPS*, including questions about the individual's understanding of their condition, and the understanding of those around them including family and healthcare professionals (e.g. How would you explain CRPS to someone who hasn't heard of it before?); and *Impact of/response to CRPS*, including questions about how CRPS has affected the way they see themselves and the way others see them (e.g. Do you

think you have changed as a result of CRPS – if so, in what ways?) This was used to guide the conversation with each participant; cues were also taken from participants in terms of what was most important to them, and topics they wished to discuss (Smith, Flowers & Larkin, 2009). (See Ethics section for full interview guide)

#### **Data Analysis**

Analysis began with verbatim transcription of each interview – including noting pauses, non-verbal communications (e.g. laughter), and gestures (e.g. nodding). The process of transcription contributes to immersion in, and therefore familiarity with, the data (Smith et al., 2009). Each transcript was then considered in turn, according to the steps outlined by Smith et al. The first transcript was read and re-read (step one), which allowed the analyst to "enter the participant's world" (Smith et al., p. 82). This progressed into the initial notation phase (step two), during which the researcher began to identify specific ways in which the participant speaks about, thinks about, and understands the issue. The product of this phase of analysis was a deeper engagement with the participant's recounting of their experience, and a series of initial comments which began to draw out the participant's meaning-making and highlight the way language was used to convey this meaning.

Next came the development of emerging themes (step three), which began during the previous stage of analysis, as connections between notations began to form. In this stage, then, the aim was to reduce the volume of data whilst maintaining the complexity of the participant's narrative; here there lies an analytic shift, as the analyst began to work primarily with the notations rather than the transcript itself, though as Smith et al. state these notes should be closely tied to the original transcript. An example of the development of notations and emergent themes can be seen in Appendix 2-A. Next, these emergent themes were brought together, again through an iterative process which involved grouping and re-grouping of seemingly related emergent themes, until an overall understanding was arrived at (step four). The final outcome for the first transcript, then, was a number of themes which encapsulate the essence of the participant's experiences insofar as they relate to the research question.

These stages were repeated for each of the remaining transcripts (step five), starting afresh each time – that is, bracketing the themes identified in previous transcripts so as to allow new themes to emerge for each subsequent participant. Themes for each participant, along with a supporting quotation for each theme, can be seen in Table 2.

<Insert Table 2 about here>

Finally, once themes had been generated for all six transcripts, these were compared and contrasted (step six), with themes being used to support and further illuminate each other. At this stage the analysis became more interpretative, as inferences were made about how participants' experiences may link with each other, where similarities and differences may lie, and how elements from one case may aid understanding of another. The overall outcome, then, was a number of themes which relate to the data set as a whole, with varying levels of interpretation and induction. These themes offer one way of interpreting how participants' identities were impacted by living with CRPS. Table 3 shows contributions made by each participant to the final overall themes identified.

<Insert Table 3 about here>

### **Ethical Considerations**

The research project was reviewed by Lancaster University Faculty of Health and Medicine's Research Ethics Committee (REC) and ethical approval was granted. See Ethics section for the full ethics application.

To safeguard their anonymity, each participant has been assigned a pseudonym which is used throughout the reporting of this research project. Every effort has been made to ensure that all potentially identifying information has been removed from quotations used.

#### IMPACT OF CRPS

However, participants were made aware that there is a chance they may be recognised by people who know them, and those recruited from their online writing were additionally made aware that they may be recognised by people who have read their articles.

Completing interviews online, and with overseas participants, presented the question of how to manage any distress which arose during interviews. Following advice from the REC, a plan was made with each participant prior to commencing their interview with regards to how to manage any distress – for example, establishing whether there was someone at home with the participant, or someone they would like the researcher to contact, should they become upset. In the event, this situation did not arise, with no distress beyond what could be managed within the interview.

### **Quality of the Data**

The principles of Yardley (2000) were followed to improve quality and validity of the research. Yardley highlights the importance of sensitivity to context; commitment and rigour; transparency and coherence; and impact and importance. Emergent themes and overall themes were reviewed by the research supervisors to improve validity, with themes being amended based on feedback from supervisors.

In keeping with the 'transparency and coherence' element of Yardley's (2000) guidelines, a reflexive stance was taken throughout, recognising the fact that all analysis and interpretations will be impacted by the researcher's own beliefs and biases (Smith et al., 2009). As someone who has never personally experienced persistent pain, nor any of the neurological symptoms associated with CRPS, the researcher had limited insight into the realities of life with such a condition. Their perceptions and preconceptions were, inevitably, shaped by societal beliefs and biases relating to individuals with persistent pain. In addition, having previously worked in a physical health psychology service which supported individuals with persistent pain, the researcher did approach the interviews with some prior

understanding of the potential impacts of living with persistent pain and related symptoms. There was a risk, then, that these preconceptions could contribute to the researcher unintentionally influencing participants, for example through leading questions. Therefore, efforts were made to ask open questions, and a reflective diary was used to aid 'bracketing' of any assumptions. For example, notes were made throughout the research process, considering the researcher's decisions, reactions, and responses to various stages of the project. Thus, biases and expectations became conscious and explicit rather than implicit, which meant their impact upon analysis could be managed. Further consideration is given to this matter in the Critical Appraisal.

#### Findings

This process of analysis yielded four themes: (1) It's taken time to feel like 'me' again; (2) CRPS alienates me from other people; (3) Having this condition is shameful; and (4) The importance of control to a sense of self. These themes are discussed in greater detail below.

### Theme 1: It's taken time to feel like 'me' again

All six participants discussed a process of change in their sense of self, whereby CRPS stopped them feeling like themselves; over time, this seemed to gradually resolve, as participants developed ways of incorporating parts of their 'old self' into their new situation. Participants were even able to identify 'benefits' to having CRPS, including learning about themselves and identifying their strengths.

The onset of symptoms of CRPS was often associated with a sudden change in activities, including work and hobbies, which for some participants were key parts of their identity – this seemed especially true for Rachel, who did gymnastics as a hobby as well as working in the field. She described this as "my identity" and "my life"; the loss of both her work and hobby, then, required a huge adjustment for Rachel and caused significant distress:

"I couldn't watch gymnastics on TV for quite a while". Rachel spoke about the difficulties inherent in dating, and uncertainty about what to tell potential partners about herself: "You tell someone, 'Oh, I used to be athletic, I used to be this and that' and then you're like, 'But now I don't really do much..." Rachel's dilemma here reflects the extent to which she felt the loss of her identity associated with her work and hobby – to the point where she did not know what else to tell people about herself.

David, too, appeared to experience a sudden shift in his sense of self upon having to give up work; he described how, "Work was my life", and that earning a good salary and being successful were important to him. Understandably, then, David struggled to adjust from being independent to his fiancée having to care for him whilst also singlehandedly earning enough money for the two of them since David was no longer able to work. This shift may have been particularly difficult for David to reconcile, given society's expectations of men being the main breadwinners.

In addition to the impact on their activities, participants noted changes in their mindsets – for instance, becoming more pessimistic; in relation to this, David spoke about how at one point he had been unable to recognise himself: "I couldn't find any shred of myself at that time... I... thought that I had lost who I was."

However, with time, participants felt they arrived at a place of feeling more like themselves again, often by incorporating 'old' parts of themselves or finding ways to adapt to their new circumstances – for instance, Beth spoke about factors she had to take into consideration to spend time with her friends: "If I go on nights out and stuff, I have to know I'm going with people that I can literally drag off the dance floor, to go and sit down". Her acceptance that socialising looked different than it may have pre-CRPS meant that she was still able to enjoy spending time with her friends, thus retaining an important part of her identity as a student. Louisa, meanwhile, spoke about the process of coming to terms with her new self – "I'm just learning now how to love myself again" – which she attributed to a mindfulness course she was completing. Louisa was able to identify parts of her 'old' self which were still present, such as previous voluntary work being mirrored in current fundraising for CRPS charities.

Participants felt that having CRPS had taught them about themselves, and also that they were more compassionate towards other people as a result, as described by Amy: "Now I'm more aware of it [invisible illness or disability], and I understand the pain that other people can be going through". Participants described feeling that they were better people, due to the struggles they had been through, and several participants described being grateful to CRPS for this, going so far as calling it a "blessing in disguise" (Louisa, Amy, and Jen). It was important to several participants to use their experiences to help others, which took various forms; some wrote online about their experiences, whilst fundraising and awarenessraising were also mentioned. Rachel described feeling "humbled" that she was able to help other people in similar situations to hers; helping others appeared to allow participants to feel more like their old selves, particularly for those who had spent time volunteering or otherwise helping others prior to their diagnosis.

### Theme 2: CRPS alienates me from other people

Alongside challenges to their sense of self, participants felt alienated by their condition, feeling they were markedly different from others, and that other people – both medical professionals as well as friends, family, and strangers – were unable to understand. There was a sense of the stigma of being seen as 'crazy' or having their symptoms attributed to mental health difficulties rather than a 'real' physical condition. In addition, participants were further alienated by their reduced ability to 'join in', which meant that their social circles were diminished. Amy, Jen, and Beth spoke about the process of obtaining a diagnosis leaving them feeling that they were 'crazy' or somehow imagining the pain, compounded by people (both health professionals and family members) who assumed they were faking their symptoms. As Beth explained, "You start going through in your head, like- are you crazy? Because... you can feel this pain, but everyone's telling you there's no reason". It was a relief, then, to finally be given a diagnosis – even when the diagnosis given did not offer much in the way of hope, additional information, or reliable treatment plan. Regardless, the initial response from these participants was one of relief to have a physical, rather than mental or emotional, explanation for their symptoms, as Jen described: "I felt relief and validation – like, I'm not crazy!" The use of the word 'crazy' in this way speaks to the stigma which still surrounds mental health conditions, and the way in which society takes physical health conditions more seriously and sees them as more legitimate than mental health diagnoses.

Meanwhile, Louisa felt that her responses to the diagnosis and efforts to access treatment led others to think she was 'crazy' unless she carefully monitored and managed her responses. She described becoming upset in her doctor's office at the difficulty she was facing in finding an effective way of managing her symptoms; in response, she was told that crying makes her 'look bad' and 'look crazy'. Louisa stated that she had, "learnt not to cry in [doctors'] offices when possible", reflecting that she felt the need to closely control her emotional responses in order to be taken seriously. Again, this reflects the stigma in society towards mental health difficulties, and the notion that anyone becoming emotional must be 'crazy'.

In addition to these feelings, and accusations, of being 'crazy', a lack of understanding from family and friends led to participants feeling isolated or less able to socialise. Losing friends following diagnosis was a common experience, in part due to physical restrictions including fatigue meaning that they were no longer being able to join in with the same activities or socialise in the same ways. Rachel described how her social circle "dwindled", which she found hard as she is a very sociable person. Beth felt that her friends thought she didn't try hard enough to join in with them, resulting in her feeling left out of group activities she would previously have been invited to: "I think they perceive me as someone that doesn't come out and doesn't do things with them and doesn't try hard enough." In contrast, Jen felt that not being invited to activities she couldn't participate in was a sign of respect, and did not take this personally: "If I don't get invited to something, I know it's because they're thinking about my disease. Like when I see my friends go kayaking, they know I'm not gonna do it. So they don't even try to invite me, and I'm totally cool with it." Jen felt able to invite her friends to things that she *could* do and appeared happy with this dynamic within her relationships.

#### Theme 3: Having this condition is shameful

In addition to participants' feelings of alienation from others, it seemed that there was something shameful about CRPS, with some participants expressing their dislike of the condition, their affected limb(s), and by extension themselves – this theme seemed most salient for Louisa, David, Jen, and Beth. This shame is perhaps linked with the issue discussed in theme two above, whereby participants felt they were 'crazy' when awaiting a diagnosis; although physical health conditions are more widely understood and taken more seriously than mental health conditions, there is still a certain amount of stigma surrounding disabilities, particularly invisible disabilities. This is illustrated in the way Beth felt she had to "come clean" about her diagnosis to people, like it was some kind of dirty secret; she stated, "I can't really hide it from people and just be like, 'Oh, I'm normal!'" – thereby suggesting that she was somehow abnormal. The contribution made by society's view of disability was overtly recognised by Beth when she spoke about internalised stigma she experienced in relation to issues such as using mobility aids or other accommodations: "It came back to that

stigmatisation, internally, that was like, 'Oh, am I disabled enough to need all these adaptions?'" This reluctance to see herself as 'disabled enough' to need such aids as crutches or a disabled parking permit suggests Beth experienced shame about her condition and the accommodations she required. Similarly, Jen spoke about the shame of having to ask for help, and the feelings of humiliation this provoked in her: "It's humiliating, but you gotta [ask for help] when you need to. I want to say there's no shame in it, but you do feel shame". Again, there is a suggestion here of internalised stigma which tells disabled people that it is shameful to need help.

Several participants stated that they 'hated' or 'strongly disliked' their affected limbs, suggesting shame about changed abilities and/or appearance; David expressed that he would call his affected limb names and say things like, "just chop it off". He stated that CRPS made it easier for him to hate himself, whilst Louisa acknowledged that her "strong dislike" of her affected limbs probably connected with why she strongly dislikes herself at times, too. These emotions did appear linked with changes in appearance or visible difference, for example Louisa mentioned that she thought her affected limbs were "funnylooking" whilst Jen discussed feeling uncomfortable wearing certain clothes that meant the changes were visible – "I'm still a little embarrassed, like with the atrophy". Further, Jen described being horrified by what she saw in the mirror, sharing, "I thought I was the scary monster people tell their kids about". This statement powerfully captures the shame that participants seemed to feel about the physical representations of their CRPS. There is a juxtaposition here between participants seeming to wish their condition was visible so it would be taken more seriously (and indeed, being relieved to be given a diagnosis of a physical condition), and yet feeling abject shame and horror at the ways in which their condition was visible to others.

### Theme 4: The importance of control to a sense of self

Besides the shame they felt, a sense of control felt important to several of the participants. Having CRPS caused some participants, understandably, to feel they had lost control of their bodies and their lives, prompting them to fight to regain some control, whilst in other cases CRPS had actually provided a means of taking back some control. This theme appeared salient for Louisa, Amy, Jen, and Rachel.

Participants spoke about ways in which they fought to maintain a sense of control, for example by planning for the future or working hard to maintain a positive outlook. Jen described herself as a "control freak" and discussed how planning for the future had helped her to feel in control. For Jen, feeling like a burden or asking for help was unacceptable; at times when she did have to ask for help, this was experienced as humiliating. It seemed that asking for help was an explicit admission of not being in control, hence Jen finding it so intolerable; there are clear links here with the shame discussed in theme 3. Similarly, Louisa tried hard to maintain a positive outlook; there was a sense here of Louisa fostering an optimistic persona and almost forcing herself to focus on the positives or, in her own words, "Fake it [happiness] 'til you make it". This, too, seemed to be about control –Louisa seemed to feel if she could control her outlook and the personality she presented, she would feel more in control of her overall situation.

Amy, meanwhile, felt that her diagnosis with CRPS had allowed her to make changes in her life and take back control: "I think CRPS, as horrible as it was, it woke me up. It was like, hey, you are in control, you can change the course of your life!" For example, Amy spoke about previously doing a job she didn't enjoy and not having time for her passions. She believed CRPS had acted as a wake-up call, prompting her to quit her job and become self-employed in a role that aligned more closely with her values; in essence, she felt more authentically herself now than she was prior to her diagnosis: "I wasn't really in alignment with what my passions were. I went to school for something creative, and yet I was working in this boring office job!" In contrast, Rachel described feeling quite out-of-control in her life, which was not turning out how she had expected; she compared herself to her younger brother, and to her own expectations of herself, and felt things were very different for her than she had hoped: "I thought I would be married by now, have kids- or if I wasn't, I would be on my own, more independent, have my own place.". This being 'out of control', and not where she expected to be, seemed to contribute to a sense of Rachel not quite being sure who she was anymore.

#### Discussion

This project aimed to understand the ways in which CRPS impacts upon individuals' identity. In particular, the key themes highlighted by participants related to a process of change in their sense of self, which has taken time; a feeling of alienation from others; the shame associated with their condition; and the importance of control in their sense of self.

In the first theme, participants discussed the loss of their sense of self, and the process of re-incorporating elements of their 'old' self into their new circumstances, whereby they came to feel like themselves again. Charmaz (1995) discussed the process of adaptation, arguing this was one way in which individuals sought to live with a long-term health condition resulting in impairment or loss of bodily function. Charmaz defined 'adaptation' as the process by which people adjust their life and sense of self to accommodate their limitations, thereby reunifying their body and self; this does seem to reflect the processes described in the first theme, and this research thereby provides examples of the ways in which adaptation may occur. For example, Louisa mentioned fundraising for CRPS charities where in the past she may have done voluntary work; in adapting her activities to her new circumstances in this way, Louisa was able to retain an important aspect of her sense of self.

In a similar vein, the work of Bury (1982) considered long-term illness as 'biographical disruption', insofar as "the structures of everyday life and the forms of IMPACT OF CRPS

knowledge which underpin them are disrupted" (p. 169). This kind of disruption was evident for the participants in the present study, who described interruptions to their work, hobbies, and relationships. However, Bury's work was completed with individuals with rheumatoid arthritis, hence his description of the onset of chronic illness being insidious rather than sudden; this is in direct opposition to the experience of participants in the present study, many of whom described a sudden onset of symptoms (with the exception of David and Beth, whose CRPS both developed following a pre-existing condition and was therefore perceived as less sudden). It is interesting to note, then, that the experience of biographical disruption described by Bury appears to be consistent with the experiences of participants involved in the present study, despite very different onsets of the conditions studied. This is perhaps a logical outcome, given that a sudden onset would seem to incur more biographical disruption than a more gradual change. This re-negotiation of participants' identities echoes findings of Packham et al. (2020), whose participants referenced CRPS leading them to have to renegotiate their social relationships; re-negotiation in one form or another is perhaps a common element of the experience of living with CRPS.

In addition to this process of redeveloping their sense of self, participants spoke about shame related to their condition. They discussed ways in which they disliked themselves and their affected limb(s), as well as shaming themselves for needing help or becoming more dependent upon others. There appeared to be shame and internalised stigma associated with having what was largely an invisible condition, with participants questioning at times whether they were 'crazy'. The theory of stigma proposed by Goffman (2009) described stigma as 'spoiled identity' – with an individual becoming stigmatised when something marks them out as different from the norm. This is certainly the case for such rare conditions as CRPS, and indeed any disability or long-term health condition is stigmatising to a degree (Susman, 1994). It is perhaps not surprising, then, that shame and stigma were identified as a theme in this study; this research provides insight into the particular elements of living with CRPS which are perceived to be shameful, including changes in appearance and loss of independence.

Invisible disabilities are associated with a stigma of their own, whereby the fact that people's condition cannot be seen means that the symptoms they describe can be ignored; appropriate, necessary accommodations and exemptions from obligations may also be ignored (Charmaz, 2019). Individuals with invisible long-term conditions or disabilities may therefore be reluctant to disclose their diagnosis, through fear of being ignored or discredited (Charmaz, 2019). This was reflected by participants in the present study; for example, Beth was reluctant to apply for a disabled parking permit as she was not a full-time wheelchair user. In an interesting juxtaposition here, alongside this internalised stigma relating to living with a largely invisible condition, participants in the present study were simultaneously distressed about and ashamed of the visible symptoms of their condition, including swelling, skin discolouration, and atrophy. Kent and Thompson (2014) discuss the development and maintenance of shame in visible difference, which they argue can be linked with perceived confirmation of existing negative beliefs about the self. This would certainly seem to fit for David, who reported that the CRPS made it easier for him to find things about himself to dislike.

In addition to the shame they felt about their condition, participants spoke about CRPS alienating them from others, due in part to the physical limitations brought about by their condition. There may be a parallel here whereby participants also feel alienated from their own bodies, as described by Svenaeus (2015); this would certainly fit with the feelings of shame and stigma discussed above. This feeling of alienation is consistent with the social model of disability, which suggests that disability arises at least partly through barriers in society which preclude participation of differently-abled individuals (Oliver, 2013). Thus,

2-23

participants' symptoms may not necessarily have been so disabling (and by extension, alienating) if society were more accessible. These barriers also act at a psycho-emotional level, serving to remind disabled people that they are different (Reeve, 2014), and perhaps thereby reinforcing internalised stigma. The implications of understanding disability in this way include the need for change at a systemic level in order to make society accessible to all, and to do so in a way which does not further contribute to psycho-emotional disablism (Reeve, 2004).

As well as this alienation, the final theme considered the importance of control in participants' sense of self. Stets and Serpe (2013) discuss the way in which individuals seek control over their identities, contrasting obligatory identities (e.g. parent, partner, employee) with voluntary identities (e.g. friend, athlete, choir member). As Stets and Serpe highlight, voluntary identities are often selected because an individual benefits from them in some way. There is an element of control insofar as an individual can choose their voluntary identities, whereas obligatory identities may be more socially determined. Furthermore, having more voluntary identities appears to be associated with higher self-esteem, mastery, and lower distress than does having more obligatory identities (Thoits, 2003). And yet, it is voluntary identities which seemed to be most impacted in participants' experiences of CRPS – for example, Rachel discussed no longer being able to participate in gymnastics, which had previously been a central part of her identity. This loss of control over their voluntary identities can be understood to contribute to participants' distress.

### **Clinical Implications**

Findings of the present study, alongside previous research on identity (Larun & Malterud, 2007; Luyckx et al., 2008; Wisdom et al., 2008), suggest this is an important area for health professionals to consider when working with people with CRPS.

In particular, participants spoke about the importance of incorporating elements of their 'old' selves into their new situation; this was a process which could perhaps be facilitated and supported through therapeutic intervention. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), with its focus on 'valued direction' (Wilson, Sandoz, Kitchens, & Roberts, 2010), may be a relevant framework, particularly for individuals whose distress relates to a sense of loss of self or loss of valued activities. A core component of ACT is identification of values and commitment to acting in line with these values; thus, intervention using an ACT framework could aid individuals in recognising their values and developing ways to live in line with these, despite limitations due to CRPS. Indeed, in a systematic review of randomised controlled trials with adults with persistent pain, ACT has been found to be efficacious in enhancing functioning and reducing distress (Hann & McCracken, 2014).

Alternatively, particularly for individuals whose distress relates to the perceived shame of their condition, there may also be benefits to a Compassion Focused Therapy (CFT) -informed approach. As Leaviss and Uttley (2015) discussed in their systematic review, CFT is a promising therapeutic model with individuals whose distress relates to shame and selfcriticism. CFT supports individuals to take a more compassionate stance towards themselves, which seems particularly relevant for participants who dislike themselves or make selfdeprecating remarks. As Kılıç et al. (in-press) concluded in their systematic review, therapies focused on self-compassion led to improved outcomes for individuals with long-term physical health conditions; improvements were noted in anxiety, depression, stress, and sleep problems.

#### **Limitations and Future Research**

As with all research, the present study was subject to several limitations, which highlight potential areas for future focus, or improvements which could be made in future research. Firstly, online recruitment meant that participants' diagnoses could not be verified. It is possible that one or more participants may not have met formal diagnostic criteria for CRPS; future research could reduce this risk by recruiting through formal medical channels, which would allow verification of diagnosis. This was not possible for the present study due to COVID-19 restrictions.

Another limitation of the present study relates to the relatively homogenous sample involved, as required for IPA; for example, all participants were between the ages of 20 and 37. The present study does not, therefore, offer any insight into experiences of older people with CRPS. Given changes in identity which can occur with age anyway (for example as discussed by Weiss and Lang (2012)), a potential area of interest for future research may be in exploring the impact of CRPS on identity in older individuals, particularly since highest incidence rates of CRPS have been reported in women aged 61-70 (de Mos et al., 2007). Experiences of this group may prove different, and additional clinical implications would need to be considered when working with older individuals with CRPS. Furthermore, the participants in this sample were overwhelmingly white, with only one participant identifying otherwise, and all were from Western countries. Again, future research involving non-White and/or non-Western participants may be beneficial, particularly given cultural differences in how pain is understood – for example, as Orhan et al. (2018) identified in their systematic review, there is some evidence of cross-cultural differences in coping strategies, illness perceptions, and self-efficacy with chronic musculoskeletal pain.

### Conclusion

This study used IPA to explore six participants' experiences of living with CRPS, in particular the impact this has on their identity. Participants spoke about the time taken to feel like 'themselves' again; a sense of alienation from others; shame and stigma related to living with CPRS; and the importance of control in their sense of self. These findings have implications for support offered by healthcare professionals to people living with CRPS. Future research to broaden the scope of the present study, for example to older adults and those from differing cultural backgrounds, would be beneficial.

### References

- Adams, S., Pill, R., & Jones, A. (1997). Medication, chronic illness and identity: The perspective of people with asthma. *Social Science & Medicine*, *45*, 189-201. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(96)00333-4
- Asbring, P. (2001). Chronic illness a disruption in life: Identity-transformation among women with chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *24*, 312-319. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2001.01767.x
- Beales, D., Carolan, D., Chang-Choong, J., Hammond, S., O'Brien, E., Boyle, E., . . . Slater, H. (2021). Exploring people's lived experience of complex regional pain syndrome in Australia: A qualitative study. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain, published online ahead* of print. doi:10.1515/sjpain-2020-0142
- Bean, D. J., Johnson, M. H., Heiss-Dunlop, W., & Kydd, R. R. (2016). Extent of recovery in the first 12 months of complex regional pain syndrome type-1: A prospective study. *European Journal of Pain*, 20, 884-894. doi:10.1002/ejp.813
- Bharwani, K. D., Dirckx, M., & Huygen, F. J. P. M. (2017). Complex regional pain syndrome: Diagnosis and treatment. *BJA Education*, 17, 262-268. doi:10.1093/bjaed/mkx007
- Binkley, K., & Katznelson, R. (2020). Successful treatment of long standing complex regional pain syndrome with hyperbaric oxygen therapy. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, *15*, 1-6. doi:10.1007/s11481-019-09901-x
- Birklein, F., Ajit, S. K., Goebel, A., Perez, R. S. G. M., & Sommer, C. (2018). Complex regional pain syndrome - Phenotypic characteristics and potential biomarkers. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 14, 272-284. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2018.20
- Borchers, A. T., & Gershwin, M. E. (2014). Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: A comprehensive and critical review. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, *13*, 242-265. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.10.006
- Brocki, J., & Wearden, A. (2006). A critical evaluation of the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in health psychology. *Psychology & Health*, 21, 87-108. doi:10.1080/14768320500230185
- Bury, M. (1982). Chronic illness as biographical disruption. *Sociology of Health and Illness,* 4, 167-182. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.ep11339939
- Castillo-Gusmán, S., Nava-Obregón, T. A., Palacios-Ríos, D., Estrada-Cortinas, J. Á., González-García, M. C., Mendez-Guerra, J. F., & González-Santiago, O. (2015). Complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), a review. *Medicina Universitaria*, 17, 114-121. doi:10.1016/j.rmu.2015.03.003
- Chang, C., McDonnell, P., & Gershwin, M. E. (2019). Complex regional pain syndrome -False hopes and miscommunications. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 18, 270-278. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2018.10.003
- Charmaz, K. (1983). Loss of self: A fundamental form of suffering in the chronically ill. Sociology of Health & Illness, 5, 168-195.
- Charmaz, K. (1995). The body, identity, and self: Adapting to impairment. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *36*, 657-680.
- Charmaz, K. (2019). Experiencing stigma and exclusion: The influence of neoliberal perspectives, practices, and policies on living with chronic illness and disability. *Symbolic Interaction, 43*, 21-45. doi: 10.1002/SYMB.432
- de Mos, M., de Bruijn, A. G. J., Huygen, F. J. P. M., Dieleman, J. P., Stricker, B. C. C., & Sturkenboom, M. C. J. M. (2007). The incidence of complex regional pain syndrome: A population-based study. *Pain*, *129*, 12-20. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2006.09.008

- Ellis-Hill, C. S., & Horn, S. (2000). Change in identity and self-concept: A new theoretical approach to recovery following a stroke. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *14*, 279-287.
- Goffman, E. (2009). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. London, UK: Simon & Schuster.
- Goh, E. L., Chidambaram, S., & Ma, D. (2017). Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: A recent update. *Burns & Trauma*, 5. doi:10.1186/s41038-016-0066-4
- Hann, K. E. J., & McCracken, L. M. (2014). A systematic review of randomized controlled trials of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for adults with chronic pain: Outcome domains, design quality, and efficacy. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 3, 217-227. doi:10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.10.001
- Harden, R. N., Bruehl, S., Perez, R. S. G. M., Birklein, F., Marinus, J., Maihofner, C., . . . Vatine, J.-J. (2010). Validation of proposed diagnostic criteria (the "Budapest criteria") for Complex Regional Pain Syndrome. *Pain*, 150, 268-274. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2010.04.030
- Jacoby, A., Snape, D., & Baker, G. A. (2005). Epilepsy and social identity: The stigma of a chronic neurological disorder. *The Lancet Neurology*, *4*, 171-178.
- Jetten, J., Haslam, S. A., Cruwys, T., Greenaway, K. H., Haslam, C., & Steffens, N. K. (2017). Advancing the social identity approach to health and well-being: Progressing the social cure research agenda. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 47, 789-802. doi:10.1002/ejsp.2333
- Johnston, C. M., Oprescu, F. I., & Gray, M. (2015). Building the evidence for CRPS research from a lived experience perspective. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, 9, 30-37. doi:10.1016/j.sjpain.2015.06.003
- Kent, G., & Thompson, A. R. (2014). The development and maintenance of shame in disfigurement: Implications for treatment. In P. Gilbert & J. Miles (Eds.), *Body Shame: Conceptualisation, Research and Treatment*: Routledge.
- Kılıç, A., Hudson, J., McCracken, L. M., Ruparelia, R., Fawson, S., & Hughes, L. D. (in press). A systematic review of the effectiveness of self-compassion-related interventions for individuals with chronic physical health conditions. *Behavior Therapy*. doi:10.1016/j.beth.2020.08.001
- Larun, L., & Malterud, K. (2007). Identity and coping experiences in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: A synthesis of qualitative studies. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 69, 20-28. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2007.06.008
- Leaviss, J., & Uttley, L. (2015). Psychotherapeutic benefits of compassion-focused therapy: An early systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 45, 927-945. doi:10.1017/S0033291714002141
- Lee, D.-H., Noh, E. C., Kim, Y. C., Hwang, J. Y., Kim, S. N., Jang, J. H., ... Kang, D.-H. (2014). Risk factors for suicidal ideation among patients with Complex Regional Pain Syndrome. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 11, 32-38. doi:10.4306/pi.2014.11.1.32
- Lempp, H., Scott, D., & Kingsley, G. (2006). The personal impact of rheumatoid arthritis on patients' identity: A qualitative study. *Chronic Illness*, 2, 109-120. doi:10.1179/174592006X110987
- Lewis, J. L., Kersten, P., McCabe, C. S., McPherson, K. M., & Blake, D. R. (2007). Body perception disturbance: A contribution to pain in complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS). *Pain*, 133, 111-119. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.013
- Luyckx, K., Seiffge-Krenke, I., Schwartz, S. J., Goossens, L., Weets, I., Hendrieckx, C., & Groven, C. (2008). Identity development, coping, and adjustment in emerging adults with a chronic illness: The sample case of Type 1 Diabetes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 43, 451-458. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.04.005
- Merskey, H., & Bogduk, N. (1994). *Classification of Chronic Pain: Descriptions of chronic pain syndromes and definitions of pain terms*. Seattle, WA: IASP Press.
- Mitchell, S. W., Morehouse, G. R., & Keen, W. W. (1982). Gunshot wounds and other injuries of nerves, 1864. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 163, 2-7. doi:10.1097/blo.0b013e31803df02c
- Newton, B. J., Southall, J. L., Raphael, J. H., Ashford, R. L., & LeMarchand, K. (2013). A narrative review of the impact of disbelief in chronic pain. *Pain Management Nursing*, *14*, 161-171. doi:10.1016/j.pmn.2010.09.001
- O'Connell, N. E., Wand, B. M., McAuley, J. H., Marston, L., & Moseley, G. L. (2013). Interventions for treating pain and disability in adults with complex regional pain syndrome - An overview of systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(4). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009416.pub2
- Oliver, M. (2013). The social model of disability: Thirty years on. *Disability & Society, 28*, 1024-1026. doi:10.1080/09687599.2013.818773
- Orhan, C., Van Looveren, E., Cagnie, B., Mukhtar, N. B., Lenoir, D., & Meeus, M. (2018). Are pain beliefs, cognitions, and behaviors influenced by race, ethnicity, and culture in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain: A systematic review. *Pain Physician*, 21, 541-558.
- Oris, L., Luyckx, K., Rassart, J., Goubert, L., Goossens, E., Apers, S., . . . Moons, P. (2018). Illness identity in adults with a chronic illness. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 25, 429-440. doi:10.1007/s10880-018-9552-0
- Ott, S., & Maihöfner, C. (2018). Signs and symptoms in 1,043 patients with complex regional pain syndrome. *Journal of Pain, 19*, 599-611. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.01.004
- Packham, T. L., Wainio, K., & Wong, M.-K. (2020). Persons with complex regional pain syndrome renegotiate social roles and intimacy: A qualitative study. *Pain Medicine*, 21, 239-246. doi:10.1093/pm/pnz173
- Piot-Ziegler, C., Sassi, M.-L., Raffoul, W., & Delaloye, J.-F. (2010). Mastectomy, body deconstruction, and impact on identity: A qualitative study. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 15, 479-510. doi:10.1348/135910709X472174
- RCP. (2018). *Complex regional pain syndrome in adults* (2nd ed.). London, UK: Royal College of Physicians.
- Reeve, D. (2004). Psycho-emotional dimensions of disability and the social model. In C.Barnes & G. Mercer (Eds.), *Implementing the Social Model of Disability: Theory and Research* (pp. 83-100). Leeds, UK: The Disability Press.
- Reeve, D. (2014). Psycho-emotional disablism and internalised oppression. In J. Swain, S. French, C. Barnes, & C. Thomas (Eds.), *Disabling Barriers Enabling Environments* (3rd ed., pp. 92-98). London UK: Sage.
- Sandroni, P., Benrud-Larson, L. M., McClelland, R. L., & Low, P. A. (2003). Complex Regional Pain Syndrome Type I: Incidence and prevalence in Olmsted County, a population-based study. *Pain*, 103, 199-207.
- Schott, G. D. (2007). Complex? Regional? Pain? Syndrome? *Practical Neurology*, 7, 145-157. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.120063
- Sebastin, S. J. (2011). Complex regional pain syndrome. *Indian Journal of Plastic Surgery*, 44, 298-307. doi:10.4103/0970-0358.85351
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research*. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Stets, J. E., & Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity theory and social identity theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63, 224-237.
- Stets, J. E., & Serpe, R. T. (2013). Identity theory. In J. DeLamater & A. Ward (Eds.), *Handbook of Social Psychology*. Dordrecht: Springer.

- Stryker, S., & Burke, P. J. (2000). The past, present, and future of an identity theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *63*, 284-297. doi:10.2307/2695840
- Susman, J. (1994). Disability, stigma and deviance. Social Science & Medicine, 38, 15-22.
- Svenaeus, F. (2015). The phenomenology of chronic pain: Embodiment and alienation. *Continental Philosophy Review*, 48, 107-122. doi:10.1007/s11007-015-9325-5
- Thoits, P. A. (1986). Multiple identities: Examing gender and marital status differences in distress. *American Sociological Review*, *51*, 259-272. doi:10.2307/2095520
- Thoits, P. A. (2003). Personal agency in the accumulation of multiple role-identities. In P. J. Burke, T. J. Owens, R. T. Serpe, & P. A. Thoits (Eds.), *Advances in identity theory and research* (pp. 179-194). New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum.
- van Rijn, M. A., Marinus, J., Putter, H., Bosselaar, S. R. J., Moseley, G. L., & van Hilten, J. J. (2011). Spreading of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: Not a random process. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 118, 1301-1309. doi:10.1007/s00702-011-0601-1
- Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Morley, S., & Crombez, G. (2016). The experimental analysis of the interruptive, interfering, and identity-distorting effects of chronic pain. *Behaviour Research & Therapy*, 86, 23-34. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2016.08.016
- Weiss, D., & Lang, F. R. (2012). "They" are old but "I" feel younger: Age-group dissociation as a self-protective strategy in old age. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 153-163. doi:10.1037/a0024887
- Wilson, K. G., Sandoz, E. K., Kitchens, J., & Roberts, M. (2010). The valued living questionnaire: Defining and measuring valued action within a behavioral framework. *The Psychological Record*, 60, 249-272.
- Wisdom, J. P., Bruce, K., Saedi, G. A., Weis, T., & Green, C. A. (2008). 'Stealing me from myself': Identity and recovery in personal accounts of mental illness. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42, 489-495. doi:10.1080/00048670802050579
- Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology and Health*, 15, 215-228. doi:10.1080/08870440008400302
- Yu, L., Norton, S., Harrison, A., & McCracken, L. M. (2015). In search of the person in pain: A systematic review of conceptualization, assessment methods, and evidence for self and identity in chronic pain. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 4, 246-262. doi:10.1016/j.jcbs.2015.10.003

## **Tables & Figures**

## Table 1: Participants' demographic details

Pseudonym	Gender	Age	Location	Location of CRPS	<b>Duration of Symptoms</b>	Employment status
Louisa	Female	32	Canada	Arm, spread to leg	3.5 years	Employed (reduced hours)
David	Male	34	USA	Foot	2 years	Unemployed
Rachel	Female	26	USA	Foot	5 years	Unemployed
Amy	Female	37	USA	Hand	8 years	Self-employed
Jen	Female	29	USA	Arm, spread to head	13 years	Employed (flexible)
Beth	Female	20	UK	Foot	2 years	Student

 Table 2: Themes identified for each participant

Participant				The	emes				
Louisa	cannot show emotional esponses, or people hink I am crazy Dr H told me to stop rying because it makes ne look bad She also old me that I was crazy. I lock really crazy when I'm in doctors' ffices, cos I'm really esperate for hope."		e them And I ny- on't like I've had to reinvent myself, so to say, to be comfortable again "		My role is to help others (but no-one helps me) "I'm the wings who cover everybody, and make sure everything's okay for everybody else, and no- one puts me under their wings."		I have to focus on the positives "That's the way I have to look at everything, is the glass is half-full"		
David	A shift in priorities "The focus is off me. The focus is more, I guess yo would say I've become more of a hippy I wan to help people."	e <b>myself</b> u "I used to call it [a limb] names. I sai t a chicken leg or a	Worthless, I hated myself "I used to call it [affected limb] names. I said it was a chicken leg or a dead leg or a dead foot."		People didn't understand "It's hard to really explain it where people get it – other than them going, 'It can't be that bad'. Um, it sure is, it sure is that bad."		I mustn't be a burden "At the beginning I would put on a happy face, even though I was in pain, and not share that because I didn't want anyone else to have to be burdened by it, 'cos it was mine."		<b>PS broke me to make</b> <b>anew</b> hink this whole erience has made me a nger and more open vidual."
Rachel	expected life to bes"I wanted to be onwmy own, more"independent, I"wanted to work oraTravel more, or at6least have my owna	now IIt's hard to keep the sociable part of me with CRPSo be on ore"Now I'm like, "Nope, I'm done" around like 5:00 or 6:00pm, and that's i definitely changed my schedule "		ng able to do tics meant huge part If I was told I onger do tics or be d in anything ort, I had a wn. I cried.	Guilt that m suffering is a compared to "I don't have feeling that I those two nig [when I was diagnosed]. A people have is day, so I feel	y minimal o others e that fire did ghts first And it every	I'm still myself b in new ways "I think I came to terms with it early and it was like oka this is what I have just wanna know what to do with it, how to live with it	ay, e, I	Other people don't really understand "I'm like trying to kind of prove to them [family members] what it is, and that I'm not faking it. And it's kind of like, I shouldn't have to, but in your head

	on my mom. Just be				s kind of like	sometimes, b	U	and what comes		you're like, 'Please
	my own person."			elementa	tity through ary to high college"	like, I don't r know what y living with."		next."		believe me!'"
Amy	<b>I'm in control</b> "I feel like now that I have the tools and the resources I know what works for me, it gives me that empowerment."		I felt like I was going crazy "When they tell you, 'Oh it's your nervous system, or it's your brain telling you' and it's like, great, so I'm crazy? I must be crazy, because obviously my hand's fine, the X-ray says it."		Our struggle our strength "It's been suc but because of become stron learned so mu	es become s ch a struggle, of it, I've ager and I've	I'm curious "I'm all about getting to the root cause 'cos I don't want to just, you know, cover up the symptoms, I want long term health. And I'm very curious about everything."		I feel different than other people with CRPS "I've shared my story [with the CRPS community online] and people got really mad at me, I got a lot of hate emails."	
Jen	I make other people uncomfortable "I've had people break up with me because of my disease. It's a lot, okay, it was a lot back then cos I wasn't as great as I am now."		I'm a control freak "When you can't walk and you need someone to shower you, and help you in the bathroom – humiliating. Absolutely humiliating."		I thought I was the scary monster people tell their kids about "I used to look at myself in the mirror, when I first got diagnosed, and I was horrified And I used to cry, and throw things at my mirror thinking I was a monster."		I've become the person I always wanted to be "I was a very cold person before ,and now I'm very warm and positive. So it was a blessing in disguise."		me "I ta not it. A care cert	<b>PS does not define</b> ruly believe that I am my disease, it does define me. Yes, I have And yes, I have to take e of it and rearrange cain parts of my life for put it's not who I am."
Beth	clean" about my condition "This is something that I have to be pretty honest with	<b>going c</b> "There thing in my min I have i	was always a n the back of nd going, 'Do	I'm tryi okay wi "I was li sick eno all these	ke, 'Am I ugh to need ons?' or like,	People don't understand "Like, the am people that an 'What do you storms hurt?'	nount of re like, 1 mean,	I always have to consider the CRI "When you go on nights out and stur so many people w heels and smarter shoes and stuff, ar	ff, ear	I'm still me, but in adapted ways "Everyone tells me I'm a determined person and I'm just kind of like- I guess I get on with things, no matter what."

hide it from people and just be like, 'Oh,	Or is it just me being crazy?"	enough to need all these?' It is like,	I'm just standing there in my trainers."	
I'm normal!'"	Clazy:	oh, I do actually need	there in my trainers.	
		this."		

	Louisa	David	Rachel	Amy	Jen	Beth
Theme 1: It's taken time to feel like 'me' again	• I've had to reinvent myself	• CRPS broke me to make me anew	• I'm still myself but in new ways	• Our struggles become our strengths	• I've become the person I always wanted to be	<ul> <li>I'm still me but in adapted ways</li> <li>I always have to consider the CRPS</li> </ul>
Theme 2: CRPS alienates me from other people	• I cannot show emotional responses, or people think I am crazy	• People didn't understand	• Other people don't really understand	• I felt like I was going crazy	• I make other people uncomfortable	<ul> <li>I felt like I was going crazy</li> <li>People don't understand</li> </ul>
Theme 3: Having this condition is shameful	• I dislike the CRPS and therefore myself	• Worthless, I hated myself			•I thought I was the scary monster people tell their kids about	<ul> <li>I have to "come clean" about my condition</li> <li>I'm disabled and I'm trying to be okay with that</li> </ul>
Theme 4: The importance of control to a sense of self	• I have to focus on the positives		• This is not how I expected life to be	• I'm in control now	• I'm a control freak	

Table 3: Contributing	g themes from	each participant	to overall themes
-----------------------	---------------	------------------	-------------------

24

#### Appendices

#### Appendix 2-A: Example of notations and emerging themes for one participant

Betrayal; rejected by friends because shome? costs of ? Externalising I separating self + & from this experience?? of condition had to heave high school bisolated My friends became people that would throw food at me and call me cripple. I had to 693 leave high school and do a study-at-home program, because I was getting ready to go to \* 694 by CRPS. Doctor S's program my senior year of high school, Host all my friends. My sister and I-695 we were never really close, but she never tried to understand my disease, even till this lost all my friends 696 day Never asked questions; nothing, so it was very in the- and the you had to deal with sister didn't understand - didn't even 697 by ~ invalidating parents laught blc of me Parenus thought I was faking, questioned me you parents righting about it. Especially in the beginning, She is faking, the doctor said 698 so' Well why would she fake so long? It's a lot. And then you gotta deal with your 699 parents' guilt, after they find out it's real. Like I'll never forget that Thanksgiving, after I 700 my motivation, genly distuicted me was diagnosed, him just blatantly telling my uncle, " thought she was faking". 701 addiscomfart for others? + Burdening others Researcher: Yeah 702 needing help = what compable to the Humiliating. = being a burden balancing need for help i independence. ?? process necessary Participant: And then you have to deal with the guilt that comes along with it. And being 703 adjurden. When you can't walk, and you need someone to shower you, and help you in 704 the bathroom - humiliating. Absolutely humiliating. But necessary You know, you leel 705 \* CRPS diagnosis saved my life.\* like a burden to everyone around you. But to be honest now where I am now? Getting 706 diagnosed with CRPS in some ways probably saved my life. Cos I was very depressed. 707 Looking back at myself is like a different And I had contemplated suicide before CRPS even came about. Now, it's like a 708 person (in a good way) ~ mentally temotionally completely different person I look back on, and I'm just like- it kind of saved my life. Not 709 I love the person I am now healthier just physically, but it did save my life emotionally and mentally, because I love the 710 person I am now. "m so-I'm genuincly happy I'm upbeat, I have a different way of 711 Genuinely happy now. thinking about things. Like, my mentality was just so warped back their and now it's like 712 -DAMEN CLARIN clear, I'm off anti-depressants. I've been off for many years. But I-It's like I can see, And 713 I'm weird for seeing CRPS as a positive it's soweird to say that something so painful can save your 'ife. But for me it did. And 714 still have bad days - but even bad days yes, I struggle, and I have bad days, but it's nowhere near where it was, or who I was 715 before. I know people say, 'Oh, I was so great before and it's just-' - that wasn't the case now are better than before. 716 + change for the better. for me. I'm better now than I was then. Even with the pain." 717 Researcher: And you know that's just as important as those people who feel the 718 opposite. It's just as important that for you it feels like actually may be the best thing 719 that could have happened. 720 mentally healthter -thoughts/feelings. Participant: Yeah and it's so weird to say that, but I truly do feel that way. See, even just 721 feeling the way I feel and think the way I am able to think now, it's so much healthicr 722 looking back - doesn't feel like me. and better than it ever was when I was a kid. Like from 8 to 16 and I was just a 723 complete-It doesn't even feel like me. Like I don't understand those emotions anymore, 724 bont understand has used to be. I don't understand my way of thinking back then, like I would read through my old 725

I've changed, don't recognise journals and I'm just like, 'What in the world? Who wrote this? Oh, I did?' Like it's 726 my old seif. completely changed, and i'm grateful for that. Even through the pain, you know, I- as 727 much as I would love to say, I wish I didn't have this disease. At the same time, I'm glad I 728 Recognise positives brought about had this disease because my life is full of things that it would never happen full of. by CRPS - despite the pain. 729 is shan about perspective? Researcher: Yeah 730 more appreciative, graverul; more Participant: And I can appreciate and be grateful and- I'm much more compassionate of 731 campassianate a person, I'm a better person now, than I was back then. And it's because I've had to go 732 I'm a better person because i've been through hard things. And, you know, even tough situations after my RSD, and after I got hecome." 733 better, and situations that would scare most people. I was able to get through with it through hast things 734 \$1 can get through CKPS ... I can get through anything ~\_srength.x because I was able to get through RSD 735 recognition of strength, 735 Researcher: Yeah Participant: So I mean-I don't know, I just- maybe I'm a weird case, but I do feel very 737 0% believe , had a good grateful that I was able to take it seriously for a 16-year-old. 738 approach to management/ coping E dx Researcher: Yeah, for sure. Um OK, so slightly different line of questions then. Um so 739 recognising own you said initially it was your arm that was affected. Was that your left or your right, you 740 shengths / skills. said right didn't you? 741 think w Participant: Yes, right [gestures] 742 Researcher: Sn how do you feel about your affected limb, and obviously like you Embarrassed about physical, visible signs 743 mentioned the other areas as well now? 744 e.g. alrophy |swelling. Participant: Um, I'm still a little embarrassed, like with the atrophy. And then the weird-Anxious to wear certain clomes / self conscious 745 it's like almost like an indent, on both arms really, but uh-it's just-it's always kind of a 746 LoBut push self to do it anyway - it limit me. little swollen. So I'm kind of a little more timid to wear, you know, like spaghetti straps 747 or bathing suits. But I don't know, I just try to kind of push myself to wear stuff, and so 748 People make rude comments. Estim to prove?? Loupset me at first, men almost expectit? don't feel ashamed. But I have gotten kind of rude comments about it. Um like if I'm 749 getting my nails done, and they're massaging my arms and they feel the Indent. They 750 make comments, and it's not great to hear, but I mean they're just comments. You 751 - [minimising emotioner Idiscomfort response]] for others know (vou)let it sting for like a second, and you get over it. Um? But yeah, I mean, I 752 "get over it' remember you know my brother in law's/wedding, she chose us to wear strapless r 753 affected experience of family wedding dresses. I was very upset about it. I know it sounds so vain, but I was just like, "She had 754 to choose the one thing I asked her-' you know, cos she was asking people and... I 755 feel vain for being self-conscious lupset dunno, but that whole process was weird. I had to deal with my husband's ex-girlfriend 756 the way 1 look. as convol 1 not my & externatisma again. 25 ~invalidating own concerns? choice

# Appendix 2-B: Author Guidelines of Chosen Journal for Submission 'Psychology & Health'

Thank you for choosing to submit your paper to us. These instructions will ensure we have everything required so your paper can move through peer review, production and publication smoothly. Please take the time to read and follow them as closely as possible, as doing so will ensure your paper matches the journal's requirements.



For general guidance on every stage of the publication process, please visit our <u>Author</u> Services website.

## EDITINGSERVICES Supporting Taylor & Francis authors

For editing support, including translation and language polishing, explore our <u>Editing</u> <u>Services website</u>

SCHOLARONE MANUSCRIPTS\*

This journal uses ScholarOne Manuscripts (previously Manuscript Central) to peer review manuscript submissions. Please read the <u>guide for ScholarOne authors</u> before making a submission. Complete guidelines for preparing and submitting your manuscript to this journal are provided below.

## Contents

About the Journal **Open Access** Peer Review and Ethics Preparing Your Paper Structure Word Limits **Style Guidelines** Formatting and Templates References **Editing Services** Checklist Using Third-Party Material **Disclosure Statement Clinical Trials Registry** Complying With Ethics of Experimentation Consent Health and Safety Submitting Your Paper **Data Sharing Policy Publication Charges Copyright Options Complying with Funding Agencies** 

#### My Authored Works

#### **Reprints**

About the Journal

*Psychology & Health* is an international, peer-reviewed journal publishing highquality, original research. Please see the journal's <u>Aims & Scope</u> for information about its focus and peer-review policy.

Please note that this journal only publishes manuscripts in English.

*Psychology & Health* accepts the following types of article: Article, Editorial, Commentary, Registered Reports.

Authors are asked to adhere to the guidelines provided and note that reporting requirements can vary by study design.

Original Research Articles include reports of Randomized Controlled Trials (RCTs), observational studies, qualitative research studies, and other investigations. All submissions must follow the appropriate reporting guidelines and instructions for reporting statistics.

Reviews are systematic reviews and meta-analyses that are thorough, critical assessments of the literature and data sources pertaining to topics within the scope of Psychology and Health. Per PRISMA guidelines, systematic reviews and meta-analyses must be identified as such in the article title.

Commentaries are scholarly but not exhaustive essays of any current issue or controversy that fits the scope and aims of Psychology and Health. They should be broadly informative, and encourage new thinking or important topics relevant to the readership.

Registered Reports differ from conventional empirical articles by performing part of the review process before the researchers collect and analyse data. Unlike more conventional process where a full report of empirical research is submitted for peer review, RRs can be considered as proposals for empirical research, which are evaluated on their merit prior to the data being collected. For information on how to prepare Registered Reports (RR) submissions please see here (https://www.tandf.co.uk//journals/authors/registered-report-guidelines.pdf).

Authors who are interested in submitting papers that do not fit into these categories are advised to contact the editors who would be very happy to discuss the potential submission.

Editors will not enter into correspondence about manuscripts not accepted for publication, and their decision is final. Submission of a manuscript is understood to indicate that the authors have complied with all policies as delineated in this guide.

**Open Access** 

You have the option to publish open access in this journal via our Open Select publishing program. Publishing open access means that your article will be free to access online immediately on publication, increasing the visibility, readership and impact of your research. Articles published Open Select with Taylor & Francis typically receive 32% more citations\* and over 6 times as many downloads\*\* compared to those that are not published Open Select.

Your research funder or your institution may require you to publish your article open access. Visit our <u>Author Services</u> website to find out more about open access policies and how you can comply with these.

You will be asked to pay an article publishing charge (APC) to make your article open access and this cost can often be covered by your institution or funder. Use our <u>APC</u> <u>finder</u> to view the APC for this journal.

Please visit our <u>Author Services website</u> or contact <u>openaccess@tandf.co.uk</u> if you would like more information about our Open Select Program.

\*Citations received up to Jan 31st 2020 for articles published in 2015-2019 in journals listed in Web of Science®.

\*\*Usage in 2017-2019 for articles published in 2015-2019.

Peer Review and Ethics

Taylor & Francis is committed to peer-review integrity and upholding the highest standards of review. Once your paper has been assessed for suitability by the editor, it will then be single blind peer reviewed by independent, anonymous expert referees. Find out more about <u>what to expect during peer review</u> and read our guidance on <u>publishing ethics</u>.

## Preparing Your Paper

All authors submitting to medicine, biomedicine, health sciences, allied and public health journals should conform to the <u>Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to</u> <u>Biomedical Journals</u>, prepared by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

Structure

Your paper should be compiled in the following order: title page; abstract; keywords; main text introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion; acknowledgments; declaration of interest statement; references; appendices (as appropriate); table(s) with caption(s) (on individual pages); figures; figure captions (as a list).

Word Limits

Please include a word count for your paper.

A typical paper for this journal should be no more than 30 pages, inclusive of the abstract, tables, references, figure captions, endnotes.

**Taylor & Francis Editing Services** 

To help you improve your manuscript and prepare it for submission, Taylor & Francis provides a range of editing services. Choose from options such as English Language Editing, which will ensure that your article is free of spelling and grammar errors, Translation, and Artwork Preparation. For more information, including pricing, <u>visit this website</u>.

Checklist: What to Include

The manuscript title, abstract and keywords should be in English and the authors' language. A biographical note (100 words) of each author should be provided in English.

## Cover Letter

The cover letter should describe how the paper fits within the scope of Psychology and Health and confirm that it has not been published and is not currently under review elsewhere.

If the report is based on data from a larger study (e.g., a secondary analysis), please include this in your cover letter and reference all publications from the data-set. The cover

letter should further clarify the novel or value-added scientific contribution of the submitted paper relative to previously published papers from the same dataset.

Author details. Please ensure everyone meeting the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) requirements for authorship is included as an author of your paper. All authors of a manuscript should include their full name and affiliation on the cover page of the manuscript. Where available, please also include ORCiDs and social media handles (Facebook, Twitter or LinkedIn). One author will need to be identified as the corresponding author, with their email address normally displayed in the article PDF (depending on the journal) and the online article. Authors' affiliations are the affiliations where the research was conducted. If any of the named co-authors moves affiliation during the peer-review process, the new affiliation can be given as a footnote. Please note that no changes to affiliation can be made after your paper is accepted. <u>Read more on authorship</u>.

Should contain a structured abstract of 200 words. Use the following categories: Objective, Design, Main Outcome Measures, Results, Conclusion

You can opt to include a **video abstract** with your article. <u>Find out how these can help your work reach a wider audience, and what to think about when filming</u>.

Read <u>making your article more discoverable</u>, including information on choosing a title and search engine optimization.

**Funding details.** Please supply all details required by your funding and grant-awarding bodies as follows:

For single agency grants

This work was supported by the [Funding Agency] under Grant [number xxxx].

For multiple agency grants

This work was supported by the [Funding Agency #1] under Grant [number xxxx]; [Funding Agency #2] under Grant [number xxxx]; and [Funding Agency #3] under Grant [number xxxx].

**Disclosure statement.** This is to acknowledge any financial interest or benefit that has arisen from the direct applications of your research. <u>Further guidance on what is a</u> conflict of interest and how to disclose it.

**Data availability statement.** If there is a data set associated with the paper, please provide information about where the data supporting the results or analyses presented in the paper can be found. Where applicable, this should include the hyperlink, DOI or other persistent identifier associated with the data set(s). <u>Templates</u> are also available to support authors.

**Data deposition.** If you choose to share or make the data underlying the study open, please deposit your data in a <u>recognized data repository</u> prior to or at the time of submission. You will be asked to provide the DOI, pre-reserved DOI, or other persistent identifier for the data set.

**Supplemental online material.** Supplemental material can be a video, dataset, fileset, sound file or anything which supports (and is pertinent to) your paper. We publish supplemental material online via Figshare. Find out more about <u>supplemental material and how to submit it with your article</u>.

**Figures.** Figures should be high quality (1200 dpi for line art, 600 dpi for grayscale and 300 dpi for colour, at the correct size). Figures should be supplied in one of our preferred

file formats: EPS, PS, JPEG, TIFF, or Microsoft Word (DOC or DOCX) files are acceptable for figures that have been drawn in Word. For information relating to other file types, please consult our <u>Submission of electronic artwork</u> document.

**Tables.** Tables should present new information rather than duplicating what is in the text. Readers should be able to interpret the table without reference to the text. Please supply editable files.

**Equations.** If you are submitting your manuscript as a Word document, please ensure that equations are editable. More information about <u>mathematical symbols and</u> <u>equations</u>.

Units. Please use <u>SI units</u> (non-italicized).

**Reporting Checklists.** Reporting checklists are required to be uploaded for RCTs, systematic reviews/meta-analyses, observational trials, qualitative studies, and evaluations with non-randomized designs.

**Preprint Policy.** The journal will consider for review articles previously available as preprints. Authors may also post the submitted version of a manuscript to a preprint server at any time. Authors are requested to update any pre-publication versions with a link to the final published article.

Using Third-Party Material in your Paper

You must obtain the necessary permission to reuse third-party material in your article. The use of short extracts of text and some other types of material is usually permitted, on a limited basis, for the purposes of criticism and review without securing formal permission. If you wish to include any material in your paper for which you do not hold copyright, and which is not covered by this informal agreement, you will need to obtain written permission from the copyright owner prior to submission. More information on requesting permission to reproduce work(s) under copyright.

**Disclosure Statement** 

Please include a disclosure statement, using the subheading "Disclosure of interest." If you have no interests to declare, please state this (suggested wording: *The authors report no conflict of interest*). For all NIH/Wellcome-funded papers, the grant number(s) must be included in the declaration of interest statement. <u>Read more on declaring conflicts of interest</u>.

**Clinical Trials Registry** 

In order to be published in a Taylor & Francis journal, all clinical trials must have been registered in a public repository at the beginning of the research process (prior to patient enrolment). Trial registration numbers should be included in the abstract, with full details in the methods section. The registry should be publicly accessible (at no charge), open to all prospective registrants, and managed by a not-for-profit organization. For a list of registries that meet these requirements, please visit the <u>WHO International Clinical Trials Registry</u> <u>Platform</u> (ICTRP). The registration of all clinical trials facilitates the sharing of information among clinicians, researchers, and patients, enhances public confidence in research, and is in accordance with the <u>ICMJE guidelines</u>.

Complying With Ethics of Experimentation Research Reporting Guidelines Submissions should adhere to current research reporting guidelines. Reporting guidelines, checklists, and flow diagrams for many types of studies are available from the <u>Enhancing the Quality and Transparency of Health Research (EQUATOR) network</u>, including CONSORT for randomized clinical trials (RCTs) and for pilot and feasibility studies, PRISMA for systematic reviews, STROBE for observational studies, SRQR for qualitative research, among others.

Submissions should include a completed checklist as a supplementary file when this is possible.

*Psychology and Health* will publish randomized trials only if they have been registered. A complete list of acceptable trial registries can be found via the <u>WHO</u> <u>International Clinical Trials Registry Platform</u>. Any differences between registered and reported methods or outcomes should be explained in the manuscript. Published protocols should be cited in the manuscript. Use of the <u>Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for</u> <u>Intervention Trials (SPIRIT) checklist</u> is recommended. For all intervention components, authors are encouraged to use the TIDieR Checklist as a supplemental file.

Please ensure that all research reported in submitted papers has been conducted in an ethical and responsible manner, and is in full compliance with all relevant codes of experimentation and legislation. All papers which report in vivo experiments or clinical trials on humans or animals must include a written statement in the Methods section. This should explain that all work was conducted with the formal approval of the local human subject or animal care committees (institutional and national), and that clinical trials have been registered as legislation requires. Authors who do not have formal ethics review committees should include a statement that their study follows the principles of the <u>Declaration of Helsinki</u>.

#### Consent

All authors are required to follow the <u>ICMJE requirements</u> on privacy and informed consent from patients and study participants. Please confirm that any patient, service user, or participant (or that person's parent or legal guardian) in any research, experiment, or clinical trial described in your paper has given written consent to the inclusion of material pertaining to themselves, that they acknowledge that they cannot be identified via the paper; and that you have fully anonymized them. Where someone is deceased, please ensure you have written consent from the family or estate. Authors may use this <u>Patient Consent Form</u>, which should be completed, saved, and sent to the journal if requested.

Health and Safety

Please confirm that all mandatory laboratory health and safety procedures have been complied with in the course of conducting any experimental work reported in your paper. Please ensure your paper contains all appropriate warnings on any hazards that may be involved in carrying out the experiments or procedures you have described, or that may be involved in instructions, materials, or formulae.

Please include all relevant safety precautions; and cite any accepted standard or code of practice. Authors working in animal science may find it useful to consult the <u>International</u> <u>Association of Veterinary Editors' Consensus Author Guidelines on Animal Ethics and</u> <u>Welfare and Guidelines for the Treatment of Animals in Behavioural Research and Teaching</u>.

When a product has not yet been approved by an appropriate regulatory body for the use described in your paper, please specify this, or that the product is still investigational.

Submitting Your Paper

This journal uses ScholarOne Manuscripts to manage the peer-review process. If you haven't submitted a paper to this journal before, you will need to create an account in ScholarOne. Please read the guidelines above and then submit your paper in <u>the relevant</u> <u>Author Centre</u>, where you will find user guides and a helpdesk.

Please note that *Psychology* & *Health* uses  $\underline{\text{Crossref^{TM}}}$  to screen papers for unoriginal material. By submitting your paper to *Psychology* & *Health* you are agreeing to originality checks during the peer-review and production processes.

On acceptance, we recommend that you keep a copy of your Accepted Manuscript. Find out more about <u>sharing your work</u>.

**Data Sharing Policy** 

This journal applies the Taylor & Francis <u>share upon reasonable request data sharing</u> <u>policy</u>. Authors agree to make data and materials supporting the results or analyses presented in their paper available upon reasonable request. It is up to the author to determine whether a request is reasonable. Authors are required to <u>cite any data sets referenced</u> in the article and provide a <u>Data Availability Statement</u>. Please note that data should only be shared if it is ethically correct to do so, where this does not violate the protection of human subjects, or other valid ethical, privacy, or security concerns.

At the point of submission, you will be asked if there is a data set associated with the paper. If you reply yes, you will be required to provide the DOI, pre-registered DOI, hyperlink, or other persistent identifier associated with the data set(s). If you have selected to provide a pre-registered DOI, please be prepared to share the reviewer URL associated with your data deposit, upon request by reviewers.

Where one or multiple data sets are associated with a manuscript, these are not formally peer reviewed as a part of the journal submission process. It is the author's responsibility to ensure the soundness of data. Any errors in the data rest solely with the producers of the data set(s).

**Publication Charges** 

There are no submission fees, publication fees or page charges for this journal.

Colour figures will be reproduced in colour in your online article free of charge. If it is necessary for the figures to be reproduced in colour in the print version, a charge will apply.

Charges for colour figures in print are £300 per figure (\$400 US Dollars; \$500 Australian Dollars; €350). For more than 4 colour figures, figures 5 and above will be charged at £50 per figure (\$75 US Dollars; \$100 Australian Dollars; €65). Depending on your location, these charges may be subject to local taxes.

**Copyright Options** 

Copyright allows you to protect your original material, and stop others from using your work without your permission. Taylor & Francis offers a number of different license and reuse options, including Creative Commons licenses when publishing open access. <u>Read</u> <u>more on publishing agreements</u>.

Complying with Funding Agencies

We will deposit all National Institutes of Health or Wellcome Trust-funded papers into PubMedCentral on behalf of authors, meeting the requirements of their respective open access policies. If this applies to you, please tell our production team when you receive your article proofs, so we can do this for you. Check funders' open access policy mandates <u>here</u>. Find out more about <u>sharing your work</u>.

My Authored Works

On publication, you will be able to view, download and check your article's metrics (downloads, citations and Altmetric data) via <u>My Authored Works</u> on Taylor & Francis Online. This is where you can access every article you have published with us, as well as your <u>free eprints link</u>, so you can quickly and easily share your work with friends and colleagues.

We are committed to promoting and increasing the visibility of your article. Here are some tips and ideas on how you can work with us to promote your research.

Article Reprints

You will be sent a link to order article reprints via your account in our production system. For enquiries about reprints, please contact the Taylor & Francis Author Services team at <u>reprints@tandf.co.uk</u>. You can also <u>order print copies of the journal issue in which</u> your article appears.

Queries

Should you have any queries, please visit our <u>Author Services website</u> or contact us <u>here</u>.

## **Section Three: Critical Appraisal**

Word Count: 3977

Jess Smith

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

Division of Health Research, Lancaster University

All correspondence should be addressed to: Jess Smith c/o Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Health Innovation One Sir John Fisher Drive Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4AT United Kingdom

j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk

The critical appraisal aims to allow further reflections on the research process. I will first give a summary of the findings of each paper, considering links between the two, and implications for practice. I will then explore the strengths and limitations of the research paper, as well as some reflections on the process of carrying out this study. I will also consider the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic upon my research.

#### **Overview of findings**

The research paper explored the lived experience of people with complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), and in particular the impact of living with this condition on identity. An interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) approach was taken (Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). Six semi-structured interviews were completed and transcribed verbatim. Analysis yielded four themes: (1) It's taken time to feel like 'me' again; (2) CRPS alienates me from other people; (3) Having this condition is shameful; and (4) The importance of control to a sense of self. These findings were discussed in terms of their place within the extant literature, as well as potential implications for psychological support for these individuals.

A systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative papers relating to parenting a child with persistent pain identified six themes: (1) Seeking control in an uncontrollable situation; (2) Being let down by experts and becoming their own expert; (3) Fearing judgment whilst judging themselves; (4) Seeking normality even whilst adapting to a 'new normal'; (5) Focusing on the child vs. awareness of the impact on the wider family; and (6) Dichotomy: The push and pull of raising a child with persistent pain. Again, these findings were considered in terms of their contribution to the literature and their potential implications for support offered to parents of children with persistent pain.

Despite the differences between the two papers in terms of the population of interest, there were commonalities between the findings. The theme of control was raised in both papers; in the research paper, participants highlighted the importance of control, at least in some respects, to their sense of self – for example, Louisa<sup>2</sup> spoke about her need to maintain a positive approach, which seemed to be a means of retaining control. Meanwhile, in the literature review, parents spoke about seeking control in a situation which felt wildly out-of-control for them.

The role of control in how people cope with long-term health conditions and persistent pain has been recognised for some time; for example, as Williams and Koocher (1998) discussed, loss of control due to long-term illness is a key contributor to psychological distress amongst both patients and family members. Further, as Bates and Rankin-Hill (1994) concluded, individuals with an internal locus of control (that is, perceived control of wellbeing is being located within, rather than externally) appear more able to successfully cope with persistent pain. Bates and Rankin-Hill suggest that interventions targeting locus of control could help individuals living with persistent pain to cope more positively with their symptoms. There are implications here, then, for professionals supporting people with CRPS, who may consider supporting individuals to regain a sense of control as a means of decreasing distress and improving quality of life.

As well as the issue of control, both papers identified themes relating to shame and judgment; in the research paper, this related to participants' sense of shame about their condition, for example in terms of their physical appearance or needing help from others or from mobility aids and other adaptations. In the literature review, parents spoke about fearing and feeling judgment from others but at the same time, judged themselves in relation to their competence as parents. These two findings both appear to relate to the experience of stigma,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Not her real name – pseudonyms are used throughout, consistent with the research paper.

which Goffman (1963) defined as "an undesired differentness" (p. 5). This definition would fit with participants in the research paper feeling different from others, and with parents in the literature review feeling different from both their own and others' expectations of themselves, as well as being conscious of their child's difference. Goffman's definition has been expanded to include felt stigma – feelings of shame related to being different, and feeling that discrimination may occur because of this – and enacted stigma – actual experiences of discrimination (Scambler & Hopkins, 1986). More recently, the work of Link and Phelan (2001) identified components of stigma including labelling of difference, stereotyping, separation of 'them' and 'us', status loss, and discrimination. Link and Phelan also recognised power as an important component in stigma, insofar as it is inherently linked with power differences, with those who are stigmatised inevitably having less power than those who stigmatise. There may be links here with the issues relating to control discussed above; for instance, people may feel out of control in response to their reduced power, and seek to regain or reassert control as a means of increasing their power and thereby reducing stigma.

There are important societal implications in terms of reducing stigma associated with disability; a systematic review by Smythe, Adelson, and Polack (2020) found that education and training were effective in reducing enacted stigma experienced by children with disabilities and their families. This review may be a good starting point in identifying ways to address stigma within society, although the authors did focus on research completed in low- and middle-income countries, so it is unclear how this would apply in the countries of participants in the research paper (USA, Canada, and UK). Older research has identified several strategies for reducing stigma towards children with physical disabilities, including direct contact with the stigmatised group (Brown & Hewstone, 2005), and participation in adapted physical activity (Goodwin, Thurmeier, & Gustafson, 2004). Again, although this work may offer good starting points, it is unclear how they would apply to adults.

#### **Strengths and limitations**

I will now consider some strengths and limitations of the research paper, with reflections on what I may do differently in future. It is important to note, however, that most of these points are not purely strength or limitation, but rather each point has its own costs and benefits.

## **Participants**

The sample size (six participants) is perhaps on the smaller side, though not an unusually small sample for an IPA study; research with samples of six participants or fewer has been published – for example, Levy and Cartwright (2015) published an IPA study in the target journal with five participants. As Smith et al. (2009) state, "[3-6 participants] should provide sufficient cases for the development of meaningful points of similarity and difference between participants, but not so many that one is in danger of being overwhelmed". IPA focuses more on detailed accounts of individual experiences rather than on generalisability; therefore, smaller sample sizes are not necessarily a problem. Nonetheless, a larger sample may have permitted a greater complexity and richness to the data gathered, though this would have needed careful balancing to avoid the volume of data becoming unwieldy.

## Recruitment

In addition to the sample size, the fact of recruitment taking place online meant I only reached people who have access to the internet. This in itself may have excluded people who would have been interested in participating, and may go some way to accounting for the younger age range of participants, despite CRPS being more common in older adults (de Mos et al., 2007). Furthermore, half of the participants were recruited from their writing online about living with CRPS (a pragmatic decision to aid with recruitment, given the circumstances discussed below relating to COVID-19); these people, then, were already relatively comfortable discussing their diagnosis and experiences relating to it. Those who

3-5

#### CRITICAL APPRAISAL

volunteered in response to social media adverts were also willing to be interviewed about their CRPS. In contrast, those who saw the adverts and did not respond may have been less open and reflective about their condition and less willing to discuss their experiences – hence not responding. This is a strength as well as a limitation, as it meant that participants were able to be open and honest with me in interviews, allowing depth and richness to the data gathered. However, the experiences of these individuals may differ from those of people who were less willing to participate; all participants in the research paper had, to some degree, reached a point of acceptance with their diagnosis, and were even able to identify some positive consequences. Perhaps people who are still struggling with their diagnosis to a greater degree would be less likely to come forward to discuss it with a stranger.

#### **Data collection**

Conducting research interviews was a new experience for me, which therefore involved a learning curve. In the initial interviews, I was perhaps not quite as familiar with my interview guide as I could have been. This unfortunately meant I missed some opportunities to explore a participant's response further, as I checked what came next on the schedule. This improved as data collection progressed, as I became more familiar with the interview guide and therefore more able to keep my focus on the participant. My confidence also improved as I completed more interviews, meaning I was more relaxed and more perceptive to the subtleties of participants' responses. In future, 'pilot' interviews may facilitate familiarity and confidence with the interview schedule; an expert by experience may be able to provide valuable feedback here on my delivery of questions and so on.

One point that I did note whilst transcribing the interviews was that quite a lot of time was taken up at the start of the interview in asking participants details such as their age, family circumstances, and a brief history of their diagnosis. This part of the conversation aided in rapport-building and giving the participant time to settle into the interview

3-6

somewhat. However, this is information which could potentially have been collected prior to the interview, thereby allowing more time in the interview itself for more in-depth discussion of the impact of CRPS, and more flexibility to follow up interesting points. In future, I might consider using a brief form for participants to complete pre-interview, to gather demographic details, date of diagnosis, and a brief summary of their journey from symptom onset to diagnosis. A similar process was used by Beales et al. (2021) in their qualitative study of people with CRPS in Australia.

The use of online interviews is also an interesting point; I had not planned to collect data in this way, as discussed below, though I had intended to offer it as an option alongside face-to-face interviews. As O'Connor and Madge (2016) set out, there are both strengths and limitations to online data collection. Notably, in terms of accessibility, online interviews meant that people who may not have been able to travel for an in-person interview were able to participate and have their views heard (Bowker & Tuffin, 2004). In addition, video-recording through the online calling platforms (as opposed to audio-recording face-to-face interviews, as initially planned) meant that a greater depth of information was available during transcription, including participants' facial expressions and gestures as well as their actual words.

Despite these benefits, completing the interviews online had its drawbacks; firstly, this approach meant that individuals who didn't have access to suitable technology, or a private space to complete an interview, may not have felt able to participate. Additionally, older people may also have been excluded by the use of online interviews (O'Connor & Madge, 2016). This could perhaps be mitigated to some extent by offering telephone interviews as an alternative option; I did consider this, but given the international sample and limitations in terms of budget, this was not feasible. Secondly, it is perhaps more difficult to build rapport in an online interview than it might have been face-to-face, and so it is possible

3-7

that a slightly lower level of detail and disclosure may have been attained than would have been possible with in-person interviews. Overall, though, I felt that online interviews worked well in this context and I would certainly consider using them again in future – I would say I have come to agree with Deakin and Wakefield (2013) that online interviews are a viable method of data collection in and of themselves, not just, "an alternative or secondary choice when face-to-face interviews cannot be achieved" (p.3).

#### **IPA** approach

As well as the above considerations relating to my specific choices and limitations within this project, the research was also subject to general strengths and limitations of an IPA approach. As with all IPA-based studies, findings are not considered to be generalisable beyond samples with similar characteristics and contexts to those of the participants involved. Again, this is not purely a limitation, since the aim of IPA as an idiographic approach is to explore the particular experiences of a small group of participants, rather than to generate theories relating to whole populations. As Brocki and Wearden (2006) discuss, part of the role of IPA is to explore subjective experiences, and participants' accounts of making sense of these experiences. This approach, Brocki and Wearden argue, can usefully supplement quantitative data, allowing for greater exploration and understanding of the complexity of human experience. Nonetheless, it is important to bear in mind the limited generalisability of the findings.

#### **Involvement of experts by experience**

As noted in the research paper, I contacted two CRPS charities to seek feedback and suggestions from an expert by experience on my interview guide. Unfortunately, neither charity responded, and due to time constraints I was unable to look elsewhere, so I was not able to gain any feedback from experts by experience – although I did review material written online by people with CRPS when designing the interview guide. Feedback was offered by

#### CRITICAL APPRAISAL

two healthcare professionals working with individuals with CRPS (a physiotherapist and a clinical psychologist), which went some way to ensuring relevant areas were addressed. For example, based on the feedback from the physiotherapist, questions about participants' perceptions of their affected limb were included, to explore any potential dysmorphia or perceptual disturbances which were felt to be linked to identity. However, this is obviously not equivalent to having input from individuals with CRPS, who may have been able to highlight further areas for inquiry or suggest better ways of approaching certain topics. Future research, then, would benefit from involvement of experts by experience to ensure that relevant areas are being addressed in research.

On reflection, one way of addressing this significant limitation of the present research may have been to ask one or more of the participants recruited via their online writing to act as "consultants", for example by providing feedback on my research question, participant materials, and interview guide. I had enough interest through social media recruitment to still have sufficient participants even without the online writers taking part in the interviews. The main reason I did not take this approach was probably anticipatory anxiety around recruitment, given the substantial delays my thesis had already encountered, as discussed below. Prior to submitting this work for publication, I plan to share the themes with participants to gain feedback and reflection, which can be used to adjust or rework the themes if necessary.

#### **Suggestions for future research**

In addition to the suggestions made in the main research paper, relating to the age and cultural background of participants, there is scope for future research exploring the efficacy and acceptability of psychological interventions for people with CRPS. To date, the majority of research relating to treatment and management of CRPS seems to investigate medical treatments such as medication and surgery. A recent paper by Murray, Harrison, Goebel, and Twiddy (2020) did explore the impact of a pain management programme (PMP) for individuals with CRPS; however, this study explored the impact of the PMP on patients' decision-making around medication options. Thus, there is still a need for a broader understanding of how patients experience PMPs, and other psychologically informed interventions, in terms of living with and/or managing their CRPS.

#### Reflexivity

As discussed in the main research paper, reflexivity is an important element in IPA research, contributing to the acknowledgement and 'bracketing' of preconceptions, assumptions, and biases which may otherwise impact upon the interview process and/or the analysis (Smith et al., 2009; Yardley, 2000). I will now share some of my reflections from throughout the research process.

In terms of choosing a topic for my thesis project, I knew that I wanted to study something related to physical health, based on my previous assistant psychologist role within a physical health psychology team and my aspiration to work in this area, once qualified. Persistent pain has long been an area of interest for me, and I was intrigued by the idea of exploring people's experiences of living with pain and how this affected them. As I began to explore the literature around this area, CRPS stood out as a condition with very little existing research, which I found appealing given my passion for helping people to have their stories heard. A little more background reading, and discussion with my research supervisors, enabled me to identify identity as a specific area of interest, and the project developed from there.

As discussed above, I had not completed research interviews prior to this study, and therefore had a degree of anxiety about the process. I discussed this with peers who had worked on similar projects, and also recorded some thoughts and reflections in my research journal. In July 2020, I wrote: "I'm feeling quite anxious about my first interview this week – research interviews are not something I've done before. I'm trying to compare it mentally to therapy, as I have often noticed feeling anxious before the first session with a new client, too. Although the contexts are different, I'm sure that similar skills will be helpful – containment, empathy, genuine interest in participants' stories."

Reflecting in this way allowed me to consider the specific elements of the process which were causing me anxiety, and think about ways of managing this anxiety to reduce the impact on my data collection. In particular, the parallel with therapy was helpful for me – as a trainee clinical psychologist in my final year of training, I was comparatively comfortable in therapy sessions by this stage. Thus, highlighting to myself the transferable skills provided me with reassurance that I would be able to manage in the interviews.

At this stage, I had been completing remote therapy by video link on placement for a few months, and so was perhaps feeling more confident about the technology than I may otherwise have been. Nonetheless, I was conscious of the differences between therapy and research interviews, and anxious that I would accidentally slip into 'therapy-mode' during an interview. I noticed from early in the process of data collection that there was a temptation during interviews to revert to this 'therapy-mode', perhaps because I am more familiar with the role of therapist than interviewer. Remaining conscious of this temptation helped me to maintain a balance. As I reflected in late July 2020, towards the end of my interviews:

"It's hard not to slip into therapist role when participants are sharing difficult experiences and their emotional reactions. Trying to balance this by remaining empathic and validating. I've found this particularly hard with Jen and her descriptions of her self-image – a topic that often comes up therapeutically. Knowing she has her own therapist definitely helped but even so – not an easy position to hold, for me anyway!"

As well as noticing these processes which occurred prior to and during interviews, I also became conscious of participants seeming extremely grateful for my interest in CRPS – this was a novel situation for most. Several participants mentioned feeling dismissed and invalidated in their interactions with healthcare professionals; thus, my interest in CRPS was a welcome change for them. Unfortunately, these experiences were not unusual, with similar findings being reported by Johnston, Oprescu, and Gray (2015) in their narrative review. I found these experiences sad to hear, as I believe strongly that an important part of healthcare is taking people seriously and listening to their concerns. This also meant that I felt a lot of pressure to 'do them justice' in my write-up and any dissemination of my research; I was anxious to understand their views and experiences 'properly', and make their participation seem worthwhile. As I considered in my research journal following my interview with Jen:

"It's nice to hear how much participants appreciate my research in CRPS, but at the same time pretty sad when you think it comes from, in some cases, years of feeling unheard and invalidated by health professionals... Feeling quite a lot of pressure to do them all justice and make their contributions worthwhile!"

In particular, I noticed as I began my analysis that it was difficult for me to begin to develop from initial notes to emerging themes. I felt that I wanted to honour my participants' stories, and that by reworking their words in this way I would not be doing this. This conflict is acknowledged by Smith et al. (2009), highlighting that this is part of the process and that the end result will be "a product of both of your [researcher and participant] collaborative efforts" (p. 92). I found this a reassuring perspective, which enabled me to begin to become more interpretative in my analysis.

#### **Impact of COVID-19**

My ethics application was a lengthy process, exacerbated by academic strikes and then university closures for holiday periods. Originally, my research was going to be hosted through an NHS trust, recruiting through their pain clinic. It was immensely frustrating, then, to obtain NHS ethical approval just as the COVID-19 pandemic took hold in the UK. Upon contacting the Research and Development team in the trust, I was informed that all non-COVID research had been suspended indefinitely. This was understandable, given the seriousness of the situation, but disheartening nonetheless. This prompted a re-design of the project and a new ethics application via the University to allow online recruitment.

This adaptation had benefits as well as drawbacks. Most notably, online recruitment meant that I had a much larger number of potential participants. Recruiting online allowed me to reach potential participants internationally, meaning a greater breadth of experiences were covered, with participants having experiences of a variety of healthcare systems. However, this means of recruitment meant that I was unable to verify participants' diagnosis (Hewson, Yule, Laurent, & Vogel, 2003); it is possible that one or more participants did not have a confirmed diagnosis of CRPS. Furthermore, it is unclear whether a sample of participants solely from the UK, as originally planned, would have produced similar findings; there is potential that participants' experiences with a lack of universal healthcare in the US, for example, will have had impacted findings.

Just as COVID had an impact on myself (and this research), participants were also living through unprecedented times. As individuals with pre-existing health conditions, a couple mentioned some anxiety about the current situation, due to feeling they would be at increased risk of complications should they catch the virus. This background anxiety may have coloured participants' responses to my questions, for example making them more attuned to potential 'threats'. On reflection, it may have been interesting to explore the impact of COVID for participants – particularly given early evidence about the extent of 'ableism' in response to the pandemic and the impact this has had for disabled individuals (Lund, Forber-Pratt, Wilson, & Mona, 2020) – though this was probably beyond the scope of the current study.

## Conclusions

This thesis explores the impact of persistent pain, from the perspective of parents of children with transdiagnostic persistent pain, and from that of adults with CRPS. As with all research, there are strengths and limitations of this study; these may inform and direct future research. A reflexive stance has been taken throughout the research, contributing to reliability and validity. The impact of completing research during a global pandemic is also considered.

## References

- Bates, M. S., & Rankin-Hill, L. (1994). Control, culture and chronic pain. *Social Science & Medicine*, *39*, 629-645. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(94)90020-5
- Beales, D., Carolan, D., Chuah-Choong, J., Hammond, S., O'Brien, E., Boyle, E., . . . Slater, H. (2021). Exploring people's lived experience of complex regional pain syndrome: A qualitative study. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain, published online ahead of print*. doi:10.1515/sjpain-2020-0142
- Bowker, N., & Tuffin, K. (2004). Using the online medium for discursive research about people with disabilities. *Social Science Computer Review*, 22, 228-241. doi:10.1177%2F0894439303262561
- Brocki, J., & Wearden, A. (2006). A critical evaluation of the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in health psychology. *Psychology & Health*, 21, 87-108. doi:10.1080/14768320500230185
- Brown, R., & Hewstone, M. (2005). An integrative theory of intergroup contact. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 37, pp. 255-343). San Diego, CA: Elsevier Academic Press.
- de Mos, M., de Bruijn, A. G. J., Huygen, F. J. P. M., Dieleman, J. P., Stricker, C. B. H., & Sturkenboom, M. C. J. M. (2007). The incidence of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: A population-based study. *Pain*, 129, 12-20. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2006.09.008
- Deakin, H., & Wakefield, K. (2013). Skype interviewing: Reflections of two PhD researchers. *Qualitative Research*, 14, 603-616. doi:10.1177%2F1468794113488126
- Goffman, E. (1963). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. London, UK: Simon & Schuster Inc.
- Goodwin, D. L., Thurmeier, R., & Gustafson, P. (2004). Reactions to the metaphors of disability: The mediating effects of physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, 27, 379-398.
- Hewson, C., Yule, P., Laurent, D., & Vogel, C. (2003). *Internet Research Methods*. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Johnston, C. M., Oprescu, F. I., & Gray, M. (2015). Building the evidence for CRPS research from a lived experience perspective. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, 9, 30-37. doi:10.1016/j.sjpain.2015.06.003
- Levy, A., & Cartwright, T. (2015). Men's strategies for preserving emotional wellbeing in advanced prostate cancer: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Psychology* & *Health*, 30, 1164-1182. doi:10.1080/08870446.2015.1040016
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Conceptualizing stigma. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27, 363-385. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363
- Lund, E. M., Forber-Pratt, A. J., Wilson, C., & Mona, L. R. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic, stress, and trauma in the disability community: A call to action. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 65, 313-322. doi:10.1037/rep0000368
- Murray, C., Harrison, S., Goebel, A., & Twiddy, H. (2020). Exploring the impact of pain management programme attendance on complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) patients' decision making regarding immunosuppressant treatment to manage their chronic pain condition. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, 20, 707-716. doi:10.1515/sjpain-2019-0142
- O'Connor, H., & Madge, C. (2016). Online interviewing. In N. Fielding, R. M. Lee, & G. Blank (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of online research methods*. London, UK: Sage Publications, Ltd.

- Scambler, G., & Hopkins, A. (1986). Being epileptic: Coming to terms with stigma. Sociology of Health and Illness, 8, 26-43. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.ep11346455
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research*. London, UK: Sage Publications.
- Smythe, T., Adelson, J. D., & Polack, S. (2020). Systematic review of interventions for reducing stigma experienced by children with disabilities and their families in lowand middle-income countries: State of the evidence. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 25, 508-524. doi:10.1111/tmi.13388
- Williams, J., & Koocher, G. P. (1998). Addressing loss of control in chronic illness: Theory and practice. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 35, 325-335. doi:10.1037/h0087638
- Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology & Health, 15*, 215-228. doi:10.1080/08870440008400302

## **Section Four – Ethics Section**

Word Count: 3,522 (excluding appendices)

Jess Smith

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

Division of Health Research, Lancaster University

All correspondence should be sent to: Jess Smith c/o Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Health Innovation One Sir John Fisher Drive Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4AT United Kingdom j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk

## **Ethics Form**

Faculty of Health and Medicine Research Ethics Committee (FHMREC)

Lancaster University

Application for Ethical Approval for Research

Guidance on completing this form is also available as a word document

**Title of Project**: The Impact of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Personal and Social Identity

Name of applicant/researcher: Jess Smith

ACP ID number (if applicable)\*: N/A

Funding source (if applicable) N/A

Grant code (if applicable): N/A

\*If your project has *not* been costed on ACP, you will also need to complete the Governance Checklist [link].

## Type of study

Involves existing documents/data only, or the evaluation of an existing project with no direct contact with human participants. **Complete sections one**, *two* and four of this form

Includes *direct* involvement by human subjects. Complete sections one, *three* and four of this form

## SECTION ONE

**1. Appointment/position held by applicant and Division within FHM:** Trainee Clinical Psychologist; Division of Health Research

## 2. Contact information for applicant:

E-mail: j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk

**Telephone**: 07575 950959

Address: c/o Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Furness College, Lancaster University, LA1 4YG

# Names and appointments of all members of the research team (including degree where applicable):

Dr Craig Murray, Senior Lecturer, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Lancaster University Dr Fiona Eccles, Lecturer, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Lancaster University Dr Richard Johnson, Consultant Clinical Psychologist, Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust

**3. If this is a student project, please indicate what type of project** by marking the relevant box/deleting as appropriate:

DClinPsy Thesis 🛛

**4. Project supervisor(s), if different from applicant**: Dr Craig Murray; Dr Fiona Eccles; Dr Richard Johnson

**5.** Appointment held by supervisor(s) and institution(s) where based (if applicable): See above (question 2).

## SECTION THREE

## Complete this section if your project includes *direct* involvement by human subjects.

**1. Summary of research protocol in lay terms (indicative maximum length 150 words):** Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) is a pain condition with an estimated incidence of 26.2 cases per 100,000 person-years (de Mos et al., 2007). Symptoms can include pain, swelling, tremors, and changes in hair and nail growth, amongst others. There is no known cure.

Research has found that long-term health conditions have an impact on the individual's personal and social identities – that is, how they see themselves, and how they perceive they are seen by others (e.g. Siegel & Lekas, 2002). This, in turn, can contribute to feelings of distress. CRPS differs from other health conditions in several important ways, and so it is unclear whether and how it may affect patients' identities.

The proposed research project therefore plans to conduct interviews investigating the impact of living with CRPS on people's personal and social identities; it is hoped this will contribute to an understanding of what it is like to live with CRPS, and thereby to improvements to care provided to these individuals.

## 2. Anticipated project dates (month and year only)

Start date: July 2020 End date: July 2021 (data collection proposed to be completed by end August 2020; projected end date allows time for examination, viva, any amendments, and preparation for publication if appropriate)

## **Data Collection and Management**

*For additional guidance on data management, please go to* <u>Research Data Management</u> *webpage, or email the RDM support email:* <u>rdm@lancaster.ac.uk</u>

# **3.** Please describe the sample of participants to be studied (including maximum & minimum number, age, gender):

A minimum of three and maximum of six participants will be recruited. This is based on the Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) approach used, an idiographic approach which recommends small, homogenous samples with a focus on individual voices. Studies with these numbers of participants are considered appropriate for a doctoral-level research project (Smith, Flowers & Larkin, 2009). With regards publication, it is not unheard of for single-case studies to be published (e.g. Eatough & Smith, 2006), and studies with small numbers of participants are frequently published (e.g. Wilde & Murray, 2009).

To be eligible to participate, individuals must:

Be aged 18 years or over;

Having had a formal diagnosis (given by a qualified medical practitioner, as opposed to selfdiagnosed) of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) for a minimum of 12 months (self-
reported, as it will not be possible to verify this);

Be able to complete an interview in English (as sufficient funding is not available for interpreters);

Be able to give informed consent to participate (individuals with major cognitive impairment (for example severe learning disability) will therefore be excluded).

**4. How will participants be recruited and from where?** *Be as specific as possible. Ensure that you provide the full versions of all recruitment materials you intend to use with this application (e.g., adverts, flyers, posters).* 

Two recruitment paths may be used:

1. Potential participants have been identified from an internet search for blogs and blog posts relating to CRPS, and contacted via a scoping email – this has only been possible where contact details have been shared on the blogs identified. It has been highlighted that ethical approval has not yet been granted, and these individuals have been asked to express potential interest only. Three expressions of interest have been received so far. Further information (e.g. Participant Information Sheet) will be shared once ethical approval is granted, to allow them to make an informed decision.

If sufficient participants are not recruited via path one above, the below will be used as a next step in recruitment:

2. Adverts will be posted on social media (including the Recruitment Poster) and shared with relevant CRPS charities/organisations, inviting interested individuals to make contact for further information about the research project. The Participant Information Sheet will then be shared, to enable them to make an informed decision about whether to participate.

Recruitment will be closed at the end of August, unless the minimum number of participants (3) have not been recruited. Any additional individuals making contact after this point will be thanked for their interest and informed that recruitment has now been closed.

If sufficient participants cannot be recruited via these means, blog posts relating to CRPS written by participants recruited in step 1 above may also be included in the analysis, where participants have given consent for this. The use of blog posts alone is not considered sufficient due to their limited tailoring to the research question.

Given the timescale of the project, repeat interviews (i.e. multiple interviews with the same participant) are not considered appropriate; this is because IPA would generally require there to be a significant amount of time between interviews whereby developments or change is likely to occur.

# 5. Briefly describe your data collection and analysis methods, and the rationale for their use.

Data will be collected through an individual interview with each participant. Interviews will be conducted via telephone or the participant's video calling software of choice (e.g. Microsoft Teams, Skype, Zoom, or similar). Given that participants will be recruited online, it is assumed that they will have access to the internet. An interview guide will be used to guide the questions asked; it is anticipated that interviews will last around 60-90 minutes per participant. Interviews will be video- or audio-recorded for later transcription and analysis. As discussed above, if the minimum number of participants cannot be recruited, blog posts written by participants may also be included in the analysis, where consent is given to do so.

Given the research question's focus on participants' experiences, an Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) approach will be taken to data analysis. Interviews will be transcribed by the student researcher, and the transcripts used to create codes or themes of common experiences.

6. What plan is in place for the storage, back-up, security and documentation of data (electronic, digital, paper, etc.)? Note who will be responsible for deleting the data at the end of the storage period. Please ensure that your plans comply with General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the (UK) Data Protection Act 2018. For the duration of the research project, data will be stored electronically on the university's secure encrypted server or in university-approved cloud-based storage.

Data (including typed transcripts of interviews) will be retained by the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme's research administration team for a period of ten years. Data will be transferred to the administration team using a secure university-approved procedure. Following the retention period, the data will be deleted by the administration team under the supervision of the research supervisors.

7. Will audio or video recording take place?	no no	🛛 audio	🛛 video	
a. Please confirm that portable devices (laptop	, USB drive	etc) will be encry	pted where	
they are used for identifiable data. If it is not possible to encrypt your portable devices,				
please comment on the steps you will take to prot	ect the data.			

Dependent upon the software chosen by the participant, video may be recorded using inapplication features (e.g. recording directly within Microsoft Teams). These files will be stored on the university's secure encrypted server or University-approved secure cloud storage.

Should this not be an option (that is, if the interview is completed in a program without this facility), audio will be recorded using a digital audio recorder; this device cannot be encrypted, and data will therefore be transferred, as soon as practicable following completion of each interview, to the university's secure encrypted server or University-approved secure cloud storage. It is anticipated that this should be possible immediately following completion of each interview, however should there be any delay the audio recorder will be kept with the researcher at all times between completion of interview and upload of data.

# b. What arrangements have been made for audio/video data storage? At what point in the research will tapes/digital recordings/files be destroyed?

Video and/or audio recordings of interviews will be stored on the university's secure encrypted server or university-approved secure cloud storage until the research has been examined; at this point, the audio files will be deleted. Video and/or audio recordings of consent will be stored by the programme research administration team for a period of ten years; these will be stored separately from other data including transcriptions of interviews.

Please answer the following questions *only* if you have not completed a Data Management Plan for an external funder.

**8a. How will you share and preserve the data underpinning your publications for at least 10 years, e.g. PURE?** Data (including transcripts of interviews) will be stored in electronic format by the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme's administration team. Data will be transferred electronically using a secure method that is supported by the university. It will then be stored on the university's secure encrypted server, or in university-approved secure cloud storage, as per usual course procedures.

8b. Are there any restrictions on sharing your data?

Due to the small sample size, even after full anonymisation there is a risk that participants may be identified from their interviews. Therefore, full transcripts will only be shared on request with genuine researchers.

#### 9. Consent

a. Will you take all necessary steps to obtain the voluntary and informed consent of the prospective participant(s) or, in the case of individual(s) not capable of giving informed consent, the permission of a legally authorised representative in accordance with applicable law? yes

# b. Detail the procedure you will use for obtaining consent?

Participants will be provided with the Participant Information Sheet and the Consent Form, a minimum of 48 hours before the interview is scheduled to take place. Participants will be given opportunity to ask any questions before consenting to interview. Once any questions have been answered to the participant's satisfaction, the Consent Form will be read aloud, one statement at a time, and the participant asked to verbally agree to each section. This process will be audio-recorded separately from the rest of the interview. Recordings of consent will be stored separately from all other data including interview recordings and transcripts, on the university's secure encrypted server or in university-approved secure cloud storage. Written signatures will not be requested due to the remote nature of the interview and the difficulties participants may have accessing printers, scanners etc. to facilitate this.

# **10.** What discomfort (including psychological e.g. distressing or sensitive topics), inconvenience, or danger could be caused by participation in the project? *Please*

indicate plans to address these potential risks. State the timescales within which participants may withdraw from the study, noting your reasons.

No major discomfort or distress is anticipated from participation in this project; however, it is possible that participants will find it upsetting to talk about their health condition and the impact that this has had on their life. As far as possible, this will be managed within the interview by the interviewer, who is a trainee clinical psychologist. Should a participant become distressed during their interview, they will be offered the opportunity to pause or discontinue the interview. A safety plan will be agreed at the beginning of the interview,

which will include someone (e.g. a friend or family member) the researcher can contact should the participant become distressed. If necessary, participants will be directed to appropriate sources of support. All participants will also be provided with a debrief sheet to direct them to appropriate resources and sources of support (including their GP/family doctor, and charities relevant to CRPS) should they experience any distress after the interview has ended.

Participants will be able to withdraw their participation at any time before or during the interview, and for two weeks following completion of the interview. Beyond this point, transcription and analysis will have commenced, and it may not be possible to retrieve data. Participants who withdraw consent during the interview will be asked whether they wish to withdraw data already collected, in which case all recordings will be deleted immediately. If participants are happy for data collected so far to be retained, they will be reminded of their right to withdraw their data within two weeks.

**11. What potential risks may exist for the researcher(s)?** *Please indicate plans to address such risks (for example, noting the support available to you; counselling considerations arising from the sensitive or distressing nature of the research/topic; details of the lone worker plan you will follow, and the steps you will take).* 

No direct risks to the researcher are anticipated due to the remote nature of the interviews. However, it is possible that the nature of the material discussed during interviews may cause distress; this will be managed via regular supervision with the research supervisors.

# 12. Whilst we do not generally expect direct benefits to participants as a result of this research, please state here any that result from completion of the study.

No direct benefits to participants are anticipated. However, it is hoped that participants will find taking part interesting and rewarding. In addition, the research may contribute to improved care for people with CRPS in the future.

# **13.** Details of any incentives/payments (including out-of-pocket expenses) made to participants:

Participants will not be paid to take part. Given the remote methods of data collection, it is not anticipated that any expenses will be incurred. It is possible that not all potential participants will have access to video calling equipment (e.g. webcam/microphone), however given the recruitment strategy which focuses on online activity, this is considered unlikely.

# 14. Confidentiality and Anonymity

a. Will you take the necessary steps to assure the anonymity of subjects, including in subsequent publications?

yes

b. Please include details of how the confidentiality and anonymity of participants will be ensured, and the limits to confidentiality.

Interviews will be conducted remotely via the most convenient means for the participant, which may include Microsoft Teams, Zoom, Skype, or similar. New accounts will be created

for any platforms used, and these accounts will only be used for the purposes of this research project. Participants will be informed that the internet cannot be guaranteed to be a completely secure means of communication.

Interviews will be anonymised as they are transcribed by the student researcher, with potential identifying information such as names and locations removed.

Anonymised quotations from interviews will be used within the final report; total confidentiality therefore cannot be assured. It is possible, given the relative rarity of CRPS, that participants could be recognised by people who know them from the quotations used. Participants will be made aware of this risk before they consent to participate. In addition, if blog posts are included in the analysis, it will not be possible to assure anonymity due to the public nature of blogs (it would be possible to identify the blogs through an internet search). Participants will be made aware of this fact before consenting to participate, and will be given the option to consent to interview only and *not* to inclusion of their blog posts in analysis. This will apply only to participants recruited through their published blogs/blog posts relating to CRPS.

# 15. If relevant, describe the involvement of your target participant group in the *design and conduct* of your research.

Feedback on participant materials (including adverts, information sheet, consent form, debrief and interview guide) was provided by clinicians – a clinical psychologist and a physiotherapist – working with individuals with CRPS. CRPS charities were also contacted to seek feedback from individuals with CRPS, but unfortunately none were forthcoming.

# **16. What are the plans for dissemination of findings from the research?** If you are a student, include here your thesis.

Data will be seen only by members of the research team including the student and supervisors.

In terms of dissemination, the research project will form part of the applicant's thesis. A presentation on the thesis project will be given to members of the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology department and other interested parties.

In addition, publication will be sought in appropriate academic and/or professional journal(s) so that findings can contribute to improvements in the care of the target population.

# 17. What particular ethical considerations, not previously noted on this application, do you think there are in the proposed study?

Given the remote nature of interviews, consideration has been given to the best approach to take with regards to any issues of risk which may be raised during the interviews, e.g. participants disclosing thoughts of harming themselves or others. This is not considered a likely outcome but is possible if the interview raises distressing feelings for the participant. The interviewer would seek to manage this within the interview e.g. by making a safety plan with the participant at the start of the interview, including whom the researcher might contact in the case of distress.

In terms of the potential to include blog posts and the implications this will have for maintenance of participants' anonymity, participants will be made aware of these implications, and offered the option to consent to interview only, to use of their blog posts only, or to interview *and* use of their blog posts. This will be stated clearly in the audio/video recorded consent. In addition, in the write-up of the research, any blog posts used in the analysis will not be referred to as 'blogs'; instead, these will be referred to as 'written reports of experiences'.

# **SECTION FOUR: signature**

Applicant electronic signature:Jess SmithDate 13/05/2020Student applicants:please tick to confirm that your supervisor has reviewed your application,<br/>and that they are happy for the application to proceed to ethical reviewImage: Constraint of the application of

#### **Submission Guidance**

#### 1. Submit your FHMREC application <u>by email</u> to Becky Case

(fhmresearchsupport@lancaster.ac.uk) as two separate documents:

# i. FHMREC application form.

Before submitting, ensure all guidance comments are hidden by going into 'Review' in the menu above then choosing *show markup>balloons>show all revisions in line*.

# ii. Supporting materials.

Collate the **following materials for your study, if relevant, into a single word document:** 

- a. Your full research proposal (background, literature review, methodology/methods, ethical considerations).
- b. Advertising materials (posters, e-mails)
- c. Letters/emails of invitation to participate
- d. Participant information sheets
- e. Consent forms
- f. Questionnaires, surveys, demographic sheets
- g. Interview schedules, interview question guides, focus group scripts
- h. Debriefing sheets, resource lists

# Please note that you DO NOT need to submit pre-existing measures or handbooks which support your work, but which cannot be amended following ethical review. These should simply be referred to in your application form.

2. Submission deadlines:

i.Projects including direct involvement of human subjects [section 3 of the form was completed]. The *electronic* version of your application should be submitted to <u>Becky Case</u> by the committee deadline date. Committee meeting dates and application submission dates are listed on t/he <u>FHMREC website</u>. Prior to the FHMREC meeting you may be

contacted by the lead reviewer for further clarification of your application. Please ensure you are available to attend the committee meeting (either in person or via telephone) on the day that your application is considered, if required to do so.

ii. The following projects will normally be dealt with via chair's action, and may be submitted at any time. [Section 3 of the form has *not* been completed, and is not required]. Those involving:

- a. existing documents/data only;
- b. the evaluation of an existing project with no direct contact with human participants;
- c. service evaluations.

# 3. <u>You must submit this application from your Lancaster University email address, and</u> <u>copy your supervisor into the email in which you submit this application</u>

#### Appendices

#### **Appendix 4-A: Research Protocol**

# The Impact of Chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Personal and Social Identity

#### Applicant: Jess Smith

 Supervisors: Dr Craig Murray (Senior Lecturer, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Lancaster University);
 Dr Fiona Eccles (Lecturer, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Lancaster University);
 Dr Richard Johnson (Consultant Clinical Psychologist, Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust)

#### Introduction

#### What is CRPS?

Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) is a pain condition with an estimated incidence of 26.2 cases per 100,000 person-years (de Mos et al., 2007); in approximately 15-20% of cases, the condition lasts beyond twelve months, at which point it is considered chronic (Royal College of Physicians (RCP), 2018). Women are 3-4 times more likely to be affected than men (Castillo-Guzmán et al., 2015). The condition is present across the lifespan (Borchers & Gershwin, 2014), though average age of onset has been reported as 43 (Sandroni et al., 2003); onset generally follows a physical trauma to the affected limb, for example a sprain, fracture or surgery (Birklein et al., 2015).

Symptoms of CRPS include sensory (such as pain, hypersensitivity or burning sensation as well as reduced sensitivity to heat or cold), motor (for example tremors and reduced range of motion), trophic (changes in growth rates of hair and nails, atrophy of the skin), and autonomic (including changes in sweating, skin colour or skin temperature, as well as swelling) symptoms (Birklein et al., 2015; Drummond, 2010; RCP, 2018). Symptoms generally affect one limb, though have sometimes been reported to spread to other body parts (Drummond, 2010).

CRPS is sub-classified based on the presence of nerve damage; CRPS Type I is diagnosed in the absence of nerve damage, whilst CRPS Type II requires evidence of nerve damage. A third category, CRPS Not Otherwise Specified (CRPS-NOS) reflects patients previously diagnosed with CRPS but no longer meeting full diagnostic criteria (e.g. some symptoms have resolved but pain continues), as well as those who do not fully meet diagnostic criteria but whose symptoms cannot be better explained by another diagnosis (RCP, 2018).

There is currently no known cure for CRPS, and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) do not make any recommendations for its treatment, citing insufficient evidence (O'Connell et al., 2013). The National Health Service (NHS) recommends a combination of physical rehabilitation, pain relief, psychological support, and education and self-management to manage symptoms of CRPS (NHS, n.d.). The RCP also includes psychological support amongst its recommendations for long-term management of CRPS (RCP, 2018). This interdisciplinary approach is supported in the literature, e.g. Sahli et al. (2013).

#### How do chronic health/pain conditions impact identity?

The term 'personal identity' refers to an individual's sense of self and of one's past, present and future (Ellis-Hill & Horn, 2000); 'social identity', meanwhile, is an individual's understanding of themselves as a member of social category(ies) or group(s) (Stets & Burke, 2000). Chronic illness has been found to impact upon identity, with the diagnosis of a chronic condition tending to cause alteration in both personal and social identity (Siegel & Lekas, 2002). Bury (1982) discussed the concept of chronic illness as biographical disruption, whilst Charmaz (1983) described loss of self as "a fundamental form of suffering in the chronically ill". Smith and Osborn (2007) describe chronic pain as an "assault on the self", discussing the way their participants' identities were deteriorated by their chronic pain.

Chronic illness can impact upon identity constructs through its disruption of relationships and activities considered important by the individual – for example, Adams et al. (1997) discuss the social stigma around a diagnosis of asthma and the lengths to which some of their participants went to avoid seeing themselves as asthmatic, including avoiding activities which they previously enjoyed; Wisdom et al. (2008) considered how internalisation of negative social responses can alter personal identity. Charmaz (1983) wrote about the loss of former self-image, without the opportunity to develop a valued new one – often accumulating over time as a chronic condition goes on, leading to increasing impact on personal identity. Alongside this, reduced ability to work, pursue hobbies, and maintain relationships can also impact on the social identity (Charmaz, 1983). Indeed, Charmaz states that people exist as social beings and so any impact on one's social identity is bound to impact one's personal identity also.

More specifically relating to chronic pain, Crowe et al. (2010) identified that chronic lower back pain affected participants' sense of self, discussed within their theme 'The alteration to sense of self'. Within this theme Crowe et al. spoke about how the pain had affected not only participants' lifestyles (activities, career etc.) but also their self-image. They discussed a sense of tension around how participants viewed themselves, in contrast with how they wished to be. Similarly, Toye et al. (2013) discuss the struggle to hold on to the 'real me' faced by patients with chronic pain, and how this impacts on relationships with the self and with others.

#### How does CRPS differ from other chronic conditions including chronic pain?

CRPS is relatively unique amongst chronic health and pain conditions; unlike conditions such as AIDS or cancer, it is not life-threatening, and it is much less well-known than many other chronic conditions such as diabetes or arthritis. Unlike the majority of chronic pain conditions, visible changes are present alongside the pain in CRPS, for example swelling and changes in skin colouring – visible difference has been reported to contribute to impact upon identity (Jacoby et al., 2005). Furthermore, the pain is accompanied by additional symptoms in CRPS including motor symptoms such as paralysis, involuntary movements, or neglect (van Hilten, 2010) – yet there is no clear organic cause as in other conditions with similar symptoms, such as stroke.

#### Why is research required?

Research into the experiences and beliefs of patients with CRPS (Louw et al., 2018) found that overall, patients have a poor understanding of CRPS, how it is treated, and what the future may hold for them. There was widespread confusion amongst patients, many of whom had received conflicting information regarding their condition. For example, around two-thirds of patients reported having a dual diagnosis of CRPS and Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy (RSD; a former name for CRPS Type I), despite it being more than twenty years since the condition was re-classified (Stanton-Hicks et al., 1995). It is unclear what consequence this poor understanding of CRPS has in terms of its impact on identity for individuals with CRPS.

The role of identity has been highlighted in recovery in a variety of conditions including mental illnesses (Wisdom et al., 2008), diabetes (Luyckx et al., 2008) and CFS (Larun & Malterud, 2007). For example, Wisdom et al. (2008) found that people with diagnoses of severe mental illness experienced a 'loss of self', and difficulty distinguishing between 'old' and 'new' selves. A review by Yu et al. (2015) found that negative self-evaluation impacts on daily functioning in people suffering from chronic pain, whereas a sense of self aside from the chronic pain is associated with better daily functioning.

An understanding of how CRPS impacts on identity may therefore inform how these individuals are supported (e.g. Asbring, 2001). As Crowe et al. (2010) discussed, exploring what a condition means to a patient may contribute to improvements in quality of life, as well as contributing to a therapeutic relationship by allowing validation of experiences. Furthermore, Yu et al. (2015) discussed the role that the self plays in therapeutic approaches including mindfulness, self-compassion, and psychological flexibility; an understanding of how CRPS impacts on the self may therefore be central to effective use of these approaches.

In particular, coming to terms with a new identity may be an important part of managing CRPS. For example, Luyckx et al. (2008) found that development of a strong sense of identity contributed to coping with a chronic condition (in this case, diabetes) and more favourable outcomes, whereas failure to develop a strong sense of identity was linked with unhelpful illness-related coping strategies and poorer outcomes. Luyckx et al. therefore argued that interventions should include assisting individuals to integrate the illness into their self-definition.

#### **Current Study**

The aim of this research project is to explore patients' experiences of CRPS (Type I or Type II) and the impact the condition has had upon their personal and social identity. There is a paucity of research on the lived experience of patients with CRPS (Butler, 2015), and the impact this may have on their personal and social identity. The proposed study therefore aims to contribute to understanding of this, with a view to informing the support clinical psychologists working with these individuals are able to offer. The main research question is:

What is the impact of chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on patients' personal and social identity?

#### Method

#### **Participants**

Participants will be adults aged 18 years or older, who self-report having had a diagnosis of CRPS (Type I or Type II) for at least twelve months. Participants will be

recruited via two main pathways:

1. Authors of blogs relating to CRPS will be contacted (via email or on-site contact forms) to introduce the research and invite them to participate;

If sufficient participants are not recruited via the above pathway, then the below approach will be taken:

2. A recruitment poster will be shared on Twitter, inviting interested individuals with CRPS to make contact via email.

Once potential participants have expressed interest, they will be sent the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form via email. They will be given time to read these and encouraged to ask any questions, before deciding whether to take part.

Given the Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) methodology, a minimum of three and maximum of six participants will be recruited; as discussed in Smith, Larkin & Flowers (2009), small homogenous samples are considered optimum for IPA. Blog posts written by participants recruited via step one above may also be included in analysis, should it not be possible to recruit sufficient numbers of participants via the above methods; consent will be sought for this at the time of interview.

#### Design

The study will use a qualitative methodology informed by an IPA approach (e.g. Smith, Flowers & Larkin, 2009). An individual semi-structured interview will be conducted with each participant. This will be audio-recorded and then transcribed by the student researcher, prior to analysis.

#### **Materials**

An interview schedule will be used to guide interviews with participants; further details are given below.

#### Procedure

When participants contact the student researcher to express interest (either via direct response to an invitation email, or by making contact via email in response to an advertisement shared on Twitter), they will be sent the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form via email. Participants will be encouraged to ask any questions before deciding whether to take part.

Interviews will not be scheduled until at least 48 hours after the Participant Information Sheet has been received by each participant, to allow sufficient time for them to be read. If they are happy to participate, a convenient time and means of interview will be agreed.

Interviews will take place remotely via video conferencing software such as Microsoft Teams, Zoom, or Skype – depending upon each participant's preference. Verbal consent will be gained by reading out each item from the consent form for the participant to verbally agree. The participant will then be asked to give overall verbal consent to take part. This process will be audio-recorded separately to the rest of the interview.

Interviews will be video and/or audio-recorded to allow for later transcription and analysis. Should a participant not wish for their interview to be recorded, it will not be possible for them to take part as it would not be possible to analyse their data in line with IPA processes. Interviews will follow a broad schedule of open questions exploring participants' experiences of living with CRPS and how this has impacted upon their identity.

A debrief sheet will be emailed to each participant at the end of their interview. This will give details of potential sources of support in the event of any distress following the interview.

Participants will be asked if they would like to receive a copy of the finished research project, and details taken (email address) to allow the student researcher to send this if desired. These details will be stored separately to all other information, to protect participants' confidentiality. Data storage is discussed in more detail in the 'Ethical Concerns' section below.

#### **Proposed Analysis**

The interviews will be video or audio recorded and transcribed to allow for analysis. Analysis will follow an IPA methodology as described by Smith et al. (2009). IPA seeks to understand participants' experiences of the phenomenon under investigation, both individually as well as in terms of patterns of convergence and divergence.

If blog posts are to be included alongside interview transcriptions, additional consent from the authors will be sought for this. Guidance for this process will be taken from Thomas, Allison and Latour (2017), who used blogs as a means of exploring the lived experience of life after stroke.

IPA has been selected as an appropriate approach to analysis given the phenomenological nature of the research question; that is, it focuses on participants' subjective experiences of CRPS and how this has affected them personally. IPA seeks to understand participants' experiences in their own terms, rather than trying to fit them into a pre-determined model or theory (Smith & Osborn, 2015).

Once the interviews have been transcribed, the student researcher will commence analysis following the steps set out by Smith et al. (2009). The researcher will begin by reading and re-reading each transcript to familiarise themselves with the data. Initial notes and observations will be made through this process. This leads into the next step, initial noting, wherein points of interest within the data are highlighted, and detailed notes and comments are made. These comments may be descriptive in nature, or they may concern the participants' use of language, building into more conceptual comments. Next, emergent themes will be developed, before the next case is analysed. Finally, the researcher will look for themes across the participants and make interpretations from these.

#### **Practical Issues**

It is possible that there may be some difficulty in recruiting, given the relative rarity of CRPS which means the potential pool of participants is quite small. However, given the relatively small number of participants required for this type of research, it is anticipated that the recruitment methods described above should allow recruitment of sufficient numbers of participants to suit the IPA method. As discussed above, blog posts may also be included in the analysis should recruitment prove more difficult than anticipated.

#### **Ethical Concerns**

#### Confidentiality

All data will be stored electronically on the university's secure encrypted server or in university-approved secure cloud storage. All identifying or personal data (e.g. names and email addresses) will be stored separately from interview transcripts in password-protected files. Audio-recorded verbal consent will be stored separately from all interview data. Confidentiality will be discussed with each participant prior to their interview. This will include explaining the circumstances in which confidentiality may be broken – if the researcher has concerns that the participant, or someone else, may be at risk.

Given that participants will possibly be completing the interviews from home, they will be encouraged to find a quiet, private space where they are not likely to be interrupted and where they feel comfortable to discuss personal matters such as their health. **Anonymity** 

Complete confidentiality cannot be assured given that quotations from interviews will be used in the write-up of the research project; however, such quotations will be anonymised as far as possible. Interviews will be anonymised at the point of transcription, with potential identifiers removed. No individually identifying data will be used in the write-up of the study. However, given the relative rarity of the condition, there is a small chance that participants may be recognised from their quotations by people who know them. Participants will be made aware of this risk before deciding whether they wish to take part.

If participants' blog posts are included in analysis, they may also be identifiable from these – particularly given the public availability of these blogs. Participants will be made aware of this risk prior to agreeing to take part in the research; they will be given the option to consent to interview *only* if they are not willing for their blog posts to be included, or to inclusion of blog posts *only* if they do not wish to be interviewed.

#### **Distress Management**

It is possible that talking about their condition and its impact may be distressing for some participants. If this arises, it will be addressed by the student researcher (Jess Smith, trainee clinical psychologist) during the interview; the participant will be offered the choice to pause or discontinue the interview and the researcher will address any issues raised. The researcher will offer to call someone for the participant, if appropriate; this person may be a friend or family member, for example, and will be agreed between the participant and researcher at the beginning of the interview. In addition, all participants will be provided with resources in their information sheet and debrief, in case of any distress arising after the interview has finished.

#### **Data Storage**

All interviews will be video- or audio-recorded to allow for later transcription and analysis. Once each interview is completed, audio recordings will be transferred from the portable audio recorder to Lancaster University's secure network drive or secure cloud storage as soon as possible, since the portable device cannot be encrypted. The file will then be deleted from the audio recorder. Video recordings will be uploaded directly to the secure network drive or secure cloud storage. Given the remote nature of the interviews, it is anticipated that this will be done immediately following completion of the interview, however for any time period between interviewing and uploading the recording, the portable device will be stored securely and kept with the student researcher. All other portable devices used for data storage (e.g. laptops, memory sticks) will be encrypted.

All electronic documents will be password-protected and stored securely on Lancaster University's encrypted network drive or university-approved secure cloud storage.

Once the research is completed, video and audio recordings of interviews will be deleted, and the anonymised transcriptions of interviews will be transferred electronically to

the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Research Co-Ordinator using a secure method supported by the University. These transcripts will be stored for 10 years before being deleted; the Research Co-Ordinator will be instructed with a date of when to delete the transcripts.

Files containing participants' personal or identifying information will be kept in a password-protected file, separate from the anonymised transcripts. An ID number will be used to match participants' identifying information to their transcripts. Video or audio recordings of consent will be held by the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme for ten years following completion of the research; these will be transferred electronically using a secure method, and stored separately to other data. All other personal information will be deleted within six months of the research being completed.

#### **Safety of Researchers**

No direct risk of harm to the researcher is anticipated, given the remote nature of interviews. However, the nature of topics discussed within the interviews may lead to distress for the interviewer; this will be managed within supervision with the research supervisors. **Informed Consent** 

Potential participants will be given information about the nature and purpose of the research. They will be given opportunity to ask any questions, before deciding whether to take part. A minimum of 48 hours will be allowed to consider the information before each participant decides. It will also be made clear (on the information sheet and verbally) that participants can withdraw their data up to two weeks following their interview.

Thiescale		
May 2020	Preparation of Ethics materials; submission to University	
March-May 2020	Write-up of Introduction and Methods sections	
July 2020	Recruitment, data collection and transcription	
July-September 2020	Data analysis (alongside collection)	
September 2020	Write-up of Results and Discussion sections	
September 2020	Draft submission	
October 2020	Amendments based on draft	
October 2020	Final submission	

Timescale

#### References

- Adams, S., Pill, R., & Jones, A. (1997). Medication, chronic illness and identity: the perspective of people with asthma. *Social Science & Medicine*, *45*, 189 201.
- Asbring, P. (2001). Chronic illness a disruption in life. Identity transformation among women with chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *34*, 312 319.
- Birklein, F., O'Neill, D., & Schlereth, T. (2015). Complex regional pain syndrome: An optimistic perspective. *Neurology*, 84, 89 96. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000001095
- Borchers, A. T., & Gershwin, M. E. (2014). Complex regional pain syndrome: A comprehensive and critical review. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 13, 242 265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2013.10.006</u>
- Bury (1982). Chronic illness as biographical disruption. *Sociology of Health and Illness, 4*, 167 182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.ep11339939</u>
- Castillo-Guzmán, A., Nava-Obregón, T. A., Palacios-Ríos, D., Estrada-Cortinas, J. Á., Gonzáles-García, M. C., Mendez-Guerra, J. F., & Gonzáles-Santiago, O. (2015).
   Complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), a review. *Medicina Universitaria*, 17(67), 114 – 121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmu.2015.03.003</u>
- Charmaz K. (1983). Loss of self: a fundamental form of suffering in the chronically ill. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, *5*, 168 – 195.
- Crowe, M., Whitehead, L., Gagan, M. J., Baxter, G. D., Pankhurst, A., & Valledor, V. (2010). Listening to the body and talking to myself – the impact of chronic lower back pain: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 47, 586 – 592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.09.012</u>
- de Mos, M., de Brujin, A. G. J., Huygen, F. J. P. M., Dieleman, J. P., Stricker, B. H. Ch., & Sturkenboom, M. C. J. M. (2007). The incidence of complex regional pain syndrome: A population-based study. *Pain*, 129, 12 – 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2006.09.008</u>
- Drummond, P. (2010). Sensory disturbances in Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: Clinical observations, autonomic interactions, and possible mechanisms. *Pain Medicine*, *11*, 1257 1266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2010.00912.x</u>
- Ellis-Hill, C. S., & Horn, S. (2000). Change in identity and self-concept: A new theoretical approach to recovery following a stroke. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *14*, 279 287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/026921500671231410</u>
- Jacoby, A., Snape, D., & Baker, G. A. (2005). Epilepsy and social identity: the stigma of a chronic neurological disorder. *The Lancet Neurology*, 4, 171 – 178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(05)01014-8</u>
- Larun, L., & Malterud, K. (2007). Identity and coping experiences in chronic fatigue syndrome: a synthesis of qualitative studies. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 69, 20 – 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2007.06.008</u>
- Louw, A., Zimney, K., Cox, T., O'Hotto, C., & Wassinger, C. A. (2018). The experiences and beliefs of patients with complex regional pain syndrome: An exploratory survey study. *Chronic Illness*, *14*(2), 104 118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1742395317709329</u>

- Luyckx, K., Seiffge-Krenke, I., Schwartz, S. J., Goossens, L., Weets, I., Hendrieckx, C., & Groven, C. (2008). Identity development, coping, and adjustment in emerging adults with chronic illness: The sample case of Type 1 Diabetes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 43, 451 – 458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.04.005</u>
- National Health Service (n.d.) Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: Treatment. https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/complex-regional-pain-syndrome/treatment/
- O'Connell, N. E., Wand, B. M., McAuley, J., Marston, L., & Moseley, G. L. (2013). Interventions for treating pain and disability in adults with complex regional pain syndrome: An overview of systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009416.pub2</u>
- Royal College of Physicians (2018). *Complex regional pain syndrome in adults: UK guidelines for diagnosis, referral and management in primary and secondary care.* London, UK: Royal College of Physicians.
- Sahli, F., Monroe, F., Staab, J., & Manion, S. (2013). The interdisciplinary management of complex regional pain syndrome. *Techniques in Regional Anesthesia and Pain Management*, 17, 168 – 173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.trap.2014.07.004</u>
- Sandroni, P., Benrud-Larson, L. M., McLelland, R. L., & Low, P. A. (2003). Complex regional pain syndrome type I: Incidence and prevalence in Olmsted county, a population-based study. *Pain*, 103, 199 – 207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959%2803%2900065-4</u>
- Siegel, K., & Lekas, H.-M. (2002). AIDS as a chronic illness: psychosocial implications. *AIDS*, *16*, S69 – S76.
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, method and research.* London, UK: Sage.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2007). Pain as an assault on the self: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of the psychological impact of chronic benign low back pain. *Psychology and Health*, 22, 517 – 534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14768320600941756</u>
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British Journal of Pain*, 9, 41 – 42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463714541642</u>
- Stanton-Hicks, M., Jänig, W., Hassenbusch, S., Haddox, J. D., Boas, R., & Wilson, P. (1995). Reflex sympathetic dystrophy: Changing concepts and taxonomy. *Pain*, 63, 127 – 133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(95)00110-E</u>
- Stets, J. W., & Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity theory and social identity theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63, 224 – 237. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2695870</u>
- Thomas, C. M., Allison, R., & Latour, J. M. (2017). Using blogs to explore the livedexperience of life after stroke: "A journey of discovery I never wanted to take". *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74, 579 – 590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13457</u>
- Toye, F., Seers, K., Allcock, N., Briggs, M., Carr, E., Andrews, J., & Barker, K. (2013). A meta-ethnography of patients' experience of chronic non-malignant musculoskeletal pain. *Health Services and Delivery Research*, 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.3310/hsdr01120</u>
- van Hilten, J. J. (2010). Movement disorders in complex regional pain syndrome. *Pain Medicine*, *11*, 1274 1277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2010.00916.x</u>

- Wisdom, J. P., Bruce, K., Saedi, G. A., Weis, T., & Green, C. A. (2008). 'Stealing me from myself': Identity and recovery in personal accounts of mental illness. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42, 489 – 495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00048670802050579</u>
- Yu, L., Norton, S., Harrison, A., & McCracken, L. M. (2015). In search of the person in pain: A systematic review of conceptualization, assessment methods and evidence for self and identity in chronic pain. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 4, 246 – 262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2015.10.003</u>

#### **Appendix 4-B: Ethics Committee Approval Letter**



Applicant: Jess Smith Supervisor: Craig Murray and Fiona Eccles Department: DHR DClinPhys FHMREC Reference: FHMREC19106

25 June 2020

#### Re: FHMREC19106

The Impact of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Personal and Social Identity

Dear Jess Smith,

Thank you for submitting your research ethics application for the above project for review by the Faculty of Health and Medicine Research Ethics Committee (FHMREC). The application was recommended for approval by FHMREC, and on behalf of the Chair of the Committee, I can confirm that approval has been granted for the amendment to this research project.

As principal investigator your responsibilities include:

- ensuring that (where applicable) all the necessary legal and regulatory requirements in order to conduct the research are met, and the necessary licenses and approvals have been obtained;
- reporting any ethics-related issues that occur during the course of the research or arising from the research to the Research Ethics Officer at the email address below (e.g. unforeseen ethical issues, complaints about the conduct of the research, adverse reactions such as extreme distress);
- submitting details of proposed substantive amendments to the protocol to the Research Ethics Officer for approval.

Please contact me if you have any queries or require further information.

Email:- fhmresearchsupport@lancaster.ac.uk

Yours sincerely,

4. Sun log-

Dr. Elisabeth Suri-Payer, Interim Research Ethics Officer, Secretary to FHMREC.

# **Appendix 4-C: Recruitment poster**



# DO YOU HAVE COMPLEX REGIONAL PAIN SYNDROME?

Have you been diagnosed for more than 12 months? Would you like to help with some research into the condition?

I am looking for adult volunteers to complete an interview (via Skype, Zoom or similar) sharing your experiences of CRPS.

If you would like more information, please email me:

j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk

Clinical Psychology



# Appendix 4-D: Recruitment adverts

# Recruitment Advertisements – Version 0.1, 13/05/2020

# Email to be sent to blog authors

Dear [name],

Thank you for your response to my previous email, and for expressing interest in taking part in my research project relating to Complex Regional Pain Syndrome. I am now able to provide further details about this project.

I am looking for people with CRPS to complete an interview about how CRPS affects them. The interview would be completed via Microsoft Team, Zoom, Skype or similar, and would last up to 90 minutes. The aim of the research is to improve understanding of what it is like to live with CRPS, in hopes that this can improve the support that individuals with this condition receive.

If you are still interested in taking part, please find attached a Participant Information Sheet and a Consent Form which I ask you to read through in your own time. Once you have read these, I would be grateful if you could let me know whether you are happy to take part. We can then arrange a convenient time for an interview via your preferred video calling software. You do not need to complete the consent form (this is provided for your information only), as we will go through this at the beginning of the interview.

If you have any questions or would like any further information to help you decide, please do let me know.

Many thanks for your time, and I hope to hear from you soon.

Best wishes, Jess Smith Trainee Clinical Psychologist Lancaster University

# Tweet from research account

Do you have Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS)? I'm looking for people to take part in some research! Please get in touch for more details if interested. [Attach advertising poster as an image]

# Tweet to relevant Twitter accounts

Hi! I'm carrying out some research into CRPS and wondered if you'd mind sharing my ad?
Please let me know if you'd like any further details. Thank you so much! [Attach advertising poster as an image]
@CRPSUK
@BNightsCRPS
@RSDSA
@TeamCRPS1

# **Appendix 4-E: Participant Information Sheet**



### Participant Information Sheet – Version 0.3, 17/06/2020 The Impact of Chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Identity

For further information about how Lancaster University processes personal data for research purposes and your data rights, please visit our webpage: <u>https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/research/data-protection</u>

My name is Jess Smith and I am conducting this research as a student in the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme at Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom.

#### What is the study about?

This project aims to improve understanding of how chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) impacts on people's identity.

#### Why have I been approached?

You have been approached because the study requires information from people who have been diagnosed with CRPS for at least a year.

#### Do I have to take part?

No, you do not have to take part. You are welcome to ask questions before you decide whether you would like to participate. My contact details are below.

In addition, if you decide to take part, you can change your mind and withdraw your information up to two weeks after your interview has been completed.

#### What will I be asked to do if I take part?

If you decide you would like to take part, you will be invited to complete an interview with myself. This will last up to an hour and a half. I will ask you some questions about living with CRPS and how it has affected you. I will video and/or audio record the interview, and then type it up into a written transcript.

The interview will be conducted via video calling software such as Microsoft Teams, Skype, Zoom, or similar. Please be aware that the internet cannot be guaranteed to be a secure means of communication.

If I have contacted you via your blog about CRPS, I may also ask if you are happy for me to include some of your blog posts in my analysis. You should be aware that this would mean you may be identifiable, as your blog posts are publicly available. If you would prefer to participate in an interview *only*, that is fine. You may also choose for your blogs posts only to be included, without completing an interview.

### Will my data be identifiable?

The information you provide will be anonymised as far as possible. I will use quotations from interviews when writing up my research. Any names and other identifying information will be removed. CRPS is a relatively rare condition, so there is a chance that you could still be identifiable by people who know you from quotations used. In addition, if you allow me to include your blog posts in my analysis, you may be identifiable from this.

The data collected for this study will be stored securely and only the researchers conducting this study will have access to this data:

- Video/audio recordings of interviews will be deleted once the project has been examined.
- The files on the computer will be encrypted (that is, no-one other than the researchers will be able to access them) and the computer itself password protected.
- The transcription of your interview will be made anonymous by removing any identifying information including your name. Anonymised direct quotations from your interview may be used in the reports or publications from the study, so your name will not be attached to them.
- All your personal data will be confidential and will be kept separately from your interview responses.
- Transcriptions of the interviews will be held by the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme for ten years before being deleted. All personally identifiable data will be held separately, and will be deleted within six months of the research being completed.
- Video/audio recordings of consent will be held by the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme for ten years. They will be held separately from your other data.

#### What will happen to the results?

The results will be reported in a thesis, and may be submitted for publication in an academic or professional journal. This means that the results can help professionals working with people with CRPS and can guide future research.

I will ask if you would like to be emailed a copy of my completed research project.

#### Are there any risks?

There are no risks anticipated with participating in this study. However, if you experience any distress following participation you are encouraged to inform the researcher and utilise the resources provided at the end of this sheet.

#### Are there any benefits to taking part?

There are no direct benefits in taking part. However, I hope you would find it interesting to take part, and that the research will contribute to improvements in care for people with CRPS in the future.

#### Who has reviewed the project?

This study has been reviewed and approved by Lancaster University Faculty of Health & Medicine's Research Ethics Committee.

#### **Resources in the event of distress**

At the beginning of the interview, the researcher will agree a safety plan with you in case of any distress. This will include asking if there is someone such as a friend or family member we can call, should you become distressed during the interview.

Should you feel distressed either as a result of taking part, or in the future, the following charities offer support and resources around living with CRPS. CRPS-UK: <u>https://crps-uk.org</u> Burning Nights CRPS: <u>http://burningnightscrps.org/</u> RSDSA: <u>https://rsds.org/</u> You may also contact your GP or family practitioner.

In an emergency you should contact your local emergency services, or attend your nearest Accident & Emergency Department.

#### Where can I obtain further information about the study if I need it?

If you have any questions about the study, please contact the main researcher: Jess Smith – <u>j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk</u> You can also contact one of my supervisors: Dr Fiona Eccles – <u>f.eccles@lancaster.ac.uk</u>, +44 (0)1524 592807 Dr Craig Murray – c.murray@lancaster.ac.uk, +44 (0)1524 592730

#### **Complaints**

If you wish to make a complaint or raise concerns about any aspect of this study and do not want to speak to the researcher or their supervisors, you can contact:

Dr Ian C. Smith, Senior Clinical Tutor & Research Director **Tel**: +44 (0)1524 592282 **Email**: <u>i.smith@lancaster.ac.uk</u> Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Furness College Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4YG

If you wish to speak to someone outside of the Clinical Psychology Doctorate Programme, you may also contact:

Dr Laura Machin **Tel**: +44 (0)1524 5934973 **Email**: <u>l.machin@lancaster.ac.uk</u> Faculty of Health and Medicine (Lancaster Medical School) Lancaster University Lancaster, LA1 4YG

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet.

# **Appendix 4-F: Consent Form**



# Participant Consent Form – Version 0.3, 17/06/2020

#### The Impact of Chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Identity

I am asking if you would like to take part in a research project investigating the impact of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS).

Before you consent to participating in the study, please read the **Participant Information Sheet**. You will be asked to verbally agree to each of the statements below, before commencing the interview. This will be audio- or video-recorded; this recording will be stored separately from the rest of your interview.

If you have any questions or queries, please speak to the student researcher, Jess Smith.

- 1. I confirm that I have read the information sheet and fully understand what is expected of me within this study.
- 2. I confirm that I have had the opportunity to ask any questions, and they have been answered satisfactorily.
- 3. I understand that my interview will be video and/or audio recorded and then made into an anonymised written transcript.
- 4. I understand that video and/or audio recordings will be kept until the research project has been examined.
- 5. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw my data without giving any reason, up to two weeks after completing my interview. I understand that withdrawing will not affect my medical care or legal rights.
- 6. I understand that once my data have been anonymised and incorporated into themes it might not be possible to withdraw.
- 7. I understand that the information from my interview will be pooled with other participants' responses, anonymised, and may be published.
- 8. I consent to information and quotations from my interview being used in reports. I understand that this may mean some people could identify me from the quotations used.
- 9. I understand that the researcher will discuss data with their supervisors as needed.
- 10. I understand that any information I give will remain anonymous unless there is a risk of harm to myself or others, in which case the principal investigator may need to share this information.
- 11. I understand that the internet cannot be guaranteed to be a secure means of communication, and therefore my interview cannot be guaranteed to be secure.
- 12. [I understand that if I consent to posts from my blog to be included in analysis, this may mean that I can be identified, as my blog posts are publicly available.]\*

- 13. I understand that Lancaster University will keep written transcriptions of the interview for 10 years after the study has finished.
- 14. I consent to take part in an interview.
- 15. [I consent for posts from my blog to be included in analysis.]\*
- 16. [I consent to both an interview and for posts from my blog to be used in analysis.]\*

\*Points 12, 15 and 16 apply **only** to participants recruited via their online blogs relating to CRPS. Blog posts will only be included in analysis if we are not able to recruit enough participants for interview.

# **Appendix 4-G: Interview Schedule**

### Interview Schedule - Version 0.1, 13/05/2020

# The Impact of Chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Identity Introduction

Formal introduction of myself and the project.

Answer any questions the participant may have.

# **Privacy & Anonymity**

Before we begin the main interview, I need to make sure that you understand the private nature of the interview. The things you talk about will be private – I may use quotations when I write up my research, but these will be anonymised and any identifying information will be removed.

There are some exceptions to this privacy. If I am worried about you, or someone else, I may need to share my worries in order to keep everyone safe. I will always try to speak to you about this first. I may then speak to one of my supervisors about my concerns. If I think there is an urgent risk, I may contact the emergency services.

I hope it is unlikely that you will become distressed during the interview, but I'd like to have a safety plan just in case. Is it okay to work that out together now? [Anything you'd like me to do if you become upset, anyone I should call? Does anyone know you are doing this interview? Is there someone at home with you? Etc.]

# [START RECORDING OF CONSENT PROCESS]

#### Consent

Before we start, I want to make sure that you understand what is going to happen and why, and that you are happy to participate.

Check that participant has received and read the Information Sheet. Answer any questions arising from this.

[Read out each statement from the consent form and ask the participant to verbally agree to each, and to give overall verbal consent to participate.]

# [STOP RECORDING AND START NEW RECORDING FOR INTERVIEW] Interview

# Background

So, as you are aware, my research is looking at what it's like to have Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) and how it affects people. We'll start by getting a little bit of background about you and your condition.

- Age now, if you don't mind
- How would you describe your ethnicity?
- Gender identity
- Current situation work (type of role, full or part-time?), partner, children/grandchildren etc.
- Official diagnosis (CRPS? RSD? Type I/II?) and (roughly) when did you receive this?
- Journey to diagnosis e.g. when/ how did symptoms start? Who did you see (healthcare professionals?) Did you have any tests, scans, treatments? Did you have any other diagnoses first? How long did it take to get the CRPS diagnosis? What

impact did this journey have on you, if any? How did you find this journey – what went well? What could have been better and how?

- How was the diagnosis given? (In person? By who? Much information/ support/ resources given?)
- If you don't mind answering do you receive any benefits or welfare support? Have you in the past? How do you feel about this? (*Thinking about the impact of receiving benefits on sense of self, especially given stigmatisation of benefits recipients in society.*)
- What were things like before the CRPS? Previous health and activity levels, roles (e.g. jobs, roles in the home, hobbies and interests, leisure activities)
- How did these change once your symptoms developed what impact did the symptoms have? What was your experience of this process (i.e. sudden / gradual changes)

# **Understanding of CRPS**

- Can you tell me what you understand about CRPS? What are your symptoms? Which bother you the most? Do they affect how you feel about yourself? How? How do you manage your symptoms? Have these strategies arisen from professional advice or things that you have developed yourself?
- How does the condition affect you day-to-day? Are there good days and bad days? What do these look like (i.e. compare good vs bad for mood / activity). Are there any other factors that influence good / bad days? I.e. fatigue / insomnia / other psychosocial stressors.
- What is your prognosis? How do you expect the condition to change/ develop/ improve? What have you been told about this?
- How have you learnt about CRPS? Information from healthcare professionals/ own research etc.? How do you feel about this? How has this information influenced / changed your understanding and the way you live with CRPS?
- Is there anything that you still have questions about or don't understand about the condition?
- How do you feel you have responded to/coped with your diagnosis? What do you think this says about you?
- How have healthcare professionals responded to your diagnosis? Have you felt supported/ understood? How has this affected you?

#### Impact of/ response to CRPS

- How would you have described yourself as a person prior to having CRPS? (Mindset, qualities, interests, activity levels.)
- How has this changed since you have developed or been diagnosed with CRPS? (Mindset, qualities, interests, activity levels.) What has changed since you developed CRPS? Are there things you have had to give up or do differently? (e.g. work, tasks around the home, hobbies and interests)
- How have these changes impacted on your view of yourself, if at all?

- How does this make you feel? When you feel like this, what runs through your mind/ why do you think you feel like this? (Questions around impact of CRPS on mood)
- Do you think you have changed as a result of CRPS? How? Do you view this as positive or negative? Why? In what ways have you *not* changed? What has stayed the same? Are there times when CRPS challenges this? How do you manage this?
- How do you feel about your affected limb(s)? Does CRPS affect how you look at/touch/think about the affected limb(s)? In what way? How does this impact on you?
- Do you worry about contact with others or objects e.g. people, clothing or bedclothes touching the affected area? How does this affect you? E.g. avoiding activities, social interactions.
- How do you see yourself in the future? Do you have future plans? Have these changed due to CRPS or other factors?
- How has CRPS affected your relationships? (Partner, family, friends, children?). Do you feel other people understand your condition and the impact it has? How / How not? What would be helpful for them to understand better? What are the barriers to their understanding? Has it affected how you are in relationships?
- Do you think CRPS has affected the way other people see you or respond to you? Examples of change? What do you make of this? How does this make you feel? How does this affect you? How do you manage these changes? i.e. communicate / ignore / feel upset etc.
- Has anything positive arisen out of CRPS e.g. changes in mind-set / attitudes / approach to life etc.

[Thank participant for their time. Enquire as to whether they would like a copy of the completed research paper. Confirm email address if yes.]

# **Appendix 4-H: Participant Debrief**



#### Participant Debrief – Version 0.2, 17/06/2020

### The Impact of Chronic Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) on Identity

Thank you for taking part in this research project, which I am completing as part of my Doctorate in Clinical Psychology. I am very grateful for your time. I hope that you have found participation interesting and rewarding.

#### What was the purpose of the research?

Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) is a complex condition, and there has been limited research into how it affects people. My research aims to improve this situation, looking specifically at how CRPS affects people's identities.

I hope that this research will help healthcare professionals to support people with CRPS more effectively in the future.

#### What happens next?

I will transcribe your interview in an anonymised format, removing identifying information such as your name. I will pool this information with other participants' interviews and look for themes in how CRPS affects people's identities.

I will write the research up and submit it to the University for marking. I may also submit the research for publication in relevant academic or professional journals, so that it can help healthcare staff working with people with CRPS.

Please let me know if you would like to receive a copy of the finished research project via email. I will take your contact details so I can send this to you. These details will be stored separately to your other information including your interview recording and transcript.

# What if I change my mind about taking part?

If you decide that you no longer want your information to be used in my research, please let me know as soon as possible, and within two weeks of your interview. After this point, your information will have been anonymised and pooled with other participants, so it may no longer be possible to identify your data to withdraw it.

# What if I feel distressed after taking part?

There is a chance that talking about your condition may cause feelings of distress in the days to come. If this happens, please use the below resources to seek support:

- CRPS UK: <u>https://crps-uk.org</u>
- Burning Nights CRPS: <u>http://burningnightscrps.org/</u>
- <u>RSDSA: https://rsds.org</u>

- Your GP or family doctor
- In case of an emergency, your local Accident and Emergency department

#### What if I have concerns about the research?

In the first instance, please contact me to discuss your concerns:

Email: j.smith26@lancaster.ac.uk

**Mail**: Jess Smith, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Furness College, Lancaster University, Lancaster, LA1 4YG

Alternatively, you can contact the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology's Research Director, Dr Ian Smith:

Email: <u>i.smith@lancaster.ac.uk</u>

**Phone**: +44 (0)1524 592282

Mail: Doctorate in Clinical Psychology, Furness College, Lancaster University, Lancaster, LA1 4YG

If you wish to speak to someone outside of the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology programme, you can contact the Chair of the Faculty of Health & Medicine's Research Ethics Committee (FHMREC), Dr Laura Machin:

Email: <u>l.machin@lancaster.ac.uk</u>

**Phone:** +44 (0)1524 594973

Mail: Faculty of Health and Medicine (Lancaster Medical School), Lancaster University, Lancaster, LA1 4YG